LIFESTYLE ORIENTATION OF HIGH VERSUS LOW ACHIEVERS IN TRADITIONAL SCHOOL SPORTS : AN HOLISTIC ANALYSIS

BY

SIMEON DAVIES

THESIS

Submitted in fulfilment of the requirements for the degree Master of Arts

> Department of Human Movement Studies Rhodes University, 1993

> > Grahamstown, South Africa

ABSTRACT

One hundred and four subjects aged 16 - 18 years volunteered to participate in this study which sought to identify via an holistic model those factors that characterise the lifestyle orientations of high and low achievers (male and female) in traditional school sport.

Subjects were evaluated with respect to their anthropometric, physiological, psychological and perceptual responses. The data were statistically analyzed by one way ANOVAS for significant differences in the following pairs; males and females, high and low achievers, Mhi (male high achievers) and Mlo (male low achievers), and Fhi (female high achievers) and Flo (female low achievers).

Anthropometric results indicate that Fhi and Flo were significantly different in their stature, mass and body fat, while Mhi and Mlo show no significant differences. A greater disparity existed between VO₂ max of Fhi and Flo compared with Mhi and Mlo, along with trends in heart rate and RPE responses that were also more divergent. Psychological responses indicate that Fhi and Flo were significantly different in five of the seven sub-domains of CATPA, while Mhi and Mlo were only identifiable in one. In the PSPP Fhi and Flo were significantly different in all five subscales, while Mhi and Mlo in only two.

This contrast in variability between the paired group analysis of Fhi and Flo as compared to Mhi and Mlo appears throughout the data.

ii

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

In completing this study I wish to extend my sincere thanks to the following people:

Professor Pat Scott, not only for her guidance and patience, but also for her constant enthusiasm throughout my study.

Professor Jack Charteris for his input and support throughout the duration of this study.

The schools, teachers and subjects whose co-operation made this project possible.

The staff and students of the Human Movement Studies Department who assisted in the many data collection sessions.

Ros Parker, who helped in the laborious task of organising this text.

Last, but by no means least, to my mother and family who have been supportive and helpful throughout my period of study in South Africa.

iii

TABLE OF CONTENTS

PAGE CHAPTER ONE : INTRODUCTION . 9 DELIMITATIONS 10 LIMITATIONS . . 11 CHAPTER 2 : REVIEW OF LITERATURE "MAN IN MOTION": CONCEPTUAL INTRODUCTION 13 HISTORICAL CONTEXT OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 15 Physical Activity in Modern Times 18 Historical Context of Physical Activity in South Africa 19 21 Lifestyle Orientation and Childhood 25 29 PHYSICAL ACTIVITY 32 "PHYSICAL FITNESS" 35 37 38 39 40 Body Composition and Health in Children 42 INTRODUCTION TO AEROBIC CAPACITY 45 47 Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST) 49 . Aerobic Capacity and Health 50

INTRODUCTION TO PSYCHOLOGICAL VARIABLES	•	÷	÷.	•	•	÷	÷	•	.55
Attitudes	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	•	55
Attitudinal Inventory Models	•	•	•	•		•		4	57
Self-Concept	÷	•	•		•			G.	59
Self-Esteem	÷	÷	÷	÷	•	÷	•	•	62
Self-Esteem Inventory Models	÷	÷	•		•	÷		÷	63
Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE)					•		•	1	67
RPE and Gestalt	7	8	•	•	÷	÷.	•		70
The Revised Borg Scale									72

CHAPTER 3 : METHODOLOGY

INTRODUCTION	75
SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS	75
RESEARCH PROTOCOL : INFORMED CONSENT	76
PILOT TESTING	77
ANTHROPOMETRIC DATA	78
Stature	78
Body Mass	19
Skinfold Measures	19
Waist-to-Hip Circumference Ratio (WHR) 8	31
PHYSIOLOGICAL DATA	12
Aerobic Capacity	12
Heart Rate	4
PSYCHOLOGICAL DATA	5
Psychological Indices 8	6
Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE) 8	8
Measurement of RPE	9

TESTING SESSIONS		•	•	÷	÷	÷	÷	·	÷	÷	•	÷	•	÷	÷	•	•	90
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	•	•	•	·	•	•	•	٠	•	ŕ	•	•	٠	ŗ	÷	•	٠	91

CHAPTER 4 : RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS	
ANTHROPOMETRIC RESULTS	
Stature	
Body Mass	
Body Composition	
Waist-to-Hip Ratio (WHR)	
PHYSIOLOGICAL RESULTS :	
Reference (Pre-Exercise) Heart Rate	
Exercise Heart Rate	
PSYCHOLOGICAL RESULTS	
Attitudes	
Physical Self-Perception	
Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE)	
GENERAL DISCUSSION	

CHAPTER	5	•		ST	TMI	IAI	RY.	, 1	COI	NC	LU	SIC	ON:	5	AN	D	RE	201	MM	EN	DA	FIC	ON:	S	
AIMS OF	TH	IE	SI	rui	YC	•	•	e	x	÷	*	•	•	÷	•	•	•		÷	•		÷	•	÷	146
METHODS		•	•		÷	•	÷		•	÷	÷	٠	÷	•	•	•	•	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷	147
RESULTS	•	•	÷	•	÷	•	÷	÷	÷	4	÷	÷r	÷-	•	÷	•		÷	•		4	•		•	148
CONCLUSI	ON	IS						•	×	•	÷	÷	÷	*	,	,	•	•	÷	÷	•	•	÷;		152
RECOMMEN	IDA	TI	101	IS	•	÷	÷	•	•	•	÷	4	2	•		•		•	•	ų.	÷			•	156
																									144

REFERENCES	+	•	•	÷	•	+	÷	÷	•	•	÷	•	•	•	•	÷		.159

APPENDICES

	APPENDICES PAGE
1	Letter to headteacher
2	Subject Consent Form
3	Anthropometric Data Sheet
4	Computer Print Out of Predicted % Body Fat . 179
5	Record Sheet for Physiological Data Including :
	Number of Shuttles Run, Reference Heart Rate,
	Exercise Heart Rate, and Ratings of Perceived
	Exertion (RPE)
6	Conversion Tables of Completed Shuttles in
	the MST to Predicted VO_2max
7	Inventory : Children's Attitudes Towards
	Physical Activity (CATPA)
8	Inventory : Physical Self-Perception Profile
	(PSPP)
9	Follow-up Letter to Schools (Feedback) 190

LIST OF FIGURES

FIG	URE PAGE
1.	Borg Scale
2.	Revised Borg Scale
3.	Anthropometric Mean Results of (A) Stature,
	(B) Mass and (C) % Body Fat for all Groups 94
4.	Mean Heart Rate for (A) Males and Females and
	(B) High and Low Achievers
5.	Mean Heart Rate for (A) Mhi and Mlo and
	(B) Fhi and Flo
6.	Mean Heart Rate for Corresponding Five Final
	Levels of Multi-Stage Fitness Test for Mhi
	and Flo
7.	Mean Scores for Children's Attitudes Towards
	Physical Activity (CATPA) in (A) Males and
	Females and (B) High and Low Achievers 115
8.	Mean Scores for Children's Attitudes Towards
	Physical Activity (CATPA) in (A) Mhi and Mlo and
	(B) Fhi and Flo
9.	Mean Scores for Physical Self-Perception Profile
	(PSPP) in (A) Males and Females and (B) High and
	Low Achievers
10.	Mean Scores for Physical Self-Perception Profile
	(PSPP) in (A) Mhi and Mlo and (B) Fhi and Flo 123
11.	Mean RPE Responses for (A) Males and Females and
	(B) High and Low Achievers
12.	Mean RPE Responses for (A) Mhi and Mlo and (B)
	Fhi and Flo

13.	Mean	Hea	art	Rate	and	. 1	RPE	5 1	Responses					for		(A)		la.	les	5	
	and	(B)	Fer	nales	÷	÷	÷	÷	÷		÷	÷	÷	•	•	•	•	÷			134

- 15. Mean Heart Rate and RPE for (A) Mhi and (B) Mlo . 136
- 16. Mean Heart Rate and RPE for (A) Fhi and (B) Flo . 137

LIST OF TABLES

TABL	JE	PAGE
I.	Anthropometric results : means and standard	
	deviations for all groups	. 93
II.	Waist-to-Hip Ratio (WHR) Rating Scale for risk	
	of hypokinetic disease	. 99
III,	Means and standard deviations for number of	
	shuttles run in the Multi-stage Fitness Test and	
	predicted VO_2 max (ml.kg ⁻¹ .min ⁻¹) for all groups .	. 100
IV.	Reference (pre-exercise) heart rate : means	
	and standard deviations for all groups	. 103
v.	Means and standard deviations of exercise heart	
	rate for males, females, high and low achievers	. 105
VI.	Means and standard deviations of exercise heart	
	rate for male high (Mhi) and low (Mlo) achievers	
	and female high (Fhi) and low (Flo) achievers .	. 107
VII.	Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity	
	(CATPA) : means and standard deviations for	
	all groups	. 114
VIII	.Physical Self-Perception profile (PSPP) :	
	means and standard deviations for all groups	. 121
IX.	Means and standard deviations for RPE males,	
	females, high and low achievers	. 130
х.	Means and standard deviations for RPE for male	
	high (Mhi) and low achievers (Mlo), and female	
	high (Fhi) and low (Flo) achievers	. 132

х

-

CHAPTER 1

INTRODUCTION

As we approach the year 2000 Man's general mode of living and working is patently different from that of his predecessors in past centuries where work was characterised by its physical The technological innovations of modern Western nature. Society have created a sedentary work environment for many people, leading to a decrease in physical involvement and a increase in psychosomatic illness. concomitant Thus in sedentary populations the importance of leisure time physical activity as a preventative measure against chronic disease (especially of the heart and the cardio-vascular system) has become well recognised (Paffenbarger et al., 1990). However, according to American College of Sports Medicine (1990) the adoption of active leisure time lifestyles by adults is relatively low. The combination of sedentary work environments and sedentary leisure time lifestyles has seen an epidemic development of what Kraus and Raab (1961) termed hypokinetic diseases; simply put these are disorders resulting from a lack of physical activity. In The Health of the Nation (1991) it was reported that illnesses related to sedentary lifestyles are among the most prevalent death statistic in Western Culture. The Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992) identified South Africa as having one of the worst rates of chronic heart disease (CHD) in the world, where at present 28.5% of 35 - 64

year olds die from chronic diseases of lifestyle. This supports the findings of Simons (1986) in his research of estimated international coronary heart disease death rates where South African men and women rank fourth and first respectively in comparison to 14 other countries. These statistics do not take into account long term suffering of these people and the huge cost to the South African health services, which estimate that over R200 million is spent on drugs for hypertension alone.

Current research on the effects of habitual exercise on health has been extensively studied in adults, but less attention has been paid to these considerations in children (Dishman and Dunn, 1988). This appears to be a weakness of much epidemiological and related research, when one considers that chronic diseases are characterised by their long term latency, often originating in childhood. Therefore, those people who are presently suffering from CHD (and facing potential premature death), can in all probability trace the emergence and possible cause of their illness to lifestyle habits adopted in childhood (Powell and Dysinger, 1986). Montoye (1985) reiterates this point by stating that with increased understanding of atherosclerosis, the disease underlying most heart attacks, it has become clear that the heart attack is the result of a very long process. It would appear that most of the research relating to children's propensity for hypokinetic disease of which CHD is the most prevalent statistic, has focused on somatic indices such as the presence of fatty streaks in the

coronary arteries of children, which according to McGill (1980) is correlated with the incidence of raised lesions in middle age. Brooks and Fahey (1985) indicate that CHD begins in childhood and that by 20 years of age, it is estimated that 75% of males have CHD to a significant degree. However, it should be noted that indices of hypokinetic disease such as hypertension, obesity and atherosclerosis develop gradually over time, thus the identification of corporeal risk factors in children and young adults may often be unclear, because they are in their early stages. This is apparent in the findings of Kemper (1980) who reported that the blood pressure of active 13-14 year old boys was not significantly different from that of less active boys of the same age.

Although habitual physical activity is being studied in children Montoye, (1985) makes the observation that methods still leave a lot to be desired. The same author points out that this may be the result of the considerable difficulties inherent in trying to assess physical activity in children. However, recent developments in psychometric inventories analyzing physical activity have offered the researcher an effective method of evaluating an individual's predisposition towards physical activity. By utilisation of selected attitudinal and physical self-perception inventories, it is considered that they have the capacity to elicit accurate data regarding children's feelings and perceptions of physical activity, and the degree of subsequent involvement. There

appears to be little, if any research conducted in South Africa into children's personal awareness and perceptions of the benefits of regular exercise involvement. There is a need to examine these perceptual factors in association with relevant anthropometric and physiological measures that are often indicative of physical inactivity (e.g. high percentage of body fat and low aerobic status); thus providing an holistic approach, which engenders a clearer and more complete understanding of activity orientation in children. More specifically cognizance should be taken of how children perceive the demands of physical exertion, for it has been proposed that what people think they are doing may well be more important than what they are doing (Morgan, 1973; Rejeski, 1981; Borg, 1982; Rejeski, 1985).

A multi-disciplinary approach, as advocated by Charteris et al. (1976), is likely to produce greater insight into the question of why many children appear to lose interest in participation in physical activity, as well as the implications this physical apathy may have for the development of chronic diseases. Physical inactivity continues to be a major concern for health. Loper et al. (1989), in a review of studies conducted in the last 15 years show that children of elementary and secondary school age are clearly not developing a lifestyle which would lead to a low risk of chronic disease. It would appear that children are spending an increasing amount of time in sedentary pastimes, and according to Singer (1985)

television viewing (a sedentary pastime) is widespread among the general population, especially in young adults and children, and may be contributing to maladaptive health habits. This contention has been supported by the findings of Tucker (1990) who reports that the daily duration of television viewing is strongly and inversely associated with cardiovascular fitness in both adults and adolescents. This does not take into account more recent technological additions to home entertainment such as videos and computer games. According to Godin and Shephard (1983) a low level of physical activity persists in most of the North American population despite the much heralded 'fitness boom'. More recently, analysis of children's activity levels by means of continuous heart rate monitoring has further reiterated this point, with Armstrong and Bray (1991) concluding in their research that the current level and pattern of British children's physical activity throughout the academic year, including weekends is a cause for grave concern. Consequently it is necessary to examine children in the milieu in which exercise and health behaviours are initially developed, namely the school (Bar Or, 1990) and investigate the criteria by which children are being presently guided.

There is no doubt that assessment of physical performance is important and it would appear that the standards which are being used in many South African schools at present, to assess physical achievement, are determined to a large degree by the

great emphasis placed on traditional team sports and interschool competition (Van Dalen and Bennett, 1971; Leary and Thanning, 1990). Thus recognition of high achievement in the school system is customarily procured by representing the school in a traditional team sport, such as rugby or cricket for boys and hockey or tennis for girls. Such a competitive emphasis in a limited number of traditional sports lends itself to a predilection of resources being conferred on a minority of physically gifted children. This in essence can lead to the marginalisation or even possible alienation of many children, who within the confines of such a dogmatic competitive system may well perceive of themselves and their efforts with a sense of low achievement. Furthermore, Ford (1990) indicates that physical education teachers are often under considerable pressure to concentrate on elite performers who enhance the status of both teacher and school. Thus, it can be seen that a number of diverse influences during childhood may well have potent implications for the adoption of an active or indeed inactive lifestyle orientation. This point in particular illustrates the need for an rigorous holistic analysis to reveal how children of differing competitive standards perceive physical activity in school, because the experiences and perceptions of physical activity by high or low achievers may well provide key explanatory factors in the development of active lifestyle orientation.

It should be noted however, that even though the South

African Physical Education Syllabus emphasizes comprehensive participation as one of its primary goals, it would appear that in many schools the Physical Education programme is often under pressure from a number of sources, not least among them the school hierarchy, parents and community, to prioritise the success of the school teams. Noakes (1992) suggests that at school is restructured to emphasize until sport participation (as well as, and not instead of, competition for the genetically gifted) the present poor state of physical inactivity in the majority of adult South Africans will remain. This point is further emphasized by du Toit (1992) who postulates that if an active physical lifestyle were to be meaningfully developed in the young and developed throughout a natural lifespan, then at least 50% of CHD mortality in South Africa could be prevented.

STATEMENT OF THE PROBLEM

This study has as its focus the lifestyle orientation of children during crucial formative years. The contention is that lifestyle orientation can be identified by means of established psychometric tests, which evaluate attitudes and physical selfperception, relative in the present study to physical activity in general.

Using two psychometric tests the aim was to establish a "predispositional profile" of schoolchildren in order to ascertain whether those rated by teacher/coaches as "high

achievers" differ from those rated as "low achievers" in traditional school sports.

A second problem involved determining the actual physical status of the children, using established assessments of physical work capacity (PWC) in order to determine whether those rated by teacher/coaches as "high achievers" differ significantly in PWC from those rated as "low achievers". The possibility of sex-related differences was also investigated.

It was anticipated that interesting correlations may well be revealed between actual PWC, rated achievement and lifestyle orientation, as assessed by psychometric tests.

RESEARCH HYPOTHESIS

The general hypothesis of this project was that school physical activity programmes exert a substantial and lasting influence on an individual's life-time commitment to regular participation in physical activity, and as such may have lasting positive or negative affects on the general health and well-being of the individual, depending on how such programmes are perceived.

TEST HYPOTHESES

Hypothesis 1. No difference exists between males (M) and females (F) with regard to their morphological (AN), physiological (PH), and psychological (PS) responses.

Stated statistically, the null-hypothesis is:

HO: μ M_(AN, PH, PS) = μ F_(AN, PH, PS)

The alternative hypothesis is:

HA: μ M_(AN, PH, PS) \neq μ F_(AN, PH, PS)

Hypothesis 2. No difference exists between high (Hi) and low (Lo) achievers with regard to their morphological (AN), physiological (PH), and psychological (PS) responses.

Stated statistically, the null-hypothesis is: HO: μ Hi_(AN, PH, PS) = μ LO_(AN, PH, PS) The alternative hypothesis is: HA: μ Hi_(AN, PH, PS) \neq μ LO_(AN, PH, PS) **Hypothesis 3.** No difference exists between male high achievers (Mhi) and male low achievers (Mlo) with regard to their morphological (AN), physiological (PH), and psychological (PS) responses.

Stated statistically, the null-hypothesis is: HO: μ Mhi_(AN, PH, PS) = μ Mlo_(AN, PH, PS) The alternative hypothesis is: HA: μ Mhi_(AN, PH, PS) $\neq \mu$ Mlo_(AN, PH, PS)

Hypothesis 4. No difference exists between female high achievers (Fhi) and female low achievers (Flo) with regard to their morphological (AN), physiological (PH), and psychological (PS) responses.

Stated statistically, the null-hypothesis is: HO: μ Fhi_(AN, PH, PS) = μ Flo_(AN, PH, PS) The alternative hypothesis is: HA: μ Fhi_(AN, PH, PS) $\neq \mu$ Flo_(AN, PH, PS)

DELIMITATIONS

In this study 51 boys and 53 girls aged 16-18 years, were selected according to whether they were high or low achievers in traditional school sports. Thus, four discernable groups were studied; high and low male achievers, and high and low female achievers in traditional school sports. The children were recruited from four schools in the Grahamstown area.

The children were subjected to the following tests;

Anthropometric: Stature and mass, waist-to-hip ratio (WHR) and skinfolds.

Physiologic: Aerobic capacity (predicted VO_2 max) and heart rate.

Psychologic: Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA) and the Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP).

Psychophysiologic: Borg's revised effort perception scale.

Data were collected on the subjects during each of the three testing sessions. The first session was allocated to collecting base line data and the completion of the two questionnaires, CATPA and PSPP. The second session involved anthropometric measurements, and the third session was concerned with the collection of physiological data.

LIMITATIONS

The following limitations must be considered while examining the implications and subsequent conclusions drawn from these experimental results.

 The sample used was restricted to four schools in the Grahamstown area, two of which were government schools, and the other two being private schools. It is recognised that the pupils used as subjects are of a relatively small number (n 104) and are furthermore representative of only a small geographic area and demographic sample, with regards to South Africa as a whole.

- 2. Other than voluntary compliance with a request to maintain normal eating and exercise habits during the course of the study, there was no control over these external influences.
- 3. As subjects were not tested at the same time of day during each session, diurnal variation in exercise response may have affected the experimental results.
- 4. Testing sessions for the Multi-Stage Fitness Test occurred in a number of different gymnasiums with varying types of floor surface, and it is possible that minor variations in the prediction of aerobic capacity may have resulted.

CHAPTER 2

REVIEW OF LITERATURE

"MAN-IN-MOTION": CONCEPTUAL INTRODUCTION

There is little doubt that Man was designed to be active (Corbin and Lindsey, 1991). The same authors indicate that the need to be active is associated with the "fight or flight" response. In search of food, primitive Man sometimes had to fight with other predators or flee for safety. In either case, the response was often vigorous activity. Even our more recent ancestors (pre-Industrial Revolution) were often required to do vigorous activity as part of a their normal daily routine. Thus in the general population with albeit a few exceptions Man's lifestyle was characterised by a substantial amount of physical activity as a result of the demands of work or through choice in the pursuit of recreation and exercise.

The broad conceptional basis for this study concerns itself with "Man-in-motion" and this relates very much with the theoretical framework of the "Centre M" Model as proposed by Charteris *et al.* (1976) which recognises the inseparable relationship between Man and his movement, and, in an attempt to focus on "Man-in-motion" (as opposed to Man when in motion), seeks infusion from widely diverse academic fields.

The "Centre-M" has four foundational propositions, the first being that human movement must be initially comprehended in a dimension of time, the time based levels ranging from movement actually in progress through to the study of the development of movement patterns at phylogenetic level. Foundational proposition two is concerned with the examination of the interaction between the moving organism and the environment through which it moves; while proposition three accepts that the essential humanity of the moving organism implies a psycho-social dimension of study. The fourth proposition holds that the edification of human movement is most effectively procured by multi-disciplinary approach.

The reasoning behind this conceptual model is based on the assertion by Charteris *et al.* (1976) that an holistic approach towards research of human responses is likely to produce greater insight into the problem and be more rewarding. The same authors emphasized that it becomes apparent in terms of scientific focus, that human movement is incompletely or unsatisfactorily elucidated when studied from the standpoint of only one of the biologic, physical or social sciences.

It therefore follows that the initial application of the "Centre-M" model infers an understanding of the study in a temporal framework or in some sort of historical context. In the present project an outline of the conceptual prominence that "Man-in-motion" is seen in a general temporal frame of reference will be presented and more specifically will focus on the integral importance of physical activity with lifestyle orientation. This is an interesting aspect of the study for it illustrates that throughout documented history the benefits that physical activity as part of ones lifestyle in work or in

play can bring to the individual and community. This point is summed up by the words of Aristotle, who is reported to have said that the education of the body must precede that of the mind (Rice *et al.*, 1969).

HISTORICAL CONTEXT OF PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Gordon and Gibbons (1991) cite that it was Hippocrates, the fifth-century B.C. Greek physician, who said all parts of the body which have a function, if used in moderation and exercised in the labours in which each is accustomed, become thereby healthy, well-developed and age more slowly; but if unused and left idle they become liable to disease, defective in growth, and age quickly. This assertion that physical activity is positively linked with health and general wellbeing appears to be a strongly held and prevalent viewpoint since the very earliest times, including the archaeological evidence of sport and games from the Sumarian civilisation of 3,000 to 1,500 B.C. (Palmer and Howell, 1973) and up to the present day, where medical practitioners have endorsed exercise as an essential component for a healthy lifestyle orientation. The growing interest and acceptability of exercise as a medical tool becomes obvious when one observes the increasing number of exercise related citations in the annual Index Medicus, which lists all articles published in major medical journals. Between 1943 and 1953, the average yearly exercise citations was 110; this rose to 328 in 1963, 798 in 1973, and 1,278 in 1983

(Gordon and Gibbons, 1991).

Even so it is worth bearing in mind that the benefits of physical activity are not simply restricted to biological, physiological and medical factors. One of the interesting historical themes regarding physical activity is the importance accrued to it in terms of personal, social and moral development of not only the individual, but of society as a whole. This is most clearly portrayed in a historical review by Arnold (1986) who described that there was a strong belief, although not scientifically supported, of the connection between the playing of team sports and the development of social and moral values. This belief emanated from the English public schools of the 19th century which considered that physical activity particularly in the form of team games was educationally useful in that it led to desirable social and moral outcomes including such qualities as magnanimity, courage and steadfastness. It is interesting to note that although these beliefs regarding the influence and almost righteous qualities with regards to physical activity may be construed as outdated in todays modern world, it is clear that these beliefs are a common thread in the chronicles of history as a justification for its implementation right up to the present day.

Thus, the promotion of physical activity and the adoption of physical fitness appears throughout recorded history as an integral feature of many prominent civilisations and cultures.

The Ancient Greeks placed much value on sporting and physical activities which represented a dynamic and important process in their culture. This is perhaps most clearly visible in the status accorded to the Olympic Games and its participants, which was first staged in 776 BC. This societal affection for physical activity was to influence generations of Greeks, Romans, Macedonians and others who were to follow them historically (Harris, 1972).

In the Middle Ages the Teutons were to eventually acquire the more aesthetic skills for which the Romans and more particularly the Greeks were known, and the combination of physical vitality and intellectual growth created a backdrop for the development of Western Europe and ultimately the New World (LeUnes and Nation, 1990).

It was the Age of Enlightenment which provided the intellectual and philosophical impetus which has done much to shape the present understanding and implementation of physical activity. England was operating under a form of democracy, making it unique at that time. The French and the Americans in New England were becoming aware that education for all was a worthy goal, and it should be neither the responsibility of the church nor the right of the wealthy or noble. According to Gerber (1968) these changes coupled with the collective efforts of influential thinkers, from Copernicus and Rabelais to Locke and Rousseau, who viewed physical education as an essential requirement as part of the total development of the child resulted in a veritable explosion of organised physical activity all over Europe in the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries.

Physical Activity in Modern Times

More recently, in this century, one can see the reaffirmation of physical fitness and activity as an integral element of American society by Presidential statements that are characterised by their supportive and positive nature.

Theodore Roosevelt in 1905 was reported to have said that he believed strongly in value of physical activity and saw football as the most valuable of all team sports because it provided each individual with opportunities to test his courage (Lewis, 1969).

Dwight D. Eisenhower (1890 - 1969) spent a considerable amount of time promoting public attitudes and behaviours to physical fitness and sports, culminating in the Presidents Council for Youth Fitness. This infusion of Presidential backing into the fitness realm must be regarded as a landmark event (LeUnes and Nation, 1990).

President Johnson saw physical fitness as a matter of fundamental importance to individual well-being and to the progress and security of the American nation (Chaney, 1978).

Probably the most well known address using physical fitness as its theme, was by JF.Kennedy in 1960, when he expressed that physical fitness is not only one of the most

important keys to a healthy body it is also the basis for creative and dynamic activity (Corbin and Lindsey, 1991).

Since 1960 one has seen the embodiment of physical fitness as a symbol epitomising the superiority of certain political idealogies, particularly the Communist regimes of Eastern Europe and the Soviet Union. This was manifested most clearly at the Olympic Games where physical prowess and success were deemed to demonstrate that nations physical, cultural and political ascendancy. Thus physical prowess can be seen as an essential element of societies hegenonomy (McGregor, 1989).

Historical Context of Physical Activity in South Africa

The present character of physical activity in South Africa is in many respects the result of European influences and involvement in the 19th Century and early 20th century. Also during this period many South African Physical Education teachers visited Europe and were greatly affected by their experiences there. The presence of British soldiers in South Africa fostered the promotion of sport and games amongst the settlers, which flourished in the favourable climate (Van der Merwe, 1986).

It was only in 1936 that Physical Education became a compulsory subject in all schools and even though legislation was passed in 1967 to enforce uniformity of syllabi for all subjects in the various provinces, Physical Education was excluded because it was a non-examinable subject (Van Dalen and

Bennett, 1971). This exclusion from legislated syllabi structure allowed schools to largely determine what they considered the essential requirements for physical activity in general and specifically what was included in the Physical Education programme. Van Dalen and Bennet (1971), report that inter-school competition was strongly stressed and the games programme is generally voluntary, and well supported by parents and educational authorities. The predominate sports are rugby and cricket for boys and field hockey and tennis for girls. Leary and Thanning (1990) consider that many South African schools concentrate on these 'traditional sports' almost to the exclusion of to all else. These sports in particular are often an integral part of the schools merit system. Therefore representative honours at school level, provincial and national are accorded increasing levels of prestige.

Thus it may be argued that the historical and cultural influence on school physical activity has resulted in many of the schools having a system that largely caters for the gifted individual (Noakes, 1992) in a narrow range of sports, marginalising and neglecting the needs of the majority of school children, who as a consequence of a selective and limited Physical Education system develop a predisposition toward a sedentary lifestyle in adulthood with an increased propensity for hypokinetic disease. Finally it has been reported that limiting children's experience of physical activity to only within the confines of inter school team

sports has according to Brill *et al.* (1989); Sallis *et al.* (1989) and Wilson *et al.* (1990) little if any influence with regard to individuals adopting a physically active and healthy lifestyle. In view of the reported high levels of inactivity in adult South Africans and the causally associated prevalence of cardio-vascular morbidity and mortality as reported by the Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992) it is reasonable to conclude that the aim of this study in terms of providing at least some explanation of the reported high levels of physical inactivity by means of an holistic model is not only necessary but very important, particularly so, in terms of the emphasis on attitudinal and perceptual parameters which appears to have had scant attention in the past.

LIFESTYLE ORIENTATION

It is apparent that sedentary (physically inactive) lifestyles are very much the legacy of the technological innovations of the 19th and 20th centuries, resulting in a mechanized and automated society. Thus if climbing a flight of stairs leads to breathlessness and palpitations of the heart, one can simply use the escalator, if walking or cycling to work means tiredness or fatigue, one can simply drive the car. This change in Man's lifestyle orientation toward physical activity is summed up by Fieldsend (1980) who indicated that unlike our ancestors, who were forced to labour to heat their homes, collect water, gather food and defend themselves, most people

today get far to little exercise; the result being that, although infectious diseases have largely been conquered, modern Man does not necessarily experience better health and, appears to be at greater risk of dying as a result of lifestyles and attitudes that admit little time for exercise.

The main focus of this study was to examine lifestyle orientation in children, with particular emphasis on their attitude and involvement in physical activity. It is stressed by Caruso and Gill (1992) that by a vigorous examination of selected evaluative components, namely attitudes and physical self-perception, one will be able to elucidate how children feel about and perceive physical activity. This is a crucial factor towards understanding whether or not an individual is predisposed towards an active lifestyle, because it is through this consanguineous process with physical activity that the individual develops a fundamental behavioural component known as self-concept. According to Coombs et al. (1976) self-concept is most stable, important and characteristic selfthe perception of a person. Therefore in terms of identifying those individuals whose lifestyle orientation is characterised by physical activity or inactivity, the utilisation of selected psychological questionnaires offers the researcher with a most valuable method for investigation. This point is augmented if one considers that somatic indicators of sedentary lifestyle tend to be developmental; thus as people age, depending on their level of activity, a number of physical changes may

occur, including increased fatness and possibly obesity, an increase in hypertension and undesirable lipo protein cholesterol levels. While, these corporal indices are most apparent in adulthood, they are not clearly evident in children. Kemper (1980) reports in a review of blood lipid analysis studies, that there appears to be no significant difference in serum total cholesterol between active and nonactive children.

The Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992) points out that it has become increasingly clear in more recent times that several lifestyle or individual behaviours and habits, particularly physical inactivity, are seen as major determinants of disease. This is reflected in the concerns voiced by the same authors regarding an increase in chronic diseases, which are associated with physical inactivity, especially those related to the cardio-vascular system. These authors report that cardio-vascular diseases kill more people world wide than all other diseases, including infectious diseases. The origin of these chronic diseases can be traced in all probability to lifestyle patterns developed in childhood, for as Yach (1992) points out, chronic diseases are characterised by their long term latency.

Loper et al. (1989) report that studies over the last 15 years show that children of elementary and secondary school age are not developing a lifestyle which would lead to a low risk of chronic disease. The presence of alterable coronary heart

disease (CHD) risk factors in the youth of the United States was clearly established in the 1970's (Wilmore and McNamara, 1974; Gilliam *et al.*, 1977). In terms of cardio-vascular morbidity and mortality, South Africa has a population prevalence which are among the highest in the world (Seftel, 1992).

The cost of these diseases is not only measured by the long term suffering of those who are ill and their diminished sense of well-being, but also in financial terms. Hoeger (1986) reports that the unhealthy lifestyle habits of Americans regarding diet, exercise, smoking, obesity and other health behaviours have contributed significantly to spiralling health care costs. The annual expenditure by Americans on drugs for hypertension alone, amounts to \$8 Billion (The Joint National Committee, 1988). These are only a fraction of the costs that are spent on health care for patients suffering from cardiovascular disease, which are particularly demanding in terms of the needs for high technology, life support systems and a heavy reliance on medical and pharmaceutical treatment.

Despite the warnings by health and medical professionals, negative health values and physically inactive lifestyles continue to be the prominent risk factors resulting in chronic diseases. du Toit (1992) points out that there is no vaccination against these diseases, only prevention through diet, controlling blood cholesterol, regular exercise and avoiding the use of tobacco.

Lifestyle Orientation and Childhood

As previously mentioned chronic diseases of lifestyle are likely to originate from health and activity behaviours adopted in childhood. In view of the epidemic proportions of hypokinetic disease as reported by Corbin and Lindsey (1991) and the Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992) and related cardio-vascular morbidity and mortality, as well as, the immense burden it places upon the health system, it brings the question of what steps can be taken to solve this problem.

In some respects the answer is simple, but unfortunately its implementation would appear to be fraught with difficulty. In the first instance, it is well known and cited that hypokinetic disease is largely avoidable if one adopts a healthy, active lifestyle orientation (The Health of the Nation, 1991; Heart Foundation of Southern African, 1992). However, particularly in the case of South Africa, a nationwide, structured and well researched health and fitness programme aimed at increasing regular physical activity throughout the populace, has as yet, to be fully implemented.

Bar Or (1990) considers that for any beneficial long term effects that they might impart to society, enhanced physical activity and subsequent improved general fitness should be promoted in as large a segment of the population as possible. It is unlikely that such widespread enhancement will be achieved through sports clubs, recreation centres or individual home programmes (which appear to be the hope of South African

legislative policy, since the recent retardation of the school's physical education programme).

On the other hand, Bar Or (1990), considers that the school has much potential as an environment in which exercise and general physical fitness can be promoted for itself or as part of a more comprehensive health education programme.

In a recent review of 13 published programmes that had been held in the United States and Canada, the general conclusion drawn was that such health and fitness programmes did induce either weight loss or reduction in body fat. Those programmes that were successful in inducing reduction of adiposity had the following denominations (Ward and Bar Or, 1986):

- A multidisciplinary intervention that included enhanced activity, nutrition education and behaviour modification.
- Exercise classes 3-5 times per week that promoted and provided incentives for afternoon activities.
- A team approach that combined input from the nurse, guidance councillor, lunchroom supervisor, and physical education teacher.
- Coordinated parental involvement to support new behaviours.

Austin and Nowak (1987), indicated that physicians, dentists, drug counsellors and directors of health agencies believed that physical education could have a productive impact
on health. Loper et al. (1989) continue in the same vein, and state that in ranking a variety of secondary physical education topics, these health care professionals indicated a unanimous choice of "physical fitness" as being the most important in the physical education curriculum. In a survey conducted by the Nebraska State Department on 900 adults regarding physical education, they concluded that programmes should concentrate on teaching activities designed to improve overall health and fitness (Patrakis et al., 1985). South African schools have traditionally placed great emphasis on team sports and interschool competition as part of its physical education policy (Van Dalen and Bennett, 1971). Bearing in mind the studies conducted in North America and the conclusions drawn, is it possible that the nature of physical education in South Africa in some way linked to sedentary lifestyles, which is predominate in the adult population and the related high incidence of hypokinetic disease.

Based on the evidence and experience of North American studies investigating sedentary lifestyles, it would appear prudent for South African Education and Health agencies to develop and coordinate programmes which have the potential to instil positive lifestyle behaviours in South African children. This will obviously mean a considerable change in the content and aims of present school syllabi, but as Loper *et al.* (1989) point out, physical education teachers should be able to evaluate health behaviours and prescribe appropriate

modifications which would lead to a healthy lifestyle. The same authors also indicate that it is more important for physical education teachers to be able to produce health outcomes than to be able to coach one or more sports.

Even so, it should be borne in mind that there appears to be no empirical longitudinal studies that have examined physical activity through childhood, adolescence and adulthood, and its relationship with hypokinetic disease and particularly The result being that most research pertaining to the CHD. role of physical activity in good health and the adoption of positive lifestyle habits have to date been based on largely short term experimental studies. Malina (1990) states that physical activity is often viewed as having a favourable influence on growth maturation, body composition and physiological fitness. However the same author points out that the role of physical activity and physical fitness during childhood as a favourable influence on the health status of adults or as a preventative factor in disease of adulthood is not yet established.

It is obvious however, that such longitudinal studies would take a considerable period of time to complete. It is the opinion of Bar Or (1990), that society should not and cannot afford to wait for the definitive evidence, and should therefore promote activity and fitness in youth while supporting research on specific health related issues. This is analogous to society's commitment to curb smoking long

before definitive evidence had been provided about its detrimental effects on health.

HYPOKINETIC DISEASE

The term 'hypokinetic' is derived from "hypo" meaning under or to little, and "kinetic" meaning energy or activity. Thus hypokinetic means to little activity, and was first coined as a term by Kraus and Raab (1961). Hypokinetic disease is associated with a lack of physical activity or too little regular exercise.

One of the ways that exercise and physical activity contribute to optimal health is by helping reduce the risk of hypokinetic disease and related conditions. Corbin and Lindsey (1991) report that given the epidemic proportions of heart disease, the prevalence of back pain as a major adult complaint, the high incidence of fatness and obesity among children as well as adults, the dangers associated with the widespread existence of high blood pressure, ulcers, and mental health disorders, the reduction of hypokinetic disease is a priority health concern for Western culture.

The importance of physical activity and regular exercise are considered key components for the alleviation of risk factors associated with the development of hypokinetic disease. This has been congruent with the findings of epidemiological research, where Paffenbarger (1988) points to the independent nature of physical activity in the cause and effect

relationship of hypokinesis in the presence and absence of other influences. This is clearly demonstrated in a report from the Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992) which illustrates the strong independent nature of physical activity, where meat porters, working in Smithfields Market, London were compared with another group of office workers who worked in the City of London. Although the levels of smoking were similar for the two groups, the meat porters actually had lower carbon monoxide levels than office workers. It was concluded that the porters through the physically active nature of their work, were hyper-ventilating and excreting more carbon monoxide. The same authors report that carbon monoxide is a contributory factor to myocardial ischaemia and therefore heart disease. In another example, Morris (1990) in the United Kingdom, found that among 9000 male civil servants, the rates of CHD over a nine year period were significantly lower for those taking vigorous physical aerobic exercise than for others in the study. This is consistent with other longitudinal studies including that of 6,351 San Francisco, long-shoremen over a twenty two year period from 1957 - 1972. It was found that cargo workers who did work of a very physical nature (requiring 8,500 K.cal a week), to have much lower risks of fatal CHD than did men who held less physically demanding jobs such as tally clerks, hoist operators and foremen (Paffenbarger et al., 1980). Intrinsic to the benefits of physical activity are improved aerobic fitness and health, and the inference of

potentially increased longevity. Paffenbarger (1988) in a hypothetical representation of the epidemiological follow-up study of Harvard alumni, converted actuarial life tables to predict life outcome or extension and it is interesting to note, that if one were to equate a linear regression of these figures, a 16-year old participating in regular aerobic activity throughout his/hers lifespan could extend his/hers life by approximately 4.0 years beyond a projected 80-year expectancy. Similar findings have been presented by Weinhaus (1969) who postulated that life expectancy is decreased 1 year for each 51b above ideal body weight.

In summary, there is a substantial amount of research in the related literature which indicates conclusively that physical activity, whether it be a feature of work and/or an extra curricular lifestyle, is an independent factor inversely related to the incidence of hypokinetic disease particularly CHD. Furthermore, Rowland (1990) reporting on strategies for the prevention of CHD, states that recent studies have convincingly indicated a strong link between physical activity and decreased cardio-vascular morbidity and mortality. These have provided a new impetus for the promotion of regular exercise habits established in childhood and maintained throughout life. Other benefits include improved quality of lifestyle and of health, and if not necessarily a guarantee for a longer life, will certainly enhance one's general well-being throughout one's lifespan.

PHYSICAL ACTIVITY

Appropriate physical activity or exercise, like food and sleep, is a necessity for healthy living. It also helps to prevent heart attack, maintain a healthy weight, to strengthen bones, and to preserve independence in the elderly and people with a disability (The Health of the Nation, 1991). The same document reiterates the importance of this topic, by stating that one of its policy objectives is "to improve the health and well-being of the nation through appropriate physical activity" (p.71). The understanding that physical activity has an important role to play in the promotion and adoption of active lifestyles was recognised by the physical education profession in Britain, and resulted in Health Related Fitness (HRF) becoming an essential aspect of the curriculum. Almond (1983) pointed out that there are indications that the physical education profession could play an important role in raising public consciousness about the value of exercise, being physically active as a part of one's lifestyle, and providing access to ways in which people can look after themselves. However, there appears to be a lack of understanding regarding what is meant by physical activity in terms of how much, when and what to do, and the associated health benefits. According to Tinning (1991) this may be due to the fact that during formative childhood years, school programmes (physical education and related health studies) actively problematises health by reproducing notions of a healthy lifestyle which are

ill-conceived, and lacking in contextual reality.

Therefore, according to Tinning (1991) physical activity is a concept which must be developed in an educational framework with an understanding of the associated health benefits, simply setting children off on a regular run is not sufficient. Bouchard et al. (1990) define physical activity as a broad term which if taken literally, may describe practically any form of human or bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles, resulting in energy expenditure. This is a particularly capacious definition, therefore it is reasoned that a slightly more refined interpretation of the term as provided by the ACSM (1990) provides a more relevant and structured definition for the purposes of this study. Thus physical activity can be envisaged to be characterised by walking, hiking, jogging, dancing, running, swimming, cycling, game activities, rhythmic human movement and/or other similar exertional actions of an aerobic nature that are evident in work, recreational and sporting situations.

However, such activities are rarely descriptive of work demands found in developed industrial nations. Montoye (1985) reports that there is convincing evidence that a sedentary lifestyle in some people contributes to obesity, coronary heart disease (CHD), osteoporosis, and perhaps some other medical problems. There are many references to an apparent negative relationship between physical activity and the incidence of cardio-vascular disease (Brunner *et al.*, 1977; Paffenbarger

and Hale 1977; Paffenbarger et al., 1978).

The prominence of physically inactive or physically undemanding jobs in developed nations has resulted in a number of authors indicating that maintenance of good health can only be achieved by physical activity in ones free or non-work allocated time (Chave *et al.*, 1978; Morris *et al.*, 1980; Durnin, 1990)

Therefore if one wishes to evaluate an individual's pattern of physical activity, then a comprehensive description of it is required over a defined period of time, concerning the type, frequency, duration and intensity of physical activity. If one surmises from cited studies that the vast majority of people have a lifestyle pattern which is characterised by a physically inactive working day, then the utilisation of ones leisure time for physical activity takes on considerable importance in terms of health concerns. The ACSM (1990) make the following recommendations for (especially those individuals in sedentary work situations) the quantity and quality of training for developing and maintaining cardio-respiratory status/fitness, body composition, and muscular strength and endurance in the healthy adult. This entails being physically active 3-5 days a week, training at an intensity of 60-90% of maximum heart rate, and participating in 20-60 minutes of continuous aerobic activity.

"PHYSICAL FITNESS"

It is apparent in the reviewed literature that the terms physical activity, physical fitness, exercise and training are often used interchangeably and are as a consequence subject to a degree of tautological understanding. Lamb (1984) described physical fitness as the capacity to meet successfully the present and potential challenges in life. Physical fitness is usually more defined in its specificity of an individual's ability to perform physical tasks, and is therefore descriptive of that person's physical level or status when referenced with a challenge of a physical nature. Thus an individual achieves a level of physical fitness through involvement in physical activity or lack of it, and in this sense the terms are very much interrelated.

Corbin and Lindsey (1991) consider physical fitness to be the active human organisms ability to function efficiently and effectively. They report that physical fitness is made up of at least eleven different components each of which contributes to total quality of life. Yet it becomes apparent that it is difficult to disassociate the terms physical fitness from health, which again is a term which eludes precise definition.

However, common to the defining of both is the concept of 'optimal' quality or a state of 'wellness' (Bouchard *et al.*, 1990). Furthermore, epidemiological investigations have consistently provided support for the relationship between physical activity and physical health (Thomas, 1979). This

broad-based understanding may be described as 'total fitness', incorporating many components which many authors have emphasized, including aspects of emotional, mental and social and physical fitness (Chaney, 1978; Holmes and Roth, 1984; Brooke and Long, 1987). A further health dimension is indubitable from the findings of White *et al.* (1990) who provide systematic evidence of a relationship between exercise improved fitness and enhanced sexuality. This is likely to be perceived as a beneficial outcome along with physiological and psychological factors for those people who wish to change a sedentary lifestyle in an effort to reduce cardio-vascular disease.

This multi-dimensional understanding of physical activity and physical fitness and the implications of these factors for health considerations (particularly CHD) is congruent with the holistic approach advocated in this study.

Dishman and Dunn (1988) observe that little is known about the determinants and health outcomes of physical activity patterns among school-aged children. Many "common sense" assumptions have been made regarding the supposedly high physical activity levels of children, but recent studies examining this very point have cited that children are generally not as active as was originally thought and many children would be better described as being sedentary (Spurr and Reina, 1990; Armstrong and Bray, 1991). According to Dishman and Dunn (1988) physical inactivity is a primary risk

factor (along with obesity and hypertension) for coronary artery disease (CAD) and CHD, and is well established and alarmingly high in children. The problem is further exacerbated when one considers that inactivity becomes more pronounced as one ages (Godin and Shephard, 1986).

It becomes clear that there is a need to understand why children appear to be largely physically inactive by examining their perceptions and attitudes of physical activity and determining if these psychological traits are associated with anthropometric and physiological indices that characterise sedentary lifestyle, as well as observing how high and low physical achievers in schools relate too, or influence these relationships.

INTRODUCTION TO BODY COMPOSITION

Body composition refers to the relative percentage of muscle, fat, bone and other tissue of which the human body is comprised. It is evident from a number of studies that lifestyle orientation, in terms of whether one is physically active or not, may well have important implications for body composition. Furthermore, it is clear that the influence of lifestyle orientation on body composition, becomes more pronounced as one ages. However, it is worth bearing in mind that the adoption of negative health behaviours, which include physical inactivity are established during childhood. It is surmised by Lapidus *et al.* (1984), Larson *et al.* (1984),

Donohue et al. (1987), Gordon and Gibbons, (1991) that lifestyle orientation is likely to have a substantial influence on the percentage of body fat and its distribution, which are considered to be key factors for the prediction of increased propensity for hypokinesis, and related cardio-vascular diseases.

Corbin and Lindsey (1991) deem that for good health an individual should not allow body fat levels to drop too low or to become too high. There is a desirable range of 'fatness' for good health. However, an understanding of optimal percentage body fat does not seem apparent, when one observes the general population. The same authors report that in America that between 50% and 59% of the population are too fat, illustrating that a large proportion of people appear to live a sedentary lifestyle, and not to have an accurate comprehension of desirable body fat levels and the associated health concerns that are related to body composition imbalance.

Assessment of Body Composition

Body composition has become a major field of interest for many sport and exercise scientists as well as clinicians who specialize in the prevention of, and rehabilitation from hypokinetic disease. Most body composition methods are based upon the model in which the body consist of two chemically distinct compartments, fat and fat-free. The chemical composition of the fat-free body is assumed to be relatively constant with a density of 1.1 g.cc⁻¹ at 37°C, a water content of 72-75% and a potassium content of 60-70 mmol.kg⁻¹ in men and 50-60 mmol.kg⁻¹ in women. Fat, or stored triglyceride, which is anhydrous and potassium free, has a density of 0.900 g.cc⁻¹ at 37°C (Lukaski, 1987). There are a variety of techniques which may be employed to determine body composition, but for the purposes of this study a brief review will focus largely on established methods, and those which are particularly practical for use in field settings.

Skinfold Measurements

About half of body fat is situated around the various organs and muscles of the body. The other half is located just under the skin (subcutaneous fat), or in skinfolds. Thereby, obtaining skinfold measurements at specific sites on the body and utilising the relevant anthropometric equations one can obtain a good estimate of total body fatness (Mukherjee and Roche, 1984; Brodie, 1988). These have been validated against criterion methods, such as hydrostatic weighing or whole body potassium (Brodie, 1988). Many of the formulae that have been produced are specific to a particular sample of the population, dependent on age, sex and even specialist activities. It should be noted that the more skinfold sites measured correspond with a more accurate estimate of body fat levels (Corbin and Lindsey, 1991).

Skinfold measurements and population type specific formula therefore provide effective low cost assessment of body composition (by a trained person), particularly in field situations with relatively large numbers of people, and as a consequence is considered a valuable anthropometric method especially in epidemiological studies (Brodie, 1988).

Topography of Body Fat

Topographic analysis of the overall pattern of distribution of sub-cutaneous fat, is more concerned with the overall distribution of sub-cutaneous fat at various sites of the body by measurement of girth or circumference at these locations, and its relationship with CHD, the most prevalent morbidity and mortality statistic of hypokinesis. Van Itallie (1988) describes the waist to hip circumference ratio (WHR) as the best available index for determining risk and disease. This method is based on the principle that the increased deposition of fatty tissue on the trunk is associated with an increased risk of developing CHD and attendant risk factors such as diabetes mellitus (non-insulin dependence), high blood pressure and atherosclerosis.

This predominance of sub-cutaneous fat tissue developing on the trunk, nape, neck, cheeks, shoulders and upper half of the abdomen in particular, is largely characterised in men, although not exclusively and is known as android obesity. The high incidence of CHD in men characterised by android obesity

is a well established epidemiological relationship (Raison et al., 1992). Women however are characterised by sub-cutaneous fat which is most noticeably deposited in the lower half of the body (hips, buttocks and thighs). The risk of morbidity from what is termed 'gynoid' obesity is considerably different from that of android obesity. Women who are classified as gynoid obese (again some men may develop this condition) may develop biomechanical and psychological problems, but do not appear to suffer from metabolic complications (Van Itallie, 1988). The relative morbidity and mortality rates of android versus gynoid obesity and the link with males and females respectively may provide some explanation of the primary causal associations, which result in men being far more susceptible to and having a far higher rate of CHD, as compared to women. Donohue et al. (1987) emphasize the increased risk of CHD in men who are characterised by central (android) obesity.

The findings of Zwiauer et al. (1992) which is more adjacent to the present study conclude that cardio-vascular risk factors in obese children are related to obesity and body fat distribution using Waist-to-Hip Ratio. Obese children with predominantly abdominal (android) fat mass show a risk profile that is less favourable than gluteal-femoral (gynoid) fat distribution. Evaluation of body fat distribution in obese children, therefore may help to identify persons most susceptible to cardio-vascular risk in adulthood. Gordon and Gibbons (1991) report that individuals who have a Waist-to-Hip

Ratio which is excessive in android fat deposition are twice as likely to suffer from heart attacks. Reeder *et al.* (1992) as part of the Canadian Heart Health Survey Research investigated obesity and its relationship to risk of cardio-vascular disease, and conclude that obesity remains common among Canadian adults. They go on to say that there is a need for broad based programmes that facilitate positive lifestyle orientations, which include healthy eating and activity patterns for all age groups.

Body Composition and Health in Children

The health risks associated with an undesirable body composition particularly obesity increase with age (Rowland, 1990). The medical risks to children characterised by over fatness and obesity can in the terms of this study be defined by the extent to which children can be expected to carry their obesity (a symptom of physical inactivity) into adulthood. Rowland (1990) considers that in general, the older the individual, and probably the greater obesity, the more likely that obesity will persist.

There is a school of thought which postulates that every individual is born with a set body weight, advocates of this idea have given it the term 'set point theory' (Kemnitz, 1985). Supporters of this viewpoint believe that it is difficult for people to deviate from their 'set point' weight, as it is predetermined by heredity. Thus children born of obese parents are likely to inherit the genes which will predispose them to obesity and attendant risk factors for health. Set point theory has a popular appeal for it offers a simple explanation of the occurrence of obesity, although whether obesity is passed on biologically or through social and cultural expectations (or a combination of both) is a difficult issue to resolve. Keesey (1988) considers that to determine the validity of set point theory, future studies will need to be more methodologically vigilant. In particular, more attention will need to be given to delineating functionally distinct types of obesity. The accomplishment of this will require larger sample sizes than are traditionally used.

Even so, many experts agree that there is such a thing as familial predisposition to obesity (Bouchard *et al.*, 1990). Thus children born into families with a history of obesity are more predisposed to obesity themselves. This in no small way, may be the result of children adopting unhealthy parental lifestyle behaviours, primarily characterised by physical inactivity. However, children who are obese with or without familial predisposition are not in a immutable position. A number of studies report that weight reduction programmes including diet and exercise can be effective in the control of genetically predisposed individuals to fatness, however they do require a substantial change in lifestyle orientation (Belko *et al.*, 1987).

This study is concerned with constructing an holistic

model that has the means to identify and evaluate specific indices that characterise physically active or inactive lifestyle orientations in high and low achieving children. To what degree does the influence of a traditional school sports programme have upon the morphological, physiological and psychological make up of high and low achievers, and furthermore what is the extent to which children and adolescents are likely to sustain their lifestyle orientation into adulthood with attendant risk factors for health. Corbin and Lindsey (1991) report that in America as many as 25% of school children are over-fat. Of these children 4 out of 5 will become over-fat adults, and 28 of 29 teenagers will become over-fat adults. This is in agreement with the findings of Abraham and Nordsieck (1960) and Lloyd et al. (1961) who reported that up to 80% of adolescents in their early teens will sustain their obesity in the young and middle-aged adult, and that adolescent obesity predisposes the individual to adiposity in adulthood. In fact it would appear that the only equivocal data in this area relate to birthweight and later obesity (Heald, 1972). There is evidence that childhood overfatness results in hyperplasia, or an increased number of fat cells. People who have these extra fat cells are thought to have a greater tendency to become over-fat (Despres et al., Finally the effect of hyperplasia in childhood and 1984). hypertrophy (an increase in the size of fat cells) in adults, along with other factors associated with chronic disease of

lifestyle, illustrates the need to understand more clearly the nature of these problems and to evaluate if they are associated with a sedentary lifestyle and negative psychological beliefs about physical activity.

INTRODUCTION TO AEROBIC CAPACITY

The assessment of aerobic capacity is widespread and according to Noakes (1988), probably the most commonly used procedure in exercise physiology is the assessment for maximum oxygen consumption (VO_2 max). VO_2 max has particular relevance to this study for it is often used in schools as a method of assessing aerobic fitness, and therefore has implications for the process of selection in traditional sports. Although it should be borne in mind that other physiological factors such as strength, speed and agility, along with certain desirable morphological and psychological traits will play a part in team selection. However the assessment of aerobic capacity in the present study was deemed to be the best criterion for indicating what Corbin and Lindsey (1991) describe as the most important aspect of general fitness.

The assessment of VO_2 max has been an avenue of interest for many years and Noakes (1988) reports in his historical review of assessment for maximum oxygen consumption, that Lindhord (1915, Copenhagen) and Liljestrand (1920, Stockholm) were possibly the first scientists to measure oxygen consumption during exercise in athletes. Since these early

studies, subsequent technological advances have enabled scientists and physiologists to assess more detailed aspects of pulmonary function in their subjects, as well as being able to administer other related assessments in tandem; such as Ph values of blood and production of lactate (Cumming *et al.*, 1972) and analysis of glycogen depletion in muscle tissue during aerobic exercise (Vollestad and Blom, 1985).

It should be noted that measurement of aerobic capacity is but one feature (albeit an important one) of human performance. In his conclusion Noakes (1988) considers the belief that oxygen delivery alone limits maximal exercise performance, has "straight-jacketed" exercise physiology for the past 30 years. Thus, performance, particularly during prolonged maximal exercise, has often been explained exclusively in terms of oxygen transport and oxygen and fuel utilization, while other factors determining, muscle contractile function have largely been ignored. Noakes is therefore critical of this preoccupation with VO, max at the expense of other factors within the discipline of exercise physiology. However in the broader context this singular focus, not only with VO2 max but with physiology itself, ignores the benefits that other disciplines may provide a fuller explanation of variation in individual and group performance as induced by assessments of aerobic capacity. This point serves to reinforce the argument for a multi-disciplinary approach when researching human performance.

Assessment of VO₂ max

Direct measurement of VO_2 max on a treadmill or ergometer, using a mouthpiece to directly measure inspired and expired gasses is considered the most accurate method of assessment. A variety of protocols exist that increase metabolic rate by changes in speed, degree of gradient and resistance. In a review of treadmill protocols by Davies *et al.* (1983) and of cycle ergonometry by Beasley *et al.* (1989), both authors report that there is no significant difference in oxygen uptake between protocols.

 VO_2 max is routinely assessed in exercise laboratories and although equipment can be costly, the interfacing of computers with treadmills and ergometers has made the procedure relatively straight forward. Boutcher (1990) states that directly measured VO_2 max is a reliable and valid measure of aerobic capacity and is considered by many exercise physiologists to be the gold standard of aerobic fitness assessment.

However, such methods are invariably bound to a laboratory setting and only a limited number of subjects can be tested at any one time. As a consequence of the logistical limitations of direct measurement, particularly in field situations, when assessment of large numbers of subjects is required, various alternative modalities have evolved that seek to predict VO₂ max. Perhaps the most well known and most used is the Cooper 12-minute run (1982). The rationale for this test is that the

distance an individual can walk/run in the 12-minute period is determined by his/her maximum aerobic capacity. This is similar to the 1 mile American Alliance for Health, Physical Education and Recreation test, AAHPER (1980) except time becomes the variable determinant. Obviously variations of these theories have been used, but they still operate from the basic principles that the amount of distance covered in a time period or the amount of time it takes to complete a set distance are considered to be indicators of aerobic capacity.

A different method to assess aerobic capacity is the idea that levels of physical fitness and pulse recovery after exercise are linked. Brouha (1943) developed the Harvard Step test on this principle. Thus the better aerobic capacity of the individual then a quicker return to pre-exercise heart rate levels is attained than compared to those individuals of lower aerobic status.

However, Boutcher (1990) states that for a reasonable correlation to exist between one of the above predicted tests of VO_2 max and direct tests of VO_2 max, its relevance will depend on a number of factors which include the willingness of the subject to undertake all out running, his/her experience of running technique (or stepping, or cycling) and knowledge of appropriate pace, the consistency of the track and environmental conditions, and the inter-subject variance of maximum oxygen uptake.

Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST)

Even so, new ideas and methods continue to be developed to better satisfy the demands and needs of research. The recent emergence of the Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST) (Leger *et al.*, 1988) as a method for predicting maximum aerobic uptake holds considerable promise, because it is less susceptible to variation and inconsistency as compared with other field tests of predicted VO₂ max (Boreham *et al.*, 1990).

The principle of the assessment is straight forward: the person being assessed runs to and fro along a measured track (20 metres) keeping up with a series of timed bleeps on an audio/music cassette player. The timing of the bleeps start off relatively slowly, but becomes progressively faster so that it becomes more difficult to maintain the required pace. The runner stops when he/she can no longer keep going at the pace set by the cassette. The stage in the assessment when the subject stops provides a good indication of that person's individual aerobic capacity. Significant correlations between the MST and direct testing methods of VO2 max have been consistently found, particularly in children, adolescents, young people and those individuals who are able to perform a progressive and maximal exercise effort, thus making it a most attractive method for assessment in the present study. Boreham et al. (1990) found a correlation of 0.88 and 0.9 for adolescent boys and girls respectively with a direct VO2 max test. Ramsbottom et al. (1988) found a correlation of 0.96 with

the 5 km run. Leger *et al.* (1988) similarly reported an association of 0.95 with VO_2 measured at termination of MST and Paliczka *et al.* (1987) also reported a relationship of 0.95 with a 10 km run.

Aerobic Capacity and Health

The principal limiting factor for most types of exercise that last longer than three or four minutes is the capacity of the heart, lungs and circulation to deliver oxygen to the working muscles (Lamb, 1984).

This is known as aerobic or cardio-vascular fitness and is frequently considered the most important aspect of the more general physical fitness, because those who possess it have a decreased risk of hypokinetic illness including CHD. Cardiovascular fitness is also important to the effective performance of virtually all types of work or play activities (Powell, 1988). It is important to note that the achievement and maintenance of desirable aerobic fitness is most successfully attained by an active lifestyle orientation. There is considerable and comprehensive support throughout the related literature of the inverse relationship that exists between higher levels of cardio-vascular fitness and hypokinetic disease particularly CHD (Hurley *et al.*, 1988; Paffenbarger, 1988; Goldberg, 1989; ACSM, 1990; Kohl *et al.*, 1990).

However it should be noted that an individual's VO_2 max is to some degree genetically predetermined (Bouchard *et al.*, 1990).

Thus an individual in school who has a genetically relatively high VO, max, and who has to take part in mandatory sports and exercise sessions may well appear to have a desirable aerobic capacity, and therefore at a reduced health risk. Yet it should be remembered that if this person has a negative attitude towards physical activity, he/she may well be disinclined to exercise once he/she is out of the school system, lose their level of general fitness, and become more prone to hypokinesis. This premise has been supported in a number of longitudinal studies examining the type of physical activity programme experienced at school and its implication for exercise adherence in adulthood. The following authors Brill et al. (1989) and Sallis et al. (1989) indicate that where a competitive and coercive school sports programme exists, no difference between high and low achievers (when at school) was observed with regard to their exercise adherence in adulthood and propensity for hypokinesis. This implies that traditional school sports programmes which emphasize competition do little to instill positive lifestyle orientations, whether the individual was a high or low achiever on the sports field. A major factor in the development of CHD and cardio-vascular disease is atherosclerosis, that is, the build-up of fatty deposits (plaques) on the inner walls of the coronary or other arteries, resulting in obstruction of normal blood flow (Gordon and Gibbons, 1991). The development of atherosclerotic plaques progress on coronary vessels with

age, covering the intimal surface of blood vessels at an average rate of 0.86% per year; if this rate proceeded unabated, by the seventh decade of life more than 60% of the surface of coronary vessels would be covered by atherosclerotic plaque and the lumen narrowed (Goldberg, 1989). However, some caution should be exercised if one assumes that there is a causal link between the progress of atherosclerotic plaque and its retardation by improved cardio-vascular fitness. This is because most animal, clinical and pathological studies have not shown exercise to be directly related to the atherosclerotic process, it is, according to Froelicher (1990), reasonable to conclude that physical activity does not have a direct effect on atherosclerosis. Rather the effects of regular exercise enable the body to better tolerate ischemia and to lessen the manifestation of coronary heart disease. In addition it may possibly alter other factors for atherosclerosis.

The potential beneficial actions of regular exercise are multifactorial, thus making physical inactivity (sedentary lifestyle orientation) a complex risk factor to assess. Although there is no evidence directly linking better cardio-vascular fitness with a slowing of atherosclerotic plaque deposits, Goldberg (1989) states that physical conditioning has a substantial effect on numerous risk factors for atherosclerosis. Several independent, and in many cases inter-related risk factors for cardio-vascular, metabolic, psychologic and haematological dysfunction are modified favourably by regular physical

exercise.

A physically active lifestyle can have a pronounced effect upon the metabolism, improve fuel homeostasis by increasing glycogen storage, and improve fatty acid oxidation. Also there can be an increase of insulin sensitivity, triglyceride clearance and high density lipoprotein (HDC) formation, thereby improving glucose and lipoprotein lipid metabolism (Heath *et al.*, 1983; Holloszy *et al.*, 1986; King *et al.*, 1988).

According to DeMaria et al. (1978) regular physical aerobic activity improves cardiac efficiency by increasing stroke volume and reducing heart rate and blood pressure at rest and during sub-maximal exercise. Studies supporting this contention in three different age categories include Adams et al. (1981) who studied the effects of an aerobic training programme on the hearts of healthy college-aged men; Parrault et al. (1978) who investigated middle-aged men after five months of aerobic training, and Stein et al. (1978) working with students during a fourteen-week training programme. This point illustrates that the physiological benefits of regular exercise are possible in a range of ages, but it should be remembered that the most desirable outcomes are related to active lifestyles adopted in childhood and positively continued in adulthood.

There is considerable support in the literature which indicate the beneficial adaptations that regular aerobic exercise as part of an active lifestyle can have upon those processes which are closely associated with and linked to

hypokinesis and CHD. Furthermore, such adaptations may prevent or delay the manifestation of atherosclerotic heart disease (Bouchard *et al.*, 1990).

Powell et al. (1987) in a recent review of literature, examined forty-three studies of physical activity in relation to CHD, primarily among North American and European working It is of interest that not one report indicated aged men. positive association of exercise level and CHD incidence. Powell (1987) concluded that the inverse association between physical activity and incidence of CHD is consistently observed, especially in the better designed studies; this association is appropriately sequenced, biologically graded, plausible, and coherent with existing knowledge. Therefore, the observations reported in the literature support the inference that physical activity is inversely causally related to the incidence of CHD. Even so, it should be noted that there is a comparative absence of studies examining these relationships with women, children/youth, ethnic and racial groups which are non-white, and the disabled, hence the focus of this present study, specifically directed toward the youth.

INTRODUCTION TO PSYCHOLOGICAL VARIABLES

According to LeUnes and Nation (1990) psychology is one of the youngest of all the sciences, which began in 1879. Atkinson et al. (1983) define psychology as the scientific study of behaviour and mental processes. They point out that their definition recognises the significance of objectively studying behaviour, yet it allows for the importance of mental processes that are more inferred than observed. Also it is clear that with the recent advances in methodological techniques, especially the development of multi-dimensional psychometric analysis, that the discipline of psychology has much to offer on the present focus of this study, namely lifestyle orientation. Two areas of investigation offer the researcher valuable insight into why children appear to be either physically active or inactive, and these are attitudes and self-concept.

Attitudes

Since its introduction over a century ago, the concept of attitudes has been a focal point of enquiry in social psychology. Concern for the study of attitudes has also been apparent in the emerging field of sport psychology (Schutz et al., 1981). This is reflected by the design and construction of instruments to assess attitudes toward a variety of attitude objects, including sportsmanship, intense competition, and physical fitness and exercise (Albinson, 1975).

Clearly people are not born with attitudes as such, but develop many different attitudes as they go through life (Sperling and Martin, 1992). During infancy and childhood one can see attitudes being developed through relationships with parents and other members of the immediate family. As the individual progresses through childhood the influence of the school environment will grow in importance, as will friends, peers and the wider but no less tangible effects of macrosphere factors such as the mass media (McGregor, 1989).

If a child develops and displays attitudes which are favoured by parents and school, then they are likely to be reinforced and approved. Establishment of the attitude therefore takes place. Thus the adoption of attitudes is often linked with the need to conform or be accepted by the people and community one interacts with (Sonstroem, 1974).

Attitudes are also formed as a result of a direct experience with an object or social construct (Sperling and Martin, 1992). An individual may understand that physical activity is generally good for him/her, although his/her experience of physical activity may be unpleasant. This may not be surprising if one considers the competitive nature particularly of formal physical activities at school, whereas the elite and physically gifted (a minority) tend to dominate and win, and therefore gain positive feedback, while the less able (the majority) are often marginalised, tend to lose, and often experience a more averse ordeal (Orlick, 1974; Greer and

Stewart, 1989).

Therefore, the adoption during childhood of positive attitudes towards physical activity (along with suggested changes in the South African Physical Education Syllabus which include a greater emphasis and integration of health related topics), may facilitate the development of an active lifestyle orientation. Godin and Shephard (1986) support the wisdom of promoting early life experience of physical activity, since attitudes and current exercise habits interact with prior experience in determining exercise intentions.

Attitudinal Inventory Models

Results from various studies examining the relationship between attitudes and physical activity have tended to be equivocal. This may be partially due to the fact that attitudinal inventories vary in their format, flexibility and specificity to the subject of physical activity. Researchers can utilise one of a number of scaling measures, including Thurstone scaling (1928), Likert scales (1932) and Semantic Differential scales (Osgood *et al.*, 1957). Also studies of attitudes and physical activity have largely focused on adherence and non-adherence in usually short term or cross sectional studies.

Godin and Shephard (1986) reported that personal attributes, particularly attitude and exercise habits, contribute significantly to the prediction of exercise

intentions, as did the interaction between prior experience and current exercise habits. The same authors in their study of grade 7 to 9 students, average age 13 years concluded that high intenders had strong beliefs about the consequences of and made positive evaluations of beneficial exercising, outcomes. In contrast low intenders held more neutral beliefs about the consequences of exercising, and were less convinced of the benefits of regular exercise. The same authors also reported a sex-related differential that traditional cultural values still influence the beliefs of junior high school students, where boys like to have fun and girls seek the benefit of looking better. The pervasive effect of attitudes is also reflected in adult studies, where Riddle (1980) reported that joggers had consistently and significantly more positive attitudes towards exercise than non-joggers. Although it should be noted that Dishman and Gettman (1980) using the inventory Attitude's Toward Physical Activity (ATPA), examined the psychobiological influence on exercise adherence, the results of which did not support the theoretical expectations related to the roles of attitudes towards physical activity in the adherence process.

The ATPA has been modified for children, and in its revised format, Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA), Schutz et al. (1981) reported that attitudes towards physical activity and involvement are significantly related to each other. McCready and Long (1985) using the revised CATPA

reported two attitude variables, notably Social Continuation and Catharsis that are seen to be related to exercise adherence. Thus for the purposes of this study CATPA would appear to be the most appropriate method to elicit children's attitudes regarding physical activity. It therefore provides an effective psychometric tool to evaluate lifestyle orientation of children towards physical activity within the auspices of the present study. It should be further noted that there is an absence of research in South Africa seeking to understand lifestyle orientation of children by psychometric analysis, this is crucial because it could be, that the way an individual feels and perceives physical activity, may well be primary factors in their levels of participation when referenced with their level of achievement in traditional school sport.

Self-Concept

Self-perception is a fundamental aspect of the human organism. According to Gale (1974), man is a perceiving animal, since perceptions are the basis of the beliefs, feelings and values that trigger ones actions, contribute to ones development and guide ones learning. The same author states that by definition perception is an active process involving sensory experiences by means of which man selects, organizes and interprets all data one receives from both internal and external sources.

This unique and evaluative self-perceptual ability enables

the individual to critically discern the crucial factors and processes that comprise the 'self', the quintessence of which is to encapsulate what the self does and what the self feels.

These perceptions do not exist in the perceptual field as a simple enumeration of ways of seeing the self. Coombs *et al.* (1976) consider the concepts of self constitute an organisation representing a person's own conception of himself in all his complexity. This organisation is not a mere conglomeration of isolated concepts of self, but a patterned interrelationship or 'gestalt' of all perceptions (Coombs, 1958; Aboud, 1979). This organization of all the ways a person has of seeing himself has been coined the phenomenal or perceived self (Coombs *et al.*, 1976).

Out of the interaction of Man and his environment there emerges the self or a concept of "who I am" (Englar, 1979). This has been subsequently termed 'self-concept' (Rogers, 1961; Harter, 1983). The self, then, is an object of perception as well as a process. This is conceptually important to the present study when one considers the interactive process involved between the self and the object physical activity. Furthermore, self-concept is a function of processes emanating from within the individual (physically, mentally, emotionally) as well as those external factors, in particular interaction with and feedback from significant others. Positive selfconcept, the feeling that one has value in the world, is a hall mark of good mental health. With the depersonalizing effects of

modern civilisation, the individual's ability to sustain a sense of worth is a requisite for happiness in all phases of life (Rowland, 1990). This continuous and ongoing process of comparison made between the self and others, whether it be conscious or unconscious, will play a significant role in the development of an individual's physical self-concept.

Gale (1974) reports that psychologists frequently find self-concept a useful construct to study people, because selfconcept is central to human personality, from the viewpoint of human learning, the self-concept is the apex, the culmination of all the social and personal experiences man has had. The perception one has of oneself is developed during childhood. Non-existent at birth, self-concept is formed as the child grows, and mature self-esteem is typically reached at the time of adolescence. Thus, according to Caruso and Gill (1992) selfesteem is considered the evaluative component of self-concept and refers to an individual's positive feelings about himself or herself. Because it is difficult to consider oneself without experiencing self-evaluation, the two terms are often used interchangeably rather than confining description to selfconcept and evaluation to self-esteem (Shavelson et al., 1976). Hence the targeting of 16-18 year old students as subjects for the study, for it is proposed that by late adolescence, individual self-esteem in relation to physical activity is well established. Rowland (1990) indicates that self-concept grows largely by social experiences and therefore is derived from

one's cognitive, social and physical success in relation to peers. In this process experience of physical activity, particularly sport participation, are expected to influence the development of healthy self-esteem, particularly the value placed by society on athleticism and sports skills. Thus through this interactive process a central and underlying characteristic of the individual is developed, namely the internalisation of physical self-esteem.

Self-Esteem

Studies of children's self-conceptions by and large have been dominated by a focus on self-esteem (Wylie, 1979; Harter, 1983). In such studies the concern is with the positive or negative valence of a child's self regard, rather than with how the child defines and understands the self. This affective orientation of self-esteem has meant that its measurement in psychological studies has been conducted with a view to its direction and strength, in order to investigate whether the child values the self positively or negatively, and to what extent.

Self-esteem has consistently occupied a central position in the explanation of human behaviour (Gergen, 1971; Fox and Corbin, 1989). At present a rather substantial theoretical and empirical base supports the notion that a child's physical self-esteem, in the form of perceived ability, is a major determinant of future motivated behaviour in sport (Duda, 1987;
Horn, 1987; Weiss et al., 1990). Sonstroem and Morgan (1989) indicate that self-esteem has been identified as the variable with the greatest potential to reflect psychological benefit gained from regular exercise, they go on to describe how it is practically impossible to consider a picture of oneself without experiencing self-evaluation and affect.

Self-Esteem Inventory Models

Early inventory constructs which sought to elucidate selfesteem, tended to emphasize unitary constructs, or global selfesteem and its ability to interact with, and influence behaviour in a wide variety of settings.

There is a substantial volume of research that has concluded that increased physical activity has a beneficial effect on mental health (Sonstroem, 1984; Morgan, 1985). Even so it is important to realize that mental health is a capacious term whose evaluation is beyond the scope of this study. Alternatively, self-esteem offers this study an important and stable component of mental health which is both manageable and assessable. However, although there appears to be a theoretical expectation of a positive relationship between self-esteem and more specifically physical fitness, Balogun (1987) reports that the resultant data examining these two factors have been inconsistent.

This is congruent with the finding of Damon and Hart (1988), who report that despite the seemingly central role of

children's self-esteem, psychologists have not succeeded in using it as a strong predictor of anything else. Wylie (1979) also acknowledges this point in a review of self-concept literature, and indicates that the most impressive thing which emerges is the widespread occurrence of null or weak findings in studies relating self-esteem to achievement, interpersonal relations and a host of other antecedent or consequent variables.

The apparent inadequacy of the self-esteem model in predicting behaviour patterns in terms of physical activity may well be the result of methodological limitations. According to Rowland (1990) the following factors appear to weaken the conclusion that exercise or physical fitness truly influences self-esteem; absence of proper control subjects, deficient experimental design, lack of random treatment assignment, initial group differences and improper statistical analysis.

In an attempt to construct and provide a better reasoned version of the self-esteem model Zion (1965), proposed that there was a significant relationship between body-image and self-esteem. Although this may be viewed in some respects as being conceptually circumscribed, in as much that it focuses predominately on self image (the appearance of the body and the positive or negative perception one has as a result), it does however provide the basis for studies producing significant correlations.

According to Tucker (1983a) those studies that place

emphasis on how the individual looked, reported significant positive relationships. Tucker (1983b) investigated the relationships between global self-esteem, somatotype, obesity, exercise and psychological well-being. He reported that looking good is a socially desirable quality, furthermore subjects who participated in regular weight training activities had healthier self-concepts than did subjects who exercised Balogun (1987) reports similar little, or not at all. findings, in terms of physical image, where individuals with high body fat have low self-esteem, and were less satisfied with their body parts and processes than were individuals with low body fat. Yet little significant relationships existed between global self-esteem and physical fitness, this is synonymous with the findings of Neale et al. (1969) and Leonardson and Gargiulo, (1978), illustrating the theoretical limitations of global self-esteem models, when investigating more specific factors such as physical activity and fitness.

It is perhaps important to note that for many people the preventative, long term health goals of adopting a physically active lifestyle, particularly in children may seem too intangible. For them, the sustained participation in physical activity may require more immediate benefits. These benefits might take the form of looking and feeling better, improved self-image, a greater satisfaction from improved physical performance, or a generally enhanced state of well-being (Dowall et al., 1988; Mol, 1989).

A major advancement in self-esteem theory has been the widespread use of multi-dimensional means of investigation. The infusion of interactionism into self-esteem theory has produced a much richer picture of self-esteem content and provides a more informative map for plotting self-esteem change (Harter, 1985).

Fox and Corbin (1989) have noted that the multidimensional construct is not implicit in many self-esteem inventories, and consider that this has retarded the identification of the situational contributors to the physical self. They also note that the Tennessee Self-concept Scale (Fitts, 1965), the Physical Estimation Scale (Sonstroem, 1976) and the Physical Self-Efficacy Scale (Ryckman *et al.*, 1982) have suffered from problems similar to those of early unidimensional scales. Scales that are factor derived from a large item pool result in a conglomeration of often conceptually unrelated items.

Fox and Corbin (1989) in light of these theoretical inadequacies have developed a self-concept scale which deals with the relationship between self-esteem and physical activity in a far more rigorous and relevant model. They point out that the Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP) appears suitable to investigate the origins and mechanisms involved in the emergence of gender differences in self-perception in the physical domain. This model has also been successful in discriminating between active and non-active, as well as

between high active and low active individuals. Therefore it would seem that the more situational specific and multidimensional qualities of the PSPP, presently offers the most effective insight into how males and females perceive themselves in relation to physical activity within a traditional sports regime, along with an analysis of those individuals categorised as either high or low achievers.

Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE)

A common psycho-physiological tool used to assess perception of effort is Borg's rating of perceived exertion (RPE) (Hetzler et al., 1991). According to Prusaczyk et al. (1992) RPE have been used increasingly for monitoring exercise intensity in clinical, rehabilitation, and fitness programmes, and in occupational settings because of their simplicity of use. The utilisation of the Borg scale in this study, provides a validated method of assessing how children perceive effort in the context of the MST, and an indication of whether or not high or low achievers are characterised by different perceptions of effort during a controlled exercise modality; for it has been proposed that what people think they are doing may well be more important than what they are doing.

Assessment of a physical task in a graded continuum, using terms such as light-weak to moderate to strong-hard, otherwise known as ratings of perceived exertion is, according to Borg (1982), the best single indicator of physical strain.

The rating of perceived exertion is indicated on Borg's RPE scale, by verbal anchors representing levels for perceived effort of exercise intensity (see Figure 1). The RPE scale is usually in the form of a chart which is placed in easy view, The subject is required to rate, at regular intervals his/her level of perceived exertion. The subject indicates which verbal anchor best describes his/her perception of effort, this may be a general or specific physiologic reference depending on the assessment criteria. ACSM (1986) report that perceived exertion scales provide a means to quantify subjective exercise intensity. The same authors indicate that such subjective estimates of exercise intensity by the person being tested have been found to correlate well (0.8 - 0.9) with oxygen uptake and heart rate.

RPE

6 7 Very, very light 8 9 Very light 10 11 Fairly light 12 13 Somewhat hard 14 15 Hard 16 17 Very hard 18 19 Very, very hard 20

New Rating Scale

0	Nothing at all				
0.5	Very, very weak				
1	Very weak				
2	Weak				
3	Moderate				
4	Somewhat strong				
5	Strong				
6					
7	Very strong				
8					
9					
10	Veny very strong				

very, very strong Maximal

FIGURE 1: Original Borg Scale. FIGURE 2: Revised Borg Scale

Mihevic (1981) noted that perception of effort was dependant upon input from both the musculature and cardio-vascular system and proposed that for prolonged work, perceived exertion is most forcibly influenced by those central factors of cardiovascular function. While much of Borg's early work on the development of an RPE scale concerned itself with the relationship exhibited between effort induced bicycle ergometry and heart rate, his findings were equally applicable to treadmill exercise.

The original Borg scale had a 21 point category rating scale, which was later adapted to a 15 point scale to express greater linearity between ratings and workload (Borg, 1970). The numerical values used are representative of one tenth of exercise heart rates for healthy middle-aged men performing moderate to heavy exercise (Borg, 1973).

However there has been a tendency among some observers to incorrectly assume that RPE and heart rate are causally linked. Borg (1973) did in fact establish that in a number of exercise modalities that RPE covaries directly with heart rate, reporting a correlation of 0.85 between RPE values and heart rate response to a bicycle ergometer task involving progressively increasing exercise intensity intensities. This is commensurate with other findings using similar protocols (Pandolf *et al.*, 1972; Noble *et al.*, 1973; Skinner *et al.*, 1973).

However it should be noted that although the correlational

evidence suggests a strong linear relationship existing between RPE and heart rate in a number of exercise modalities, this relationship is less clear and much less substantial for a single exercise intensity, where Borg (1962) reported correlations averaging 0.4.

There appears to be a considerable consensus of support for the Borg scale as an accurate method of evaluating exercise effort. In fact criticism is difficult to find, although a less favourable conclusion was afforded by Miller *et al.* (1985), who investigated RPE and heart rate relationships of post 50 year olds in walking activities, and reported low correlation values in both the 600m walk and the 2min on-the-spot walk. The same authors point out that on any given day ones RPE and heart rate values may fluctuate with exercise as a result of physical, social or emotional factors.

RPE and Gestalt

Morgan (1981) points out that effort sense seems to involve a cognitive-perceptual process, rather than perception alone. Thus effort sense is based upon the physiological cost, cognition (thinking) and perception (feeling). This understanding leads to the proposal that effort perception is a complex psycho-physiological process

Morgan (1981), Borg (1982) and Boutcher *et al.* (1988) consider that effort perception is best viewed as "gestalt" a process that involves the interactive configuration of

numerous input parameters, such as muscle and blood lactate, ventilatory minute volume, catecholamine production, blood glucose levels, muscle glycogen stores, personality structure, pain tolerance, past experiences and memory, and probably opioid and neurotransmitter levels in the brain.

Mihevic (1981) indicates that the manner in which "gestalt" is established is not clearly understood, because effort perception is based upon a complex psycho-physiological process which Morgan (1981) describes as technologically inaccessible.

This however has not deterred researchers from seeking to understand more clearly this process (effort perception), and their work has often tended to focus on the identification of a primary cue underlying effort perception. The need for a conceptual framework for this research was recognised and Ekblom and Goldberg (1971) proposed a two factor model, of local and central parameters for the study of RPE. These authors recognised that the perception of effort might be dominated by local factors on the one hand, including physiologic factors such as lactate production, proprioceptor response and general limb muscle sensations; or central factors on the other hand including heart rate, oxygen consumption, ventilation and respiration rate depending upon the type of exercise modality.

The Revised Borg Scale

The 15 point Borg category scale was largely developed to express the linearity between RPE and heart rate (HR) in tasks involving progressively increasing exercise intensities. However certain physiological variables, notably pulmonary ventilation (breathlessness/dyspnea and respiration rate, RR) and lactate acid production do not increase in a linear pattern when an individual is subject to a test of maximal aerobic capacity (VO2 max). According to Noble et al. (1983) when lactate is plotted as a function of the Borg (6-20) scale, lactate concentration increases about three times more per scale unit at the top of the scale ratings (16-17) than at the bottom. Thus a scale was needed that would identify fatigue associated with non linear physiological responses, such as pulmonary ventilation (dyspnea and RR) and lactate metabolism. It is important to note that VO2 max tests and other similar incremental exercise modalities leading to a maximal aerobic effort are characterised by the subject achieving a ventilatory lactate threshold, which are physiologically closely and inter-related. Thus when the subject indicates that performance is limited or curtailed by muscle fatigue, this is caused by a failure of oxygen delivery to the mitochondrion. The consequences of local hypoxia are exacerbated by a slow diffusion of acid products out of the muscle fibre (Shephard, 1984). Furthermore, the inability of the subject to continue in a VO2 max test may be the direct result of dyspnea. This is

supported by the findings of Adams et al. (1986) who report of an inverse association between levels of aerobic status as judged by HR and VO_2 criterion and the degree of reported breathlessness (dyspnea).

important to note that the perception of It is breathlessness or the degree to which one becomes out of breath during exercise is a commonly evaluated experience by 'normal' individuals according to Webber and Szidon (1986), and is not a term whose use is restricted to those individuals suffering from pulmonary illness or related conditions. Breathlessness as a perceptual reference medium is a particularly practical method, due to its customary monitoring, as in climbing a flight of stairs or going for a 10 km road run. More specifically Salamon et al. (1978) report that when conscious attention is focused on the acts of breathing, the quantitative appreciation of volumes, pressures and total ventilation conforms to psychophysical power functions in a manner similar to the perception of analogous parameters of other motor acts. It is therefore suggested that this quantitative evaluation of breathing during exerc ise is a function which is readily understood by children, especially as a perceptual cue during a test of aerobic capacity, and is a better term of reference than perhaps more nebulous terms such as fatigue.

As a result of the limitations demonstrated by the 15 point scale based on linear relationships Borg (1982) devised the new or modified 10 point category scale with ratio

properties (see Figure 2). Thus according to Carton and Rhodes (1985) this scale may be particularly useful in measuring the progression of effort with relation to certain physiological mechanisms such as dyspnea and lactate acid production, which reflect anaerobic metabolism (an important factor in VO₂ max tests especially in the latter stages) and grow according to a power function with exercise intensity. Mahon and Vaccaro (1989) report that the term ventilatory threshold has often been used synonymously with the term anaerobic threshold and is believed by some to be a noninvasive means of determining the onset of metabolic acidosis.

Noble et al. (1983) summarize that the usefulness of the new category-ratio scale is based upon the similarity in the psycho-physiological function and trend analysis between perceptual responses and physiological variables that exhibit a positively accelerating response to exercise intensity. In their research findings they report that the hypothesis that proposed that blood and muscle lactate would parallel perceptual ratings (1-10), while heart rate would not, were confirmed, thus the usefulness of the category-ratio scale was supported.

CHAPTER 3

METHODOLOGY

INTRODUCTION

The main aim of this study was to examine lifestyle orientation towards physical activity in children aged 16-18 years by means of an holistic model. This approach allows for an integrated profile, which due its multi-disciplinary construct provides a more consummate and accurate evaluation of individual lifestyle orientation towards physical activity.

More specifically, the methodology entailed anthropometric measures, included stature and mass, skinfolds and waist-to-hip ratio; physiological measures, included maximal predicted aerobic capacity (VO₂ max), along with exercise and pre-exercise heart rate monitoring; psychological measures included assessment of both attitudes towards physical activity and physical of self-perception, as well as the evaluation of ratings of perceived exertion (RPE).

SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS

51 male and 53 female subjects aged 16-18 years were selected on the criterion of whether or not they were high or low achievers in traditional school sports. This criteria was based on the categorisation of high achievers being those subjects who performed in school first team, provincial or national level. Low achievers were categorised by their non-participation in the aforementioned team levels. This does not imply that low achievers were idle non-

participants, but rather that they had not achieved the criterion by which success in physical activity is largely measured, namely by being members of the traditional school first teams.

Subjects were therefore divided into four distinct groups; male high (Mhi) and male low achievers (Mlo), and female high (Fhi) and female low achievers (Flo).

RESEARCH PROTOCOL : INFORMED CONSENT

An initial letter and information sheet was sent to the headteachers of the High Schools in Grahamstown, informing them of the purpose of the study. A general outline of the requirements of the subjects was given as well as the data that would be collected during the sessions (see Appendix 1). The letter was followed up with a personal meeting with each of the headteachers to provide them with additional information with respect to the project, and to answer any queries they had. The headteachers were assured that the schools and the subjects anonymity would be preserved and that the pupils would be free to withdraw from the project at any stage.

As the subjects for the study were minors, the headteachers were requested to sign the informed consent form on behalf of the pupils, once they agreed to the participation of the pupils of their respective schools in the project.

PILOT TESTING

Pilot tests were conducted to evaluate primarily the reliability of testing procedures and equipment in the assessment of aerobic capacity (VO₂ max) along with heart rate and ratings of perceived exertion.

The use of the Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST) for the prediction of VO_2 max, with minute by minute measurement of heart rate and ratings of perceived exertion does not appear to have been carried out before, therefore the pilot study was implemented to evaluate the feasibility and reliability of collecting data using this methodology whereby each subject was required to call out his/her own heart rate and RPE to the recorder at the stated interval.

As a result of feedback from the subjects and recorders in the pilot study, it was ascertained that an improved protocol procedure would be achieved if subjects called out heart rate first and then RPE. This was based on the finding that inter-individual influence in the calling out of heart rate was unlikely to be affected due to the objective nature of the reading. Whereas, by calling out RPE at the end of the shuttle, as opposed to halfway through the final shuttle of each level meant that the subject was in close proximity to the recorder and unlikely to be heard by other runners, thus the simultaneous rating by each subject nullified any adaption or suppression of perceptual responses.

ANTHROPOMETRIC DATA

In this study anthropometric measurements which centred on body composition (BC) were utilised. BC refers to the relative percentage of muscle, fat, bone and other tissue of which the body is comprised. The utilisation of BC is particularly germane to the present study because there is a need to establish if high and low achievers in traditional team sports are discernable by their morphology, and whether or not if one is able to identify certain undesirable corporal indices that are associated with various health problems, such as hypokinesis, which are often the result of sedentary lifestyles (Corbin and Lindsey, 1991). This point is reiterated by Lukaski (1987) who emphasized that BC has become a major field of interest for many sports and exercise scientists as well as clinicians who specialise in the prevention of, and rehabilitation from, hypokinetic disease.

The following anthropometric measurements were obtained from each subject; stature and mass, skinfold measures from four sites and waist-to-hip ratio.

Stature

Stature was measured using a Holtain stadiometer. Following the procedure proposed by Tanner (1964) each subject was asked to position his/her body so that his/her bare feet, buttocks and upper back were in contact with the stadiometer. The vertex in the medial sagittal plane was used to measure stature and was recorded in centimetres to the nearest millimetre.

Body Mass

The subject was asked to remove all clothing except for his/her shorts and T-shirt before being measured on the Seca scale. Body mass was measured in kilograms to the nearest gram.

Skinfold Measures

Measurement of skinfolds at selected sites offers an effective method of estimating body fat, a central factor in BC (Brodie, 1988).

Skinfold fat measurements - These were obtained using a Harpenden calliper, with a jaw pressure of 10 g.mm⁻¹, at four sites, namely triceps, biceps, subscapular and supra-iliac. Durnin and Womersley (1974) found that this procedure enabled the tester to assess total body fat with relative ease and reasonable accuracy. Measurement at all four sites involved the following steps. The skinfold was grasped between the thumb and the index finger, 1 cm above the prescribed site, and pressure applied. The skinfold was raised and maintained, with the crest of the fold following the specified alignment (Copley, 1980). The calliper jaws were then placed 1 cm from the fingers at a depth approximately equal to the thickness of the fold, at right angles to the prescribed site. The spring handles were released and the skinfold was held throughout the operation. The measurement was taken after the full pressure of the calliper jaws had been applied and the drift of the needles had stopped. Each measurement was taken and recorded to the nearest 0.1mm three times, and the mean of the closest pair recorded. All

measurements were taken on the right side of the body.

Triceps skinfold - This was measured on the posterior surface of the unclothed pendant arm at a level midway between the acromion and the olecranon. The midpoint was established with the elbow fixed at 90 degrees. The skinfold was lifted parallel to the long axis of the arm, after which the subject lowed the forearm and the calliper jaws applied.

Biceps skinfold - This was measured on the anterior surface of the pendant right upper arm, at the same level as the triceps skinfold. The skinfold was lifted parallel to the long axis of the upper arm.

Subscapular skinfold - This was measured 1 cm below the inferior angle of the scapular with the subject standing erect and the upper limbs pendant. The fold was measured in an oblique plane ascending medially at an angle of approximately 45 degrees to the horizontal.

Supra-iliac skinfold - This was measured 3 cm above the anterior superior iliac crest. The fold was taken in an oblique plane parallel to the crest.

The above procedures are in accordance with those outlined by Durnin and Womersley (1974). In order to assess percentage body fat for individuals, the body density has to be calculated first. This is done by adding the four skinfolds biceps, triceps, subscapular and supra-iliac, and then using the equations derived by Durnin and Womersley (1974). Density is then calculated from the following linear regression equation which estimates density from

the logarithm of skinfold thickness :

Density = $c - m \times \log skinfold$

where 'c' and 'm' vary in regression equations depending on age and sex.

The formula used to calculate % body fat is the Siri equation (as cited by Durnin and Wormersley, 1974) :

\$ body fat = (495/density) - 450

Waist-to-Hip Circumference Ratio (WHR)

The Waist-to-Hip ratio (WHR) measures topographic distribution of body fat and according to Van Itallie (1988), is one of the most effective methods for determining hypokinetic risk and disease.

The following steps were taken in making measurements and calculating the waist-to-hip ratio.

Both measurements were done with a non-elastic tape. The measurements were made while the subject was standing with his/her feet together and arms at the sides. The tape was held in a horizontal plane around the whole circumference of the body. The scores were recorded to the nearest millimetre for both circumferences. The tape was pulled snugly but not to the point of causing an indentation in the skin.

Waist measurement - This was made at the natural waist (smallest waist circumference). If there was no natural waist, the measurement was made at the level of the umbilicus. The measure was made at the end of normal inspiration.

Hip measurement - This was measured at the maximum

circumference of the buttocks. Measurement was made with the subjects in shorts or briefs so that the clothing did not add significantly to the measurement.

In order to calculate the subjects waist-to-hip ratio, divide the hip measurement into the waist measurement.

PHYSIOLOGICAL DATA

It is well cited in the literature that individuals who are characterised by desirable general fitness levels are more likely to be physically active and therefore at less risk to hypokinetic disease (Bouchard *et al.*, 1990; Gordon and Gibbons, 1991). Physiological assessment of the subjects was considered to be an important area for evaluation in order to see whether any significant differences existed between high and low achievers. The selected methods, which include aerobic capacity and heart rate, gave an accurate indication of physical work capacity, and are considered to be the best index of physical fitness (Baumgartner and Jackson, 1982).

Aerobic Capacity

The assessment of aerobic capacity is according to Noakes (1988) perhaps the most extensively used method in exercise physiology and is considered one of, if not the most important component of general physical fitness. Aerobic capacity was assessed by means of the Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST) for the prediction of maximum aerobic uptake (VO₂ max) (Brewer *et al.*, 1988). The following items of equipment were required;

1. A flat non-slippery surface at least 20 m in length.

2. Cassette player.

3. The audio cassette.

4. Measuring tape to measure 20 m track.

5. Marker cones.

Subjects were asked to refrain from any heavy exercise three hours prior to the test for the prediction of VO_2 max. A 20 m track was measured and the ends marked with cones. Subjects were led through some basic stretching and warm up exercises in preparation for the test.

The cassette player was started. At the beginning, two bleeps indicate an accurately timed one minute interval. This was checked to ensure the tape had not stretched and that the speed of the cassette player itself was correct.

The tape continues with a brief explanation of the test, leading to a four second countdown to the start of the test. Thereafter the tape emits a single bleep at regular intervals. The subjects aim to be at the opposite end of the start by time the first bleep sounds. The subjects then continued to run at this speed, being at one end or the other each time there is a bleep.

After each minute, the time interval between the bleeps decreases making it necessary for the subjects to increase their running speed. The first running speed was referred to as 'Level 1', the second as 'Level 2', and so on. Each level lasts approximately one minute, and the tape continues up to Level 23.

The end of each shuttle is denoted by a single bleep; and the end of each level is denoted by a triple bleep and by a formal statement by the commentator on the tape.

The subjects were advised that the running speeds at the start of the test were very slow and to pace themselves accordingly. On level 1, subjects have nine seconds in which to run each 20 m shuttle.

Subjects were required to place one foot either on or behind the 20 m mark at the end of each shuttle. If the subject arrived at the end of the shuttle before the bleep sounds, he/she had to wait for the bleep before he/she could resume running and then adjust his/her running speed.

Each subject was encouraged to run as long as possible , until he/she was no longer able to keep up with the speed set by the tape, at which point the subject was withdrawn from the test. Each subject had his/her own recorder whose task was to tick off each shuttle and level completed by the subject, and then to record the level and the number of shuttles finally completed when the subject withdrew from the test. (see data sheet in Appendix 5).

Heart Rate

Heart rate measurements were taken because it is commonly recognised that they are indicative of the physiological strain of the cardio-vascular system during exercise (Armstrong and Bray, 1991).

Heart rate was measured by means of telemetric Uniq Heartwatch

which is a portable heart rate monitor. It has three components; viz the watch receiver, an electrode strap which was placed around the subject's chest at the level of the inferior border of the pectorals muscle; and the 'watch', which was attached to the subject's arm before the MST. It was set for 15 second monitor and display.

A pre-exercise heart rate was established prior to participation in the MST. This was given by the subject 15 seconds before he/she started to run in the test, and was determined by the 15 second countdown heard on the cassette. The subject thereafter, was instructed to call out the heart rate reading from the watch to the recorder towards the completion of each level/minute. This entailed the subject reading the heartwatch at a distance of 3 - 5 metres from the end of the final shuttle of each level and calling out his/her heart rate to the recorder who was positioned at the end of the shuttle. The recorder duly recorded the heart rate on the data sheet (see Appendix 5). This procedure continued until the subject was no longer able to keep up with the set rhythm of the MST and a final reading was taken at the point when the subject withdrew from the test.

PSYCHOLOGICAL DATA

Psychological indices were considered to be an essential component of the methodology as they may well be characteristic of significant differences between high and low achievers. It is clear that attitudes and self-concept are integral and important elements

of the individual persona and as a consequence may have a strong, if not determining influence, upon lifestyle orientation. Furthermore, these particular psychological indices, once they have been established in adolescence, are likely to be an ongoing and constant characteristic of the individual (Coombs *et al.*, 1976). It has been noted by Lamb (1992) that such indices provide considerable scope if one is seeking to ascertain physical lifestyle orientation.

Psychological Indices

Two psychological evaluative tools were employed in an attempt to quantify the psychological make-up of the subjects with respect to their attitudes towards physical activity and their selfperception in relation to physical activity.

The two scales were:

1. The Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA) (Schutz et al., 1981).

2. The Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP) (Fox and Corbin, 1989).

These inventories have been successful in discriminating between high and low active individuals and also sex-related differences.

The attitudinal test CATPA is modelled on the principle of a semantically differentiated scale. In an attempt to communicate feelings towards an object or some intangible concept, the individual is required to respond to bipolar adjectives and relate

these to the concept under appraisal, in this case physical activity. The CATPA inventory is a revised and improved version of previous attitudinal tests in terms of its specificity to physical activity, and provides a thorough analysis of the topic by organising the concept into seven sub-domains which include physical activity for social growth (Social Growth), physical activity to continue social relations (Social Continuation), physical activity for health and fitness (Health and Fitness), physical activity as a thrill but involving some risk (Vertigo), physical activity as beauty in movement (Aesthetic), physical activity for the release of tension (Catharsis), and physical activity as long hard training (Ascetic) (see Appendix 7).

If subjects do not understand a question, the option is provided for them to indicate that they do not understand, thus avoiding confounding data, however the authors of this test indicate in their studies that the sub-domain descriptions were well understood by the students.

The PSPP inventory is based on recent advances in self-esteem theory, particularly with respect to the use of multi-dimensional constructs for the study of self-perception in the physical domain. Open ended questionnaire responses were used to identify important contributory factors to the physical self-esteem of the subjects. The test consists of five 6-item subscales, designed to measure sports competence (Sport), perceived bodily attractiveness (Body), perceived physical strength and muscular development (Strength), perceived level of physical conditioning and exercise (Condition),

and physical self-worth (PSW) (see Appendix 8).

These questionnaires were administered at the first testing session involving the recording of base line data. The subjects sat on their own and answered the questions on the two papers in the allotted time. They were not allowed to communicate with one another during the session, and if they had any queries these were dealt with by the test administrator. The subjects were advised to answer the questions honestly and as they perceived them.

Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE)

Ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) have been described as the single best indicator of the degree of physical strain according to Borg (1982), and provide a perceptual and cognitive complement to physiological responses to exercise. In view of this psychophysiological evaluative process, it was considered that RPE had a pivotal role to play in the present holistic model, which sought to explain variation in physical lifestyle orientation.

A number of perceptual cues may be used to evaluate exertion, these include general fatigue, local fatigue (usually arms or legs) and the feeling of breathlessness. Due to the nature of the MST it was considered that the feeling of breathlessness would provide the most reliable and relevant cue for individual evaluation of psychophysiological processes.

The MST is a test for the prediction of VO_2 max and is characterised by linear incremental increases in exercise intensity; however, it was proposed that the sensation of

breathlessness under such an exercise protocol would increase in an exponential manner, and it was concluded that the use of Borg's revised scale (1982) with ratio properties would be the most appropriate method to monitor and record these data.

It should be clarified that the term breathlessness is synonymous with dyspnea and is, according to Webber and Szidon (1986), experienced by normal individuals and is not a term whose use is unique to those individuals suffering from a medical condition whose symptoms include dyspnea. The same authors point out that a sense of breathlessness may appear during recovery from vigorous activity, such as running up the stairs. Here, the level of ventilation (VE) for the degree of activity during recovery (i.e. standing) is perceived to be excessive. Alternatively, a level of VE to which the subject is not accustomed may elicit the sensation of breathlessness (i.e. prolonged vigorous running in a 'normal' individual). In either case, the chemical drive to respiration, mediated through the buffering of lactic acid and the heightened carbon dioxide production and fall in arterial pH, that is responsible for the elevated VE.

Measurement of RPE

Subjects were shown Borg's scale (1982) and familiarised with the principle that the numbers from 0 - 10 were descriptive of terms which represented their perception of breathlessness. Thus, '0' equalled nothing at all, '1' equalled very light and so on, until the subject on withdrawing from the MST indicated '10' which

equals very, very strong/maximal.

At the end of the 20 m track in which the subject was running a clearly readable RPE scale was presented (see Figure 1). At the end of each level/minute the subject was instructed by the recorder to give his/her perception of exertion in terms of how breathless he/she felt using the Borg scale. Thus the subject verbalised the number on the scale that most accurately reflected his/her perception of breathlessness at that point in time. This procedure was repeated at the end of each level/minute of the MST until a subject was no longer able to continue with the set rhythm of the MST and the final reading was taken at the point when the subject withdrew from the test.

TESTING SESSIONS

Due to the multi-faceted nature of this study, subjects were obliged to participate in three testing sessions.

Session 1: Entailed general demographic and base-line data. The base-line data included age and sex of the subject as well as his/her present level of involvement in traditional school sports, which fell into one of two distinct categories; high achievers, those individuals participating at first team level or higher and low achievers those individuals who did not participate at the aforementioned levels. The subjects were also required to fill in the two psychometric inventories CATPA, followed by the PSPP. The first session lasted about 45 minutes and involved the subjects as a whole group being present at one time.

Session 2: Entailed anthropometric measurement, which included stature and mass, four skinfolds and circumference of waist and hip. This session lasted about 10 minutes working with two to three subjects at a time.

Session 3: Entailed measurement of physiological and perceptual parameters including a reference (pre-exercise) heart rate 15 seconds before the start of the Multi-Stage fitness test for the prediction of maximum oxygen uptake, during which heart rate was continuously monitored, as well as ratings of perceived exertion (RPE) using the revised Borg scale. The third session lasted 30 minutes with the subjects working in groups of 5.

STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

The present study utilised the Statgraphics package, of which the following analyses were used: Basic descriptive statistics including means and standard deviations. One way ANOVA 0.05 level of confidence, and linear regressions.

CHAPTER 4

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

The major objective of this study was to examine lifestyle orientations of 16 to 18 year olds by means of an holistic model, evaluating anthropometric, physiological, psychological and perceptual parameters of high and low achievers in traditional school sports.

The data are organised and presented in five subsections: Subject Characteristics, Anthropometric Results, Physiological Results, Psychological and Perceptual Results, followed by a general discussion.

SUBJECT CHARACTERISTICS

One hundred and four subjects participated in the study, of which 51 were males and 53 were females. The subjects were recruited from four schools in the Grahamstown area. Subject selection was based on an individual's level of participation in traditional school sports, therefore those subjects who were participants at school first team, or even provincial and national standard were categorised as high achievers. In the present sample there were a total of 56 high achievers, which comprised of male high achievers (Mhi) 27 and female high achievers (Fhi) 29. Those subjects who were not members of school first teams were categorised as low achievers. This sample consisted of 48 in total, which comprised of male low

achievers (Mlo) 24, and female low achievers (Flo) 24.

The mean age of the sample was 16.71 years (SD 0.63), the youngest being 16 years and the oldest being 18 years.

KEY: HIGH = High achiever LOW = Low achiever Mhi = Male high achiever Mlo = Male low achiever Fhi = Female high achiever Flo = Female low achiever

TABLE I: Anthropometric results: means and standard deviations for all groups.

GROUP	STATURE (CM)	MASS (kg)	BODY FAT (%)	WER
MALES	178.5 (6.2)	70.3 (8.9) -	15.0 (3.6) -	0.80 (.04) -
FEMALES	164.3 (7.8) -	60.7 (7.8) -	26.8 (3.4) -	0.75 (.07) -
HIGH	172.9 (8.9) -	62.2 (10.4)	20.6 (6.4) -	0.78 (.06)
LOW	169.9(10.9)	65.8 (9.2)	21.6 (7.4) -	0.77 (.06)
Mhi	178.8 (6.4)	72.4 (9.2)	14.8 (3.1)	0.80 (.04)
Mlo	178.3 (6.2)	68.2 (8.1)	15.5 (4.2)	0.76 (.02)
Fhi	167.1 (7.1) -	58.1 (5.7) -	25.9 (3.1) -	0.76 (.06)
Flo	161.5 (7.7) -	63.4 (4.5) -	28.0 (3.1) -	0.74 (.08)

* indicates a significant difference at p<0.05

ANTHROPOMETRIC RESULTS

Noakes (1992) indicates that traditional school sports in South Africa are organised in a highly competitive structure and infers that as a consequence this system caters for the needs of the genetically gifted. If this contention holds true then one would envisage high and low achievers to be characterised by discernable anthropometric attributes.



Figure 3. Anthropometric Mean Results of (A.) Stature, (B.) Mass and (C.) Body Fat for all groups

Stature

Males were considerably taller at 178.5 m than females who measured 164.3 m, this morphological difference between the sexes is a well documented one (Behnke and Wilmore, 1974). It was interesting to note that high achievers were significantly taller at a mean height of 172.9 m as compared with low achievers at 169.9 m. However on closer examination of the data it becomes apparent that this difference was in fact largely sex determined, because on the one hand there was a similarity in the mean height of Mhi (178.8 m) and Mlo (178.3 m), while on the other hand a substantial difference exists between the taller Fhi (167.1 m) and the shorter Flo (161.5 m). This is a somewhat perplexing result when one bears in mind that in the schools examined hockey is the major female sport, and that the tallest group were Fhi, which is contradictory to the findings of Scott (1991) who reports that elite South African hockey performers tend to be shorter in stature.

Body Mass

Males were on average heavier at 70.3 kg as compared to females with a mean mass 60.7 kg, this is consistent with previous reported differences between the sexes (Behnke and Wilmore, 1974). A relatively small divergence can be seen between high achievers (62.2 kg) and low achievers (65.8 kg), and this theme was similar for Mhi (72.4 kg) as compared to Mlo (68.2 kg). However it is clear that the greatest difference was between the mass of Fhi (58.1 kg) who were significantly

lighter than Flo (63.4 kg). It is also noticeable that Mhi (72.4 kg) were the heaviest group, while Fhi (58.1 kg) were the lightest. This inverse relationship between the mass of Mhi and Fhi may well reflect the influence of dominant gender based school teams activities. According to Van Dalen and Bennett (1971) perhaps the most important feature of the male school physical education and extra-curricula time table is the sport of rugby, where it is often desirable to be relatively heavier. This is not surprising when one thinks of the specific physical demands of scrumming, mauling and rucking and the physical contact involved in tackling. On the other hand the dominant female sport is hockey where speed and agility are essential attributes, and where it is advantageous to be relatively light in terms of body mass. Therefore it is not surprising to see that the mass of both Mhi and Fhi appear to be of a favourable type according to the demands of their gender specific sports.

Body Composition

Consistent with previous morphological assessments of body composition a significant difference in terms of percentage body fat was observed between males (15.09%) and females (26.83%). This is in accordance with the well documented biological and physiological differences that are characteristic of males and females (Wilmore, 1983; Corbin and Lindsey, 1991). More specifically McArdle *et al.* (1986) indicate that in females additional essential fat is

biologically important for child-bearing and other hormonerelated functions.

High achievers with a percent body fat of 20.60% were lower when compared to low achievers (21.69%). However it is important to note that this difference is related to the influence of the low achieving female group (Flo). This is because Mhi (14.84%) and Mlo (15.37%) had similar mean scores, where as Fhi (25.97%) and Flo (28.00%) were significantly different. It is of interest to note that although male high and low achievers had similar scores for percentage body fat, Mhi were considerably heavier in terms of their mass. This indicates that although Mhi are heavier than Mlo, this increased mass is not made up of undesirable subcatanuous fat, which would be inhibitative for the high performance levels associated with first team inter-school competition. On the other hand Fhi were lower in percentage body fat than Flo, the result being that as a group Fhi were taller, lighter and leaner. These discerning morphological characteristics between high and low achieving females may well be the result of the competition and training that elite participation at school first team level demands. It should also be noted that some females, according to Tinning (1991) see the arena of competitive sport as a means for exercise involvement in the pursuit of a more desirable body shape. It is possible therefore that the present sample of Fhi may be composed of females who have an intrinsic desire to perform at this level,

and also those who see competitive sport as a means to an end, and that end being the desire to look physically more attractive.

In summing up the basic morphological characteristics of the subjects in the present study, one could conclude that the demands of traditional sports at first team level, most notably rugby for males and hockey for females, requires certain 'desirable' physical traits, or as Noakes (1992) suggests, genetic qualities. These trends are quite clear in the diagrammatical representation of the anthropometric data in Figure 3. The correlation between distinctive morphological characteristics and different athletic and sporting disciplines has been supported by previous authors, and most notably by Tanner (1964) in his extensive measurement and analysis of body types of Olympian athletes.

Waist-To-Hip Ratio (WHR)

According to Van Itallie (1988) WHR is the best available index for determining risk and disease associated with fat distribution. The same author has devised a WHR Rating Scale (see Table II) which can be used to evaluate individual risk for hypokinesis with regards to their WHR.

A significant difference in WHR occurred between males who have a ratio of 0.8 compared to females who scored 0.75 (see Table I). According to Gordon and Gibbons (1991) this sexrelated difference is largely explained by the tendency for males to be characterised by 'android' fat deposition, that is
a predominant development of fat on the trunk and torso. Females on the other hand, are more likely to be characterised by 'gynoid' fat deposition, that is fat below the waist, more noticeable on the hips and thighs. According to Van Itallie's rating scale (see Table II) all groups of the present study fall into the lower risk category.

TABLE II: Waist-to-Hip Ratio (WHR) Rating Scale for risk of hypokinetic disease.

CLASSIFICATION	MALE	FEMALE
HIGH RISK	>1.0	>0.85
MODERATELY HIGH RISK	0.90-1.0	0.80-0.85
LOWER RISK	<0.90	<0.80

(Source : Data Van Itallie, 1988)

Bearing in mind the mandatory nature of physical activity in the schools, the reported high level of general fitness of South African schoolchildren according to Sloan (1965) and Andrews et al. (1980), and the relatively young age of the subjects these results are not surprising. It would appear that only Zwiaur et al. (1992) has specifically targeted child subjects, and found a some what predictable relationship with WHR and those who were obese. It is therefore tentatively suggested that the WHR is perhaps better suited to assessment of hypokinesis in adult populations.

PHYSIOLOGICAL RESPONSES

The total number of shuttles completed in the Multi-Stage Fitness Test (MST) by each subject gave an accurate prediction of their aerobic capacity (VO₂ max) (Brewer *et al.*, 1988). Table III represents the means and standard deviations of shuttles completed and predicted VO₂ max.

TABLE III: Means and standard deviations (SD) for number of shuttles run in the Multi-Stage-Fitness Test (MST) and predicted VO₂ max (ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) for all groups.

Group	M	F	Ħi	Lo	Mhi	Mlo	Fhi	Flo
x Shuttles	107.5	67.1	100.1	74.5	114.8	99.3	84.5	49.8
SD	21.43	22.42	22.30	31.1	18.61	21.3	12.8	15.7
VO ₂ max	54.3	41.8	51.9	43.3	57.1	51.4	47.4	36.4
		*				*		*

* indicates a significant difference at p<0.05

Males with a VO₂ of $(54.3 \text{ ml.kg}^{-1}.\text{min}^{-1})$ were significantly different as compared with females $(41.8 \text{ ml.kg}^{-1}.\text{min}^{-1})$. This physiological difference in aerobic capacity between males and females is a well documented one (McArdle *et al.*, 1986), and according to Noakes (1985) is largely the result of variance in body composition between the sexes. In the context of the present study the significantly decreased VO₂ max of females, especially the low achievers would appear to be equated with additional mass (fat) is not useful for oxidative metabolism particularly in a test of maximal aerobic capacity. Furthermore the results of the predicted VO₂ max in this study compare well with previous research using similar age subjects (Bar Or, 1990; Wilmore and Costill, 1988). These data provide an indication that the sample was normative in respect to earlier studies which examined VO₂ in children and supports the notion that the MST is a valid methodological tool for predicting VO₂ max as proposed by Boreham *et al.* (1990).

The present study was also particularly concerned with the physical working capacity of the subjects by means of predicted VO_2 max, along with minute by minute monitoring of heart rate, and evaluating the differences that may exist between high and low achievers as a total group, as well as Mhi and Mlo, and Fhi and Flo. High achievers demonstrated a predicted VO_2 max score of (51.9 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹), by virtue of running a greater number of shuttles which was indicative of a higher VO_2 max than low achievers (43.3 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹).

Perhaps the most revealing results were observed when the sex of the group was taken into account with achievement level.

Congruent with previous research, the predicted VO_2 max score for Mhi (57.1 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹) was higher than when compared to Mlo who scored (51.4 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹). This trend was continued where the VO_2 max for Fhi was (47.4 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹), was higher than for Flo (36.4 ml.kg⁻¹.min⁻¹); it should be noted that the difference between Fhi and Flo was much more pronounced than

between Mhi and Mlo. This is likely to be linked with the relatively higher body fat levels of Flo as compared to other groups in terms of a physiological explanation. A simple correlational analysis revealed that VO2 max was inversely correlated with percentage body fat most noticeably with the two most bipolar groups Mhi and Flo. This was most clearly observed in Mhi (r = 0.85) and to a slightly lesser degree in Flo (r = 0.50). However these correlations were less impressive in Mlo (r = 0.36) and Fhi (r = 0.27), and may be indicative of the influence of other factors such as motivation, which is known to affect an individual's performance in a maximal test of aerobic capacity. Yet one should not ignore the fact that the low level of VO, max and a high percentage body fat of the low achieving female group may well be the result of a sporting experience manifested by marginalisation and a sense of alienation within the present school system.

Reference (Pre-Exercise) Heart Rate

The means and standard deviations for reference heart rate for all groups are presented in Table IV. A reference or preexercise heart rate was taken 15 seconds before the start of the MST.

It is a well documented phenomenon that the resting or pre-exercise heart rate of females averages 5 -10 beats faster than males under any given set of conditions (de Vries, 1982). Furthermore, the training level of the individual will have a considerable bearing on heart rate, Noakes (1985) points out that the average resting heart rate for a trained individual TABLE IV: Reference (pre-exercise) heart rates (HR): means and standard deviations (SD) for all groups.

Group	M	1	Hi.	" Lô	Mhi	Mlo	-Fhi	Flo
Pre ex HR (b.min ⁻¹)	94.6	100.7	94.25	101.7	90.1	99.6	98.0	103.9
SD	17.43	14.21	13.30	18.13	11.75	21.33	13.73	14.39
		•		•				

* indicates a significant difference at p<0.05

(male and female) is 60 b.min⁻¹ versus in the untrained individual 75 b.min⁻¹ Therefore bearing in mind that the present sample were comparatively analyzed according to sex and level of achievement, it is not surprising that the reference heart rate of males (94.9 b.min⁻¹) was significantly lower than females (100.9 b.min⁻¹), that high achievers (94.1 b.min⁻¹) was significantly lower than low achievers (101.7 b.min⁻¹), that Mhi (90.1 b.min⁻¹) was lower than Mlo (99.6 b.min⁻¹) and that Fhi (98.0 b.min⁻¹) was lower than Flo (103.9 b.min⁻¹). The results from the present study are very much in accordance with the findings of previous research including DeMaria *et al.* (1978) who pointed out that regular physical activity of an aerobic nature improves cardiac efficiency by increasing stroke volume and reducing heart rate at rest.

Exercise Heart Rate

Examination of minute by minute heart rate measurements presents an accurate representation of the physiological strain experienced by subjects during participation in the MST (Armstrong and Bray, 1991). It is clear from the trends displayed in Figures 4ab and 5ab that there was a discernable difference in the way in which physiological strain was experienced by the paired groupings. The mean heart rate at each level up until termination point in the MST was less for males than for females, less for high achievers compared to low achievers, less for Mhi than for Mlo, and less for Fhi compared to Flo. Furthermore the differences in these heart rate scores for each paired analysis were statistically significant for a substantial number of levels during the MST. Males and females display a significantly different heart rate during levels 1-8; high and low achievers during levels 1-8; Mhi and Mlo during levels 1-11; and Fhi and Flo during levels 1-5.

These findings are commensurate with McArdle *et al.* (1986) that females experienced greater physiological strain as demonstrated by heart rates higher than males for any given exercise intensity. This was also true of the groups with less experience of sport and exercise (low achievers) as compared with the elite performers (high achievers), supporting the contention made by Noakes (1985) that at any given exercise intensity, elite performers report lower heart rates.

MST	MALES	FEMALES	HIGH	LOW
LEVEL	b.min ⁻¹	b.min ⁻¹	b.min ⁻¹	b.min ⁻¹
0	94.90	100.99	94.10	101.79
	(17.43)	(14.21)	(13.30)	(18.13)
1	142.05	153.28	142.85	152.47
	(14.06)	(13.38)	(12.77)	(15.41)
2	153.07	167.36	154.59	165.85
	(13.48)	(11.52)	(12.70)	(14.02)
3	160.27	173.07	. 160.97	172.36
	(13.79)	(11.41)	(12.91)	(13.32)
4	166.57	179.79	166.64	179.72
	(13.91)	(10.34)	(12.94)	(11.72)
5	172.84	184.89	173.05	184.68
	(13.03)	(9.26)	(12.65)	(10.08)
6	177.76	188.14	178.51	187.39
	(11.53)	(9.31)	(11.63)	(10.07)
7	183.33	191.18	183.99	190.52
	(10.49)	(7.56)	(10.46)	(8.51)
8	186.64	196.37	188.03	194.98
	(9.57)	(8.29)	(10.08)	(9.47)
9	190.38	195.90	191.13	195.15
	(9.34)	(7.70)	(9.45)	(8.54)
10	191.58	199.35	192.57	195.64
	(8.33)	(9.03)	(9.30)	(8.39)
11	193.62 (6.83)	197.75	193.14 (6.42)	196.36 (7.80)
12	194.88 (7.07)		193.63 (6.35)	197.44 (7.81)
13	196.60 (6.17)	Ī	195.66 (6.61)	200.33
14	201.40 (8.14)	Ī	201.50 (9.33)	

1.2

TABLE V: Means and standard deviations (parenthesis) of exercise heart rate for males, females, high and low achievers.

105



TABLE VI: Means and standard deviations (parenthesis) for exercise heart rate for male high achievers (Mhi), male low achievers (Mlo), female high achievers (Fhi) and female low achievers (Flo).

MST	Mhi	Mlo	Fhi	Flo
LEVEL	b.min ⁻ⁱ	b.min ⁻¹	b.min ⁻¹	b.min ⁻¹
0	90.18	99.62	98.03	103.95
	(11.75)	(21.33)	(13.73)	(14.39)
1	136.85	147.25	148.86	157.70
	(12.03)	(14.37)	(10.67)	(14.89)
2	146.74	159.41	162.44	172.29
	(11.37)	(12.67)	(8.60)	(12.44)
3	152.33.	168.20	169.62	176.52
	(10.63)	(12.11)	(8.55)	(13.45)
4	158.14	175.00	175.13	184.45
	(10.87)	(11.42)	(8.68)	(10.13)
5	164.51	181.16	181.58	188.20
	(9.72)	(10.44)	(9.02)	(8.34)
6	171.07	184.45	185.96	190.33
	(9.27)	(9.65)	(8.69)	(9.88)
7	176.96	189.70	191.01	191.33
	(7.46)	(9.31)	(8.04)	(6.18)
8	181.07	192.21	195.00	197.75
	(6.35)	(9.29)	(8.11)	(10.50)
9	184.96	195.81	197.30	194.50
	(6.40)	(8.93)	(8.00)	(0.70)
10	188.92 (7.72)	195.64 (8.39)	199.35 (9.03)	
11	192.37 [.] (6.10)	196.36 (7.80)	•	
12	193.61 (6.53)	197.44 (7.81)		
13	195.66 (6.61)	200.33 (0.57)		
14	201.50 (9.33)			



(B.) Fhi and Flo.

It is perhaps pertinent to note that the maximal heart rate that is likely to be attained by this group of subjects aged 16 - 18 years is 202 to 204 beats per minute, based on the calculation that maximal heart rate is 220 minus age. It would appear that all of the groups recorded a final heart rate, at the group mean termination point, which was indicative of a near maximal effort (see Table V and VI). However, if one observes the heart rate trends particularly during the final five levels/minutes of the MST, it becomes apparent that there was a difference in how each of the groups experience the physiological strain of this test. This is most conspicuous when one compares the penultimate five minutes of exercise of the two most contrasting groups, Mhi and Flo. Closer examination of the data in graphic form (Figure 6) illustrates that Mhi were able to sustain an effort level which is near to their maximal effort for the five levels prior to termination point in the MST, this is apparent from the plateau effect of their heart rate plot. While Flo exhibit a heart rate which increased in a more accelerating trend at each of the final five levels of the MST until termination point. This suggests that for a number of possible reasons including training experience, motivation, and genetic predisposition, that Mhi are better equipped to sustain a greater level of physiological strain for longer, particularly when compared to Flo.

In concluding the physiological data which sought to evaluate the aerobic capacity and which according to Corbin and



Figure 6. Mean Heart Rate for the 5 final levels of the Multi-Stage Fitness Test for Mhi and Flo.

Lindsey (1991) is the most important aspect of general physical fitness along with minute by minute monitoring of heart rate. it is apparent that the results are consistent with previous studies. The data show that differences occurred between the sexes as well as between high and low achievers. However the most interesting findings concern the disproportionately (in terms of the present sample) low VO2 max scores of the low achieving female group, and the distinctive linear plot of heart rate that is exhibited in Figure 5b. Not only did the Flo achieve a relatively low VO, max, but the physiological strain that they experienced increased in a linear mode to a peak point, indicating that each level of the test was more strenuous than as experienced by Mhi, Mlo and Fhi, culminating in Flo withdrawing immediately they reached their near maximal heart rate. This was in contrast to the other groups Mhi, Mlo and Fhi who were able to sustain a near maximal heart rate in the final phase of the MST, which appears on the graph as a plateauing effect. One might have assumed that the physiological differences between Mhi and Mlo would be similar to Fhi and Flo, however this does not appear to be the case, with Flo being clearly identifiable with respect to their less desirable physiologic and anthropometric profiles.

PSYCHOLOGICAL RESULTS

Psychological evaluation of subjects in the present study focused on two areas, namely attitudes and physical self-

perception. Recent developments in the use of psychometric analysis, particularly with regard to Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA) Schutz et al. (1981) and the Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP) Fox and Corbin (1989) provide the researcher with two validated techniques which explain the central role that both attitudes and physical selfperception play in determining human behaviour in relation to physical activity (Gergen, 1971; Fox and Corbin, 1989). The use of these two inventories provides two conceptually different perspectives. CATPA evaluates an individual's externalised appraisal of the object/idea (physical activity), that is how he/she perceive physical activity. While on the other hand PSPP evaluates a more internalised perspective regarding the affective influence of physical activity on the self. In other words, CATPA is an outward looking perspective, where as the PSPP is an inward looking one.

Attitudes

The CATPA inventory enables the researcher to study an individual's attitudinal response to physical activity with an improved analytical format which organises the concept into seven sub-domains; Social Growth, Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo, Aesthetic, Catharsis, and Ascetic. The means and standard deviations for all groups are represented in Table VII and the graphic representation of the data is shown in Figures 7ab and 8ab. Individuals who are characterised by positive attitudinal responses will have higher mean scores and a plot or trend in the graphic representations of the data which is also higher on the vertical axis in comparison to those individuals who respond in a more negative manner.

Examination of male and female attitudinal responses as elicited by CATPA indicates that there was a significant difference in three of the sub-domains; Social Growth, Aesthetic and Vertigo. These responses appear to indicate that females are more positive with regard to Social Growth, inferring that sport is important as a medium for social interaction. Also the positive response to the Aesthetic subdomain (females 5.4 and males 2.9) may well be a reflection of the greater implementation of more creative and expressive activities, such as dance and synchronised swimming, and as a consequence provides females with a greater understanding and appreciation of this subjective concept.

Males (3.8) scored higher than females (1.4) in the Vertigo sub-domain possibly indicating that their gender specific exposure especially to the physical contact sport of rugby, endears them to sports with an element of risk or danger.

When comparing the responses of high and low achievers one observes a consistent trend, whereby high achievers score more

TABLE VII:

.

Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA): means and standard deviations for all groups.

GROUP	SOCIAL GROWTH	SOCIAL CONTINUATION	HEALTH AND FITNESS	VERTIGO
MALES FEMALES	6.9 (2.5) _* * 7.9 (2.6) [_]	7.6 (2.3) 7.9 (2.6)	7.0 (2.8) 7.6 (3.0)	3.8 (4.0) * 1.4 (4.9)
HIGH LOW	8.0 (2.5) ₁ 6.8 (2.6) ¹	8.3 (2.2) * 7.2 (2.6) [_]	8.0 (2.6) * 6.6 (3.1)	. 4.4 (3.7) * 0.8 (4.9)
Mhi Mlo	7.4 (2.5) 6.4 (2.3)	7.9 (2.6) 7.4 (2.0)	7.6 (2.6) 6.5 (3.0)	5.0 (2.8) * 2.6 (4.8) J
Fhi Flo	8.5 (2.4) 7.3 (2.8)	8.8 (1.8) * 7.1 (3.1) J	8.4 (2.6) 7 * 6.7 (3.3) ¹	3.7 (4.3) * 0.8 (4.5)
GROUP	AESTHETIC	CATHARSIS	ASCETIC	TOTAL SCORE
MALES FEMALES	2.9 (4.4) 7 * 5.4 (4.3) ^J	6.5 (4.0) 7.3 (3.6)	1.6 (4.2) 0.1 (5.3)	36.6 (14.8) 37.7 (16.4)
HIGH LOW	4.1 (4.5) 4.2 (4.6)	7.4 (3.4) 6.3 (4.3)	2.6 (3.2) - * -1.0 (4.8)	43.0 (14.9) - 31.3 (14.0)
Mhi Mlo	3.2 (4.2) 2.5 (4.8)	6.4 (4.2) 6.6 (3.9)	2.6 (3.9) 0.7 (4.4)	40.4(16.0) 32.8(12.5)
Fhi Flo	5.0 (4.8) 5.9 (3.7)	8.5 (1.9) * 6.1 (4.7) [_]	2.5 (1.6) 7 * -2.3 (4.9) ¹	45.6 (13.6) , * 29.8 (15.5) ,

.

* indicates a significant difference at p<0.05

1.2

Social = Social GrowthSocialHealth = Health & FitnessVeAesth = AestheticCaAscet = AsceticCa	cont = Social Continuation art = Vertigo ath = Catharsis
---	--

114



Figure 7. Mean Scores for Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA) in (B.) Males and Females ; (A.) High and Low achievers.



Figure 8. Mean Scores for Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA) in (A.) Mhi and Mlo and (B.) Fhi and Flo.

positively than low achievers in every sub-domain of CATPA, and this is further emphasised with the difference being significant in five areas viz; Social Growth, Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo and Ascetic (see Table VII). These differences illustrate that high achievers compared to low achievers were significantly more positive when perceiving physical activity as a medium for meeting new people, as well as an opportunity to be with friends. High achievers also indicated that they perceived physical activity to improve one's health and to be beneficial for general body condition. They were also more positively orientated towards sports with an element of risk and were better predisposed towards practising and training for preparation in sports activities as indicated by their responses in the Ascetic subdomain. An interesting aspect of this comparative analysis was the lack of difference shown in the different groups' attitudes towards the Aesthetic sub-domain high achievers (4.1) and low achievers (4.2). Bearing in mind that these two groups have been categorised according to their achievement level in competitive sports, and that their value judgement of what is qualitative in sport is based often on objective criteria such as speed, strength and points scoring, it is not surprising that a sample of high and low achieving subjects selected out of such a competitive environment based on objective criteria appear to have an almost undifferentiated attitudinal response toward the aesthetic elements in physical activity; this may be

due to the subjective nature of aesthetic responses.

When comparing Mhi with Mlo it was noticeable that these two groups were characterised by their lack of difference, and it was only in the sub-domain of Vertigo that a significant difference between the two groups was apparent where male high achievers scored higher than male low achievers. This may be the result of the Mhi group being largely comprised of 1st team rugby players; rugby being an activity which relates most closely in the terminology of the CATPA inventory as the sport being characterised by risk and danger. Other than the response to Vertigo there appears to be considerable homogeneity in the male subjects as to their attitudes towards physical activity, possibly reflecting the strong societal and cultural pressures to conform to the sporting norms of traditional school sport, especially rugby (White and Vagi, 1990).

Conversely the two female groups exhibit the greatest dichotomy of any paired group. Fhi, according to the results of the CATPA inventory, were the most positively orientated of all the groups (including Mhi) with a total score of 45.6, while Flo emerge as the least positive with a total score of 29.8. A significant difference between the two groups was evident in five of the sub-domains; Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo, Catharsis and Ascetic. Thus Flo constitute the most distinctive group, due to their negatively orientated scores in the CATPA inventory. This negative perspective of physical activity, would imply that for a number of possible

reasons the traditional school sports structure does not fulfil the needs of the female low achieving group and might be better described as serving to alienate this group from participating in physical activity. Differentiated gender-based responses to attitudinal tests were also reported by Godin and Shephard (1986), who reported in their study of American high school children that gender behaviours in sport appear to be largely affected by traditional cultural values, which are manifested by males participating in sport with both greater frequency and intensity than females. Attitudinal responses from the present study are somewhat contradictory when compared to the findings of Godin and Shephard (1986), for although it is clearly evident from the data that Flo are, in relative terms, obviously attitudinally less predisposed to physical activity, the opposite can be said for Fhi, who exhibit the highest responses of all groups examined. These results suggest that it is sensible to evaluate both the influence of sex and achievement level when analyzing attitudinal data, if one wishes to make a better informed assessment of the individual and group dynamics.

Physical Self-Perception

The Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP) Fox and Corbin (1989) is an inventory which has a multi-faceted composition, enabling the researcher to evaluate the concept of the physical self in a more germane manner, utilising five "subscales";

119

N.

Sport, Condition, Body, Strength and Physical Self-Worth (PSW). Perhaps the most compelling theme to be identified from the PSPP was that for every paired analysis the groups males, high achievers, Mhi and Fhi scored higher than their group counterpart in all subscales. This can be clearly seen in the means and standard deviations for all groups in Table VIII and the graphic representation of these data in Figures 9ab and 10ab.

Fox and Corbin (1989) indicate that the PSPP is a suitable method for investigating the origins and mechanisms of sex differences in the domain of physical self-perception. When analyzing results from the present study, one can observe a distinctive sex-related trend, where males score higher than females, and this trend is exemplified by the fact that these differences are significant in four of the five subscales; Sport, Condition, Body and PSW. These results illustrate that the males in the present study had an elevated perception of their physical self as compared to females, suggesting that male expectation with regard to their introduction and experience of traditional team sport, is something which is socially and culturally easier and appropriate for them to assimilate and internalise. The lowered sense of physical selfworth of females suggests that the realm of competitive team sports is in some way perceived as inappropriate for female participation and enjoyment due to gender expectations by society in general (Hall, 1990).

Table VIII: Physical Self Perception Profile (PSPP): means and standard deviations for all groups.

GROUP	SPORT	CONDITION	BODY
MALES	17.2 (3.5) -	17.4 (3.3) -	15.5 (3.1) 7
FEMALES	14.0 (3.7) -	14.5 (4.5)	11.7 (4.8)
HIGH	17.8 (3.0)	18.2 (2.9) -	15.4 (4.8)
LOW	13.4 (3.6) []]	13.7 (4.1) -	11.8 (4.6)
Mhi	19.4 (1.9) -	18.8 (2.6) -	16.0 (2.2)
Mlo	15.0 (3.4)	16.0 (3.4) -	15.0 (3.80
Fhi	16.2 (3.0) 7	17.6 (3.1) -	14.8 (4.5) 7
Flo	11.8 (3.5) ¹	11.4 (3.4) -	8.5 (2.6) -
GROUP	STRENGTH	PSW	TOTAL 3
MALES	14.9 (3.2)	16.8 (3.4) -	82.2 (19.2) -
FEMALES	14.1 (4.0)	13.3 (4.4) -	67.7 (13.1)
HIGH	15.5 (3.2) -	16.7 (3.6) -	83.9 (13.3) -
LOW	13.5 (3.7) -	13.3 (4.4) -	66.0 (17.7) -
Mhi	15.4 (2.6)	17.7 (2.9)	87.4 (9.2) -
Mlo	14.5 (3.7)	16.0 (3.7)	77.1 (14.8) -
Fhi	15.6 (3.8) -	15.8 (3.9) -	80.4 (15.6) -
Flo	12.6 (3.7) -	10.7 (3.3) -	54.9 (12.8) -

* indicates a significant difference at p<0.05





(PSPP) of (A.) Mhi and Mlo and (B.) Fhi and Flo.

A comparison of the results of high and low achievers, appears to be very much in accordance with the expectations of Fox and Corbin (1989) who indicate that their model has been successful in discriminating between high and low active individuals. This contention has been well supported in the present study with a significant difference existing between the scores of high and low achievers in every subscale of the PSPP (see Table VIII). Thus it would appear that high achievers, probably due to their success in traditional team sports, have a greater propensity and capacity to enjoy this experience (sport) and as a consequence are more likely to internalise beliefs and values, which in turn give them a higher sense of physical self-perception.

When comparing the PSPP results of the male high and low achievers, there appears to be a similarity in the trend identified with the CATPA inventory. That is, of all the groups examined these two groups (Mhi and Mlo) were characterised by the least difference in the various subscales. Although a significant difference does exist in Sport and Condition for Mhi and Mlo, the possible explanation for this lies in the inter-relation between the two subscales. The subscale Sport is an assessment of an individual's perception of his or hers sporting and athletic ability, along with the ability to learn sports skills and confidence in the sports environment. Condition is an assessment of the individual's perception of his or hers level of physical conditioning, stamina and

fitness, the ability to maintain exercise and confidence in the exercise and fitness setting. Mhi by virtue of their membership of first (elite) teams are placed in an environment where they are fully cognizant that their abilities in the sports domain are superior to Mlo. Such a perception of the physical self also infers that to achieve and maintain these superior standards a greater input must be made to physical conditioning. Thus according to the criteria of the subscale Condition, male high achievers would be more confident about their level of conditioning, take part more often in vigorous exercise and maintain a higher level of fitness and stamina low achieving males. Interestingly the lack of than differentiation between Mhi (16.0) and Mlo (15.0) in the subscale Body may be reflective of 'macho' male perceptions where, to be overly concerned with the way one looks physically, may be interpreted as being narcissic or feminine.

Comparing the results of the female high and low achievers, one is again reminded of the similarity in trends as shown in responses to the CATPA inventory, where the groups Fhi and Flo displayed the greatest divergence of scores. In the PSPP every subscale was characterised by a significant difference (see Figure 12b). Fhi, like Mhi, perceived of themselves being superior in both Sport and Condition, but the most striking margin of variance is displayed in the subscale Body. The responses reveal that the female low achiever perceive their bodies to be unattractive, feel embarrassed

wearing few clothes, do not receive admiration for the way they look, and feel self-conscious about the appearance of their bodies. Bearing in mind that Flo were characterised by a morphological profile that indicated that they were shorter, heavier and had a higher level of percentage body fat, it is not surprising that they have such a poor self-perception of their body, especially if one equates these factors in the context of societal expectations of the ideal female, who is invariably portrayed in the media as someone tall and slim (Tinning, 1991). This same group had a comparatively suppressed feeling of physical self-worth (PSW). These low PSW scores indicate that the female low achievers did not experience feelings of happiness, satisfaction, pride, respect and confidence in their physical self, a response that appears in varying positive modes for the other three groups. These findings are very much in accordance with the research conducted by Leary and Thanning (1990) on self-esteem and sport, who point out that where sporting achievement determines social standing, particularly in traditional school sport (in South Africa), fear of rejection by the peer group will generate anxiety and may lead to inappropriate acting out behaviour responses. This adoption of negative health behaviours, particularly reflected by the responses of the female low achievers may in turn may have important health implications in adulthood. In a review of 43 studies Powell (1988) concluded that there was without exception a positive

relationship in adults between a physically inactive lifestyle and incidence of CHD.

Ratings of Perceived Exertion (RPE)

Subjects were required to indicate the degree of breathlessness that they experienced during the shuttle run by referring to the Revised Borg Scale (1982) at the end of each level/minute of the MST. The ACSM (1986) consider that the Borg Scale is a well used and accepted method to evaluate subjective assessment of exercise intensity. They also go on to report that it correlates well with more objective measures of physiological function, including heart rate, respiratory changes and lactate metabolism.

The MST was developed by Leger et al. (1988) on the principle that after a starting speed of 8.5 km/hr an increase in running speed of 0.5 km/hr at the end of each minute/level would be the equivalent of an associated increase of 1 MET (Liu et al., 1992). Clearly with each increase in running speed there will be an attendant increase on the demand of respiratory system to supply oxygen for the aerobic metabolism. In an effort to assess the individual's perceptions of these running demands utilisation of the perceptual cue of breathlessness was made.

It is evident from the data represented in Tables IX and X and the trends depicted in Figures 11ab and 12ab that the perception of effort as reported by subjective evaluation of

breathlessness induced by the MST at any given exercise intensity, was lower for males than for the female subjects, lower for high achievers as compared to low achievers, lower for Mhi than Mlo, and lower for Fhi when compared to Flo. The other consistent finding in the present study was that at the mean termination point in the MST, all groups indicated that they experienced a near maximal effort according to Borg's Revised Scale (1 - 10) where a rating of 7 is indicative of very strong demand on breathing and 10 is maximal; males (8.1), females (8.5), high achievers (8.0), low achievers (8.1), Mhi (8.9), Mlo (8.0), Fhi (8.5) and Flo (8.4). The contention that subjects consistently experienced maximal or near maximal effort is supported by the elevated heart rates recorded at the mean termination point. The relationship between the heart rate and RPE trends can be observed in Figures 13ab - 16ab. However it was not statistically feasible to run a correlational analysis between RPE and heart rate due the fact that heart rate was recorded and plotted as a linear function, where as breathlessness is characterised by an exponential function, and as a result was referenced with the revised Borg Scale which has ratio properties. The sex-related differences as exhibited by males and females in their RPE may be attributed to a number of factors. Firstly in terms of their morphology males were considerably taller than females and this difference in height may well be beneficial to males, enabling them to run the 20 m shuttle with fewer strides. In other words the females had to

run at a faster cadence to achieve the same running speed as males, and this increased cadence is likely to be reflected in females experiencing greater physiological strain, with an attendant increase in their perception of effort. Secondly the males had a lower percentage body fat than the females, which meant they were carrying less adipose tissue which is unproductive in terms of the aerobic metabolism; thus in a maximal test of aerobic capacity this 'additional' fat would have been inhibitative to the female subjects and they had to work harder to maintain the same speed as males. Thirdly an examination of heart rates revealed that the physiological strain experienced by males, compared to females was less for the males at every MST level and was probably indicative in part of the effects of both stature and percentage body fat. Finally if one assumes that the MST is perceived as a form of ascetic experience in an attitudinal sense, observation of the CATPA responses (particularly in the sub-domain Ascetic) indicated that the males were more positively orientated towards performing in a test that was physically arduous in its nature.

MST LEVEL	MALES	FEMALES	HIGH	LOW
1	0.98	1.23	0.86	1.34
	(0.77)	(0.88)	(0.62)	(0.97)
2	1.64	2.26	1.57	2.33
	(0.97)	(1.54)	(0.87)	(1.62)
3	2.14	3.19	2.34	2.99
	(1.09)	(1.24)	(1.13)	(1.35)
4	2.74	4.09	2.87	3.97
	(1.09)	(1.53)	(1.03)	(1.71)
5	3.31	5.21	3.58	4.93
	(1.13)	(1.67)	(1.18)	(1.93)
6	4.06	6.62	4.24	6.44
	(1.38)	(2.30)	(1.35)	(2.55)
7	4.84	7.32	5.36	6.80
	(1.68)	(1.94)	(1.73)	(2.41)
8	5.80	8.08	6.43	7.46
	(1.86)	(1.84)	(2.00)	(2.17)
9	6.70	8.79	7.31	8.18
	(1.88)	(1.69)	(2.07)	(2.00)
10	7.25	8.92	7.65	7.70
	(1.87)	(1.40)	(1.96)	(1.85)
11	7.73	8.50	7.81	7.81
	(1.56)	(0.57)	(1.49)	(1.60)
12	8.61 (1.29)		8.42 (1.30)	9.12 (1.12)
13	9.53 (0.91)		9.58 (0.90)	9.33 (1.15)
14	10 (0.0)			

....

.

•

TABLE IX: Means and standard deviations (parenthesis) for RPE for Males, Females, High and Low achievers.



Figure 11. Mean RPE Scores for (A.) Males and Females; (B) High and Low Achievers.

TABLE X: Means and standard deviations (parenthesis) for RPE for male high achievers (Mhi), male low achievers (Mlo), female high achievers (Fhi) and female low achievers (Flo).

MST LEVEL	Mhi	Mlo	Fhi	Flo
1	0.64	1.31	1.08	1.37
	(0.33)	(0.96)	(0.75)	(1.01)
2	1.35	1.93	1.80	2.72
	(0.73)	(1.13)	(0.95)	(1.93)
3	1.83	2.45	2.86	3.52
	(1.00)	(1.10)	(1.02)	(1.41)
4	2.37	3.12	3.37	4.81
	(0.96)	(1.11)	(0.86)	(1.84)
5	3.00	3.62	4.17	6.25
	(1.00)	(1.20)	(1.17)	(1.65)
6	3.62	4.50	4.86	8.38
	(1.07)	(1.56)	(1.32)	(1.81)
7	4.51	5.16	6.20	8.44
	(1.28)	(2.01)	(1.71)	(1.66)
8	5.44	6.17	7.42	8.75
	(1.64)	(2.05)	(1.85)	(1.50)
9	6.03	7.36	8.58	9.00
	(1.56)	(2.01)	(1.74)	(1.41)
10	6.96 (1.88)	7.70 (1.82)	8.92 (1.43)	
11	7.69 (1.57)	7.87 (1.60)	8.50 (0.57)	
12	8.38 (1.33)	9.12 (1.12)		
13	9.55 (0.90)	9.33 (1.15)		
14	10 (0.0)			



1.2

and (B.) Fhi and Flo.



Figure 13. Mean Heart Rate and RPE Response for (A.) Males and (B.) Females.


Figure 14. Mean Heart Rate and RPE Response for (A.) High and (B.) Low Achievers.



Minutes/Levels Multi-Stage Fitness Test Figure 15. Mean Heart Rate and RPE Response for (A.) Mhi and (B.) Mio.



Minutes/Levels Multi-Stage Fitness Test Figure 16. Mean Heart Rate and RPE Response for (A.)Fhi and (B.)Flo.

When comparing the RPE data of high and low achievers the trend that emerged was indicative of the fact that at any given level in the MST the high achievers reported a lower RPE. This may well be the result of the high achievers consistently performing at a higher level in traditional school sports, as well as being involved in regular practices and exercise training, which would result in them being better equipped, both physically and mentally, to endure a maximal test. Morgan (1981) stated that RPE involves both a cognitive (thinking) and perceptual (feeling) process. It is therefore likely, given the criteria on which this present sample was based, that high achievers, as a result of their positive experiences of traditional school sport, are more cognizant of what is expected during an exercise episode and are more inclined to perceive that the feelings associated with physical exertion are beneficial and generally good for them even if the effort demand is high. The male high and low achievers displayed the least difference in their RPE scores when compared to all other paired group analyses. Although Mhi indicated that their perception of breathlessness was marginally less at any given level in the MST than Mlo the variance was minimal and was in fact substantially less than in other group comparisons. It has been suggested in previous studies Mihevic (1981) that sometimes in a test situation, especially if it is seen to be competitive, subjects will have a tendency to suppress their RPE. However in an attempt to lessen the chances of inter-group

comparison and potential RPE suppression in this study, subjects had to call their RPE at the same time, thus minimising the chance of individuals making evaluative changes based on the RPE responses given by their compatriots.

It is clear that although differences do exist in the male achieving groups with high and low respect to their anthropometric, physiological and psychological responses, these differences are less than between the other groups. Mhi were selected essentially on the criteria that they were an elite group in terms of performance in traditional school sports. Yet the comparative indifferent margin between the two groups possibly reflects that the emphasis on traditional school sports does not appear to overly alienate Mlo nor affect their physical performance or their RPE responses.

The results of female high and low achievers reveals the elevated RPE of Flo compared to Fhi, and all other groups. Flo reported an initial RPE that was higher, and the increase in the trend as depicted in Figure 12b is also more rapid and exponential, than recorded for all other groups. Not only do Flo have the most undesirable morphological characteristics for participation in traditional school sports, but their heart rates are indicative of greater physiological strain; and furthermore psychologically they were the most negatively orientated. This combination would appear to contribute to Flo perceiving the exertion required to run at each level in the MST as being more arduous than any other group examined.

GENERAL DISCUSSION

A general overview of the results produced in this study would seem to indicate that each group was characterised by its fairly distinctive and coherent scores and responses. Furthermore, by employing an holistic approach, the present study was conceptually better prepared to examine the resultant diverse data and evaluate the nature of the interrelationships contained therein. The benefits of an holistic perspective are perhaps most revealing when one examines some of the individual anomalies that were exhibited by some of the subjects. It should be reiterated at this juncture that the criterion by which the subjects were divided was based on their level of participation in traditional school sports. Furthermore when the psychometric inventories were presented to the subjects, they were asked to answer the questions specifically in the context of traditional school sports.

Examples of incongruent results occurred largely when individuals who were classified as a low achievers (Mlo or Flo) in traditional school sports such as rugby and cricket for males, and hockey and tennis for females, were in fact high achievers in other sporting activities which they often pursued outside of the school regime. This was well illustrated by a number of subjects who were classified as low achievers, but were in fact successful members of the local road running club. It was of particular interest that these subjects ran a relatively high number of shuttles in the MST indicating a high

VO, max, but responded often quite negatively in the psychological domain. This example demonstrates that the experience these individuals encounter in the traditional school sports environment is largely an adverse one, perhaps compounded by their small size, and a lack of overt competitiveness and aggressiveness that is often expected of high achievers in traditional team sport, and that their personal enjoyment and participation in physical activity has as a consequence, developed outside of the school system. The emphasis on inter school competition may well be a primary factor in individual alienation from participation in the school sports programme and previous studies which support the notion that a relationship exists between competition and discontinuation include Orlick (1974) and Gould et al. (1982). Conversely, there were a number of subjects who were classified as high achievers (Mhi and Fhi) characterised by desirable morphological and physiological attributes for their traditional sporting disciplines, but were low scorers in the psychological domain. This perhaps indicates that these individuals were not intrinsically orientated (psychologically) towards participation at first team level and were subjected to the powerful cultural, societal and parental expectations, resulting in them having little choice but to play the traditional sports at this standard. In a review on the effects of over competitiveness in youth sport LeUnes and Nation (1990) argue that games should be orientated philosophically

toward making sport physically healthy and psychologically rewarding, rather than as a means for parents (or teachers) to live out their lives vicariously through their children. Therefore the individual whose physical attributes predispose them towards traditional school sports will often be under greater pressure and expectation to achieve these levels of performance, even though it would appear that sometimes little regard is given as to how children feel and perceive their role in competitive participation.

The view that regular physical activity is a primary factor in the promotion of good health, has been expressed by the likes of Aristotle (Rice et al., 1969), and in more recent times by scientists and medical experts (Bouchard et al., 1990). This study concerned itself with the lifestyle orientations of 16 - 18 year olds, and it is clear that in the context of traditional school sport the difference between male high and low achievers in their general responses was relatively small in comparison to female high and low achievers. It should be noted that the disparity between Fhi and Flo is largely as a result of Flo recording considerably more undesirable and negative responses in almost every aspect of this study. According to Leary and Thanning (1990) the present emphasis on traditional sports in South African schools does little in the way of promoting a physically active lifestyle orientation in female low achievers. Bar Or (1990) makes the point that the school is the best possible place for the development of positive exercise behaviours. Unfortunately

this does not appear to be a major objective in South African schools and according to Loper *et al.* (1989) given the importance accrued to traditional sports, and the pressure of coaching winning teams, it is less likely that Physical Education teachers will be concerned with producing positive health outcomes in their pupils.

It is therefore apparent that traditional school sport does little to promote positive and active lifestyles in those females construed as low achievers. A more specific analysis of the data reveals that the female low achievers emerged as a group who are characterised by the most undesirable morphological and physiological measures, along with a psychological profile that is more negatively orientated than any other group. It is tentatively suggested that gender expectations appear to have a powerful influence over both the degree to which females participate in sport and the way in which they experience it. The powerful influence of societal and cultural expectations of the role of women in sport is indicated by Bryson (1990) who states that only certain well defined sports are socially acceptable. Although Lirgg (1991) points to the increasing opportunities for girls and women in sport, it is important to note that according to LeUnes and Nation (1990) that it has only become recently acceptable for women to compete in sports, though this acceptability is hardly universal. This selective acceptability is apparent in the observations made by Lipsyte (1975) who notes that sports is a

male sanctuary, therefore any woman who tries to invade is "not really a woman" (p.217). Bearing in mind these factors, it is evident that female participation in sport is complicated by societal expectations, not only as to what sports are acceptable, but also with the retention of feminine like behaviour. Finally, as sports are clearly a manifestation of human movement, then the perception of the physical self during such activity takes on considerable importance. With reference to the present selection of female subjects it is most apparent that they were very much concerned with their physical appearance, as reflected very clearly in their responses to the PSPP inventory regarding Body Image. If a female falls outside of societal and cultural norms regarding her physique, which is very specific and entails being tall and slim according to Tinning (1991), then it is guite likely that they will feel embarrassed and out of place in a sporting situation, especially if they have to wear sports uniforms that tend to reveal the body rather than hide it. With regard to the present female sample it would partially explain the negative psychological profile of Flo, because they were the shortest, and heaviest group, with the highest percent body fat. Interestingly Fhi also exhibited a suppressed Body Image score in the PSPP indicating that this group are less than happy with the way they look, and is perhaps a reflection of this groups' perception that they have a physique which falls outside societal and cultural norms (Franck, 1984). Secondly with

particular reference to the female low achiever it is suggested that to be successful in traditional school sports requires a competitive attitude because winning is an important component of inter school matches. It may well be that for Flo to adopt a competitive approach along with their low body image, may in a sense, reinforce their fear of being construed as someone who is not feminine. This is because females often perceive that a successful competitive attitude in sport is more easily equated as an aspect of male behaviour. In other words if Flo believe that they do not look like the ideal woman then they can at least behave like one.

It is clear that in the present study that although differences do exist between male high and low achievers, the degree of difference between female high and low achievers is far more dramatic, largely due to the aberrant negativity displayed in the scores and responses of Flo in almost every variable analyzed.

CHAPTER 5

SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

AIMS OF THE STUDY

the comparative absence In view of of research investigating sporting and exercise behaviour in children (Gould et al., 1982; Dishman and Dunn 1988), this study has sought to examine the lifestyle orientations of high and low achievers in traditional school sport. An holistic approach as advocated by Charteris et al. (1976) was employed in the present study embracing anthropometric, physiological, and psychological parameters. It is the contention of this study that an holistic approach better equips the researcher with a methodological model to elucidate the nature of the relationships which characterise lifestyle orientations of high and low achievers in traditional school sport.

The questions addressed, aimed firstly at determining whether or not there were significant differences between the paired groupings; males and females, high and low achievers, male high achievers (Mhi) and male low achievers (Mlo), and female high (Fhi) and low achievers (Flo) in respect of their morphological, physiological, and psychological responses.

METHODS

One hundred and four subjects volunteered to participate in this study (mean age 16.71, SD 0.63), of this total 51 were males and 53 were females. The subjects were then categorised according to their level of participation in traditional school sports. The breakdown of the groups was as follows:

High Achievers = males + females

Low Achievers = males + females

Mhi = male high achievers

Mlo = male low achievers

Fhi = female high achievers

Flo = female low achievers

Each subject was assessed in the following tests to ascertain whether or not any significant differences were apparent between the paired group analyses. These tests entailed in the anthropometric domain, the measurement of stature, mass, percentage body fat, and WHR.

Physiological assessment entailed the prediction of VO_2 max by means of the MST, and the assessment of physiological strain by minute by minute heart rate monitoring during this test, along with a reference (pre-exercise) heart rate.

The psychological domain was assessed by the utilisation of CATPA to elicit attitudinal responses to physical activity and PSPP to present an understanding of the physical self. Finally Borg's revised RPE scale with ratio properties was used to measure the degree of breathlessness as indicated by the

subjects at the end of each level/minute during their participation of the MST until they voluntarily withdrew.

The results were analyzed by single variable statistics, Analysis of Variance Tests. A 0.05 level of probability was chosen.

RESULTS

This study produced anthropometric results illustrating that significant differences exist between the male and female subjects in their morphological composition, the males were taller and heavier, and exhibited a higher WHR. Females on the other hand were higher in percentage body fat. This finding is commensurate with previous research investigating sex-related morphological differences (Behnke and Wilmore, 1974; Wilmore, 1983; Gordon and Gibbons, 1991).

High achievers as a whole group were significantly taller and lower in percentage body fat as compared to low achievers.

Interestingly Mhi and Mlo were not significantly different in any of the anthropometric measures, while Fhi were significantly taller, lighter, and lower in percentage body fat, along with a higher WHR than Flo. These results are perhaps an indication that school sport differentiates between high and low achievers possibly as a result of their morphology and genetic predisposition as postulated by Noakes (1992).

The MST was employed as a validated method to provide an accurate prediction of maximal aerobic capacity (VO_2 max) (Liu

et al., 1992). The results of the present study indicate that VO_2 max was higher in males than females, higher in high achievers than low achievers, higher in Mhi than Mlo, and higher in Fhi than Flo. Although the differences between the paired groupings were all significant it was interesting to note that the disparity between Fhi and Flo was comparatively more pronounced, than that shown by Mhi and Mlo.

Physiological strain was assessed by minute by minute monitoring of heart rate at the end of each level of the MST, up until the subject voluntarily withdrew from the test. Congruent with previous reports including McArdle *et al.* (1986) the present study identified that at any given exercise intensity as induced by the MST, males experienced a lower degree of physiological strain than females, this response was also lower for high achievers than for low achievers, lower for Mhi than Mlo, and lower for Fhi than Flo. The same trends were evident in the data regarding the pre-exercise (reference) heart rate.

Two psychometric inventories were utilised to provide data regarding the psychological domain. The CATPA inventory was employed to elicit the differing attitudes that the subjects held towards physical activity. The highest composite total score was provided by Fhi (45.6), and then followed by the groups in descending score order; the total group of high achievers (43.0), Mhi (40.41), female group as a whole (37.7), all male subjects (36.6), Mlo (32.8), and Flo (29.8). In terms

of a total composite score there appeared to be no significant difference between males and females. However, females scored significantly higher in the subdomains Social Growth and Aesthetic, while males scored higher in Vertigo.

High achievers were characterised by a significantly higher total composite score, and more specifically high achievers scored higher than low achievers in the sub-domains of Social Growth, Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo and Ascetic.

Mhi and Mlo were most conspicuous for their lack of variance, with Mhi scoring significantly higher only in the sub-domain of Vertigo. Fhi scored significantly higher than Flo not only in their total composite score, but also in the subdomains of Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo, Catharsis, and Ascetic. It was also interesting to note that the highest total score was provided by Fhi (45.6) and the lowest Flo (29.8).

The application of the PSPP provided an insight into the perception of the physical self. Consistent with the expectations of the authors of the PSPP, Fox and Corbin (1989), the present study was also successful in identifying differences in the components that form the concept of the physical self in relation to sex and level of achievement. The highest total composite score was recorded by Mhi (87.4) followed by high achievers (83.9), the male subjects (82.2), Fhi (80.4), Mlo (77.1), the total female group (67.7), low achievers as a whole (66.0) and Flo (54.9). When comparing sexrelated responses one observes that males scored significantly higher than females in the total composite score, and more specifically in the subscales Sport, Condition, Body, and Physical Self-Worth (PSW).

High achievers respond in a more positive fashion than low achievers in their total composite score, as well as in the subscales; Sport, Condition, Body, Strength, and PSW.

Mhi recorded the highest total composite score (87.4) and scored significantly higher than Mlo in two of the subscales Sport and Condition. Fhi and Flo display the greatest divergence of all groups examined, this can be largely attributed to the low scoring responses of Flo whose total composite score of (54.9) was the lowest. Fhi recorded a significantly higher score than Flo in all the subscales; Sport, Condition, Body, Strength, and PSW.

At the end of each level/minute of the MST the subjects indicated their perception of breathlessness using Borg's revised scale (1982). It is clear from the data that at any given exercise intensity as induced by the MST, the perception of effort (ascertained by the physiological cue of breathlessness) was lower for males than females, lower for high achievers than low achievers, lower for Mhi than Mlo, and lower for Fhi than Flo. These findings are in accordance with the findings of previous studies investigating perception of effort, most notably the reviews by Mihevic (1981) and Carton

and Rhodes (1985) who indicate that both males and those individuals who have higher levels of training experience (high achievers) tend to rate their perception of effort lower than their respective counterparts females and those who have lower levels of training experience (low achievers).

CONCLUSIONS

1. No significant differences were found between any of the anthropometric measures of Mhi and Mlo. Fhi and Flo however were significantly different in their stature, mass, and percentage body fat.

2. VO_2 max was higher for males compared to females, higher for high achievers compared to low achievers, higher for Mhi compared to Mlo, and higher for Fhi compared to Flo.

3. The physiological strain (assessed by heart rate responses) experienced by the subjects at any given level of the MST was lower for males than females, lower for high achievers than low achievers, lower for Mhi than Mlo, and lower for Fhi than Flo. Reference (pre-exercise) heart rate followed this same trend.

4. In terms of the total score accrued in the CATPA inventory, the group who were most positively orientated towards physical activity were Fhi (45.6), followed by Mhi (40.4), Mlo (32.8), and the least positive Flo (29.8). Mhi were characterised by a significantly higher score than Mlo in the subdomain of Vertigo only, where as Fhi scored significantly higher than Flo in five of the subdomains; Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo, Catharsis, and Ascetic.

5. The total of response scores from the PSPP inventory suggest that Mhi (87.4) have a perception of their overall physical self that is the most positive, followed by Fhi (80.4), Mlo (77.1), and the lowest Flo (54.9). Mhi score significantly higher than Mlo in two of the subscales Sport and Condition, while Fhi score significantly higher than Flo in every subscale; Sport, Condition, Body, Strength, and PSW.

6. The use of Borg's revised RPE scale (1982) revealed that the perception of effort as indicated by the physiological cue breathlessness was, for any given level of the MST, lower for males compared to females, lower for high achievers compared to low achievers, lower for Mhi compared to Mlo, and lower for Fhi compared to Flo.

In light of the these results the following conclusions can be drawn:

Hypothesis One : A rejection of the null hypothesis.

The findings of this study lead one to tentatively accept the Alternative Hypothesis as follows : that there is a difference between males and females with regard to their:

 a) anthropometric measures; stature, mass, percentage body fat and WHR.

b) physiological responses; predicted VO_2 max, and physiological strain as measured at each level of the MST by minute by minute monitoring of heart rate. Reference (preexercise) heart rate.

c) psychological responses; CATPA in the sub-domains Social Growth, Vertigo, and Aesthetic. PSPP in total composite score, and more specifically in the subscales Sport, Condition, Body, and PSW. In RPE females responded with a more elevated rating than males at every level of the MST.

Hypothesis Two : A rejection of the null hypothesis.

The findings of this study lead one to tentatively accept the Alternative Hypothesis as follows : that there is a difference between high and low achievers with regard to their:

 a) anthropometric measures; stature and percentage body fat.

b) physiological responses; predicted VO_2 max, and physiological strain as measured at each level of the MST by minute by minute monitoring of heart rate; and Reference (preexercise) heart rate.

c) psychological responses; CATPA in total composite score, and more specifically in the sub-domains Social Growth, Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo and Ascetic. PSPP in total composite score, and more specifically in all the subscales Sport, Condition, Body, Strength, and PSW. In RPE low achievers responded with a more elevated rating than high achievers at every level of the MST.

Hypothesis Three : A rejection of the null hypothesis.

The findings of this study lead one to tentatively accept the Alternative Hypothesis as follows: that there is a difference between male high achievers and male low achievers with regard to their:

b) physiological responses; predicted VO_2 max, and physiological strain as measured at each level of the MST by minute by minute monitoring of heart rate.

c) psychological responses; CATPA, only in the sub-domain Vertigo. PSPP in total composite score, and more specifically in the subscales Sport and Condition. In RPE Mlo responded with a more elevated rating than Mhi at every level of the MST.

Hypothesis Four : A rejection of the null hypothesis.

The findings of this study lead one to tentatively to accept the Alternative hypothesis as follows: that there is a difference between female high achievers and female low achievers with regard to their:

a) anthropometric measures; stature, mass, and percentage

body fat.

b) physiological responses; predicted VO_2 max, and physiological strain as measured at each level of the MST by minute by minute monitoring of heart rate.

c) psychological responses; CATPA in total composite score, and more specifically in the sub-domains Social Continuation, Health and Fitness, Vertigo, Catharsis, and Ascetic. PSPP in total composite score, and more specifically in all the subscales Sport, Condition, Body, Strength, and PSW. In RPE Flo responded with a more elevated rating than Fhi at every level of the MST.

RECOMMENDATIONS

The present study by virtue of an holistic approach appears to have been largely successful in presenting a more enlightened and informed understanding of those factors and inter-relationships that characterise high and low achievers, whether male or female, in traditional school sports. However, due to logistical constraints experienced in the present study, such as geographic location, demographic composition of the schools examined, and not least a limit on time, it is suggested that the following recommendations for future research be considered.

 During the present study only subjects in the age range 16
18 years were assessed. It may be necessary to assess other age groups to provide a fuller understanding of physical lifestyle orientation, with particular respect to:

a) The transition from standard 5 to standard 6.

b) The period prior, during and after puberty.

c) The transition from school to work, university or post school life.

2. The present sample was largely comprised of white subjects. It is suggested that further studies in this research area should also identify other ethnic groups (Black, Coloured and Asian) within the South African population.

3. Further research needs to examine the influence of extracurricular (outside of school time and control) sports and physical activities, on the physical lifestyle orientation of the pupils.

4. It is clear from the present study that the group of female low achievers (Flo) were significantly different in almost all respects to the other groups examined. It is suggested that in order to provide a clearer explanation of why this group exhibit such a negative physical lifestyle orientation, that a more sociological approach be developed, and more specifically from a critical feminist perspective.

5. Bearing in mind that South African females have the highest incidence of CHD in the world (Simons, 1986) and that there is an established association between lack of exercise and CHD (Powell, 1987), it is suggested that future studies should examine whether or not the emphasis on traditional school sports, instead of more health related objectives in the Physical Education curriculum, may be linked to low levels of exercise compliance in the female adult population.

REFERENCES

Aboud F (1979). Self an identity, a concept or a sense. In L Strickland (ed): Soviet and Western Perspectives in Social Psychology. New York: Pergamon Press, pp. 11-55.

Abraham S and Nordsieck M (1960). Relationship between excess weight in children and adults. Public Health Reports, 75: 263-273.

Adams L, Chronos N, Lane R, Guz A (1986). The measurement of breathlessness induced in normal subjects: Individual differences. Clinical Science, 70: 131-140.

Adams T, Vanowitz FG, Fischer AG (1981). Non-invasive evaluation of exercise training in college aged men. Circulation, 64: 958-966.

Albinson JG (1975). Attitude measurement in physical education: A review and discussion. In BS Rushall (ed): The Status of Psychomotor Learning and Sport Research. Dartmouth, Nova Scotia: Sport Science Associates, pp. 32-41.

Almond L (1983). A rationale for health related fitness in schools. Bulletin of Physical Education, 19 (2): 5-11.

American Alliance for Health, Physical Education and Recreation (AAHPER) (1980). Technical Manual: AAHPER Health Related Fitness Test. Washington, DC: AAHPER.

American College of Sports Medicine (1986). Guidelines for Exercise Testing, third edition. Washington Square, Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, pp. 9-52.

American College of Sports Medicine (1990). The recommended quantity and quality of exercise for developing and maintaining cardio-respiratory fitness in healthy adults. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 22 (2): 265-274.

Andrews BC, Ruhling RO, Burrell E, Bassett S, Sands B (1985). Physical fitness of South African and American young adults. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation, 8 (2): 23-33.

Armstrong N and Bray S (1991). Physical Activity patterns defined by continuous heart rate monitoring. Archives of Disease in Childhood, 68: 245-247.

Arnold PJ (1986). Moral aspects of an education in movement. In A Stull and M Eckert (eds): Effects of Physical Activity on Children. The American Academy of Physical Education Papers, No.19. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 77-89.

Atkinson RL, Atkinson RC, Hilgard E (1983). Introduction to Psychology (8th edition). New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich, pp. 1-18.

Austin D and Nowak N (1987). Lincoln Public School Needs Assessment Survey. Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance, February: 58-61.

Balogun JA (1987). The interrelationships between measures of physical fitness and self-concept. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 13: 255-265.

Bar Or O (1990). Growth, Exercise, fitness and later outcomes. In C Bouchard, RJ Shephard, T Stephens, JR Sutton, BD McPherson (eds): Exercise, Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 655-660.

Baumgartner TA and Jackson AS (1982). Measurement for Evaluation in Physical Education. Dubuque, Iowa: Brown Co Publishers, pp. 74-89.

Beasley JC, Plowman SA, Fernhall B (1989). Effects of optimised and standard cycle ergonometry on VO2 max in trained cyclists and runners. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 60 (4): 373-378.

Behnke AR and Wilmore JH (1974). Evaluation and Regulation of Body Build and Composition. Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Belko AZ, Van Loan M, Barbieri TF Mayclin P (1987). Diet exercise and weight lose and energy expenditure in moderately overweight women. International Journal of Obesity, 11: 93-104.

Boreham CA, Paliczka VJ, Nichols AK (1990). A comparison of the PWC170 and 20 MST tests of aerobic fitness in adolescent school children. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 30: 19-23.

Borg GA (1962). Physical Performance and Perceived Exertion. Lund, Sweden: Gleerup, pp. 1-35.

Borg GA (1970). Perceived exertion as an indicator of somatic stress. Scandinavian Journal of Rehabilitation Medicine, 2:92-98.

Borg GA (1973). Perceived exertion: A note on history and methods. Medicine and Science in Sport, 5 (2): 90-93.

Borg GA (1982). Psychophysical bases of perceived exertion. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 14 (5): 377-381.

Bouchard C, Shephard RJ, Stephens T, Sutton JR, McPherson BD (1990). Exercise Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 1-28.

Boutcher SH, Fleischer-Curtian LA, Gines SD (1988). The effects of self presentation on perceived exertion. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 10: 276-280.

Boutcher SH (1990). Aerobic fitness: Measurement and issues. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 12: 235-247.

Brewer J, Ramsbottom R, Williams C (1988). Multi-stage Fitness Test. A progressive shuttle-run test for the prediction of maximum oxygen uptake. Presented by the National Coaching Foundation, 4, College Close, Beckett Park, Leeds LS6 3QH, UK.

Brill PA, Burkhalter HE, Kohl HW, Blair SN (1989). The impact of previous athleticism on exercise habits, physical fitness and coronary heart disease factors in middle-aged men. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 60 (3): 209-215.

Brodie DA (1988). Techniques of measurement of body composition: Part 1. Sports Medicine, 5: 11-40.

Brooke ST and Long BC (1987). Efficiency of coping with real life stressors: A multi-model comparison of aerobic fitness. Psychophysiology, 24: 173-180.

Brooks G and Fahey T (1985). Exercise Physiology: Human Bioenergetics and its applications. New York: Macmillan, pp. 503-518.

Brouha L (1943). The step test: A simple method of measuring physical fitness for muscular work in young men. Research Quarterly, 14: 31-36.

Brownell KD, Stundard AJ, Albaum JM (1980). Evaluations and modifications of exercise patterns in the natural environment. American Journal of Psychiatry, 137: 1540-1552.

Brunner D, Altman S, Loebl K, Schwartz S, Levin S (1977). Serum cholesterol and triglycerides in patients suffering from ischaemic heart disease and in healthy subjects. Journal of Atherosclerosis Research, 28: 197-205.

Bryson L (1990). Challenges to male hegemony in sport. In MA Messner and DF Sabo (eds): Sport Men and the Gender Order. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books.

Carton RL and Rhodes EC (1985). A critical review of the literature on rating scales for perceived exertion. Sports Medicine, 2: 198-222.

Caruso CM and Gill DL (1992). Strengthening physical selfperceptions through exercise. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 32: 416-427.

Chaney K (1978). An analysis of fitness. Research Papers in Physical Education, 3 (4): 37-52.

Charteris J, Cooper L and Bruce J (1976). Human Kinetics: A conceptual model for studying human movement. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 2: 233-238.

Chave SP, Morris JN, Moss S (1978). Vigorous exercise in leisure time and the death rate. A study of male civil servants. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health 32: 239-243.

Coombs AW (1958). New horizons in field research: The selfconcept. Educational Leadership, 15: 315-319.

Coombs AW, Richards AC, Richards F (1976). Perceptual Psychology: A Humanistic Approach to the Study of Persons. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, pp. 106-133.

Cooper KH and Cooper M (1982). The Aerobics Programme for Total Well-Being. New York: Evans and Co; Inc.

Copley B (1980). Body composition and activity: A morphological and physiological study of tennis players with special reference to the effects of training. South African Journal for Research in Sport, Physical Education and Recreation, 3 (2): 33-44.

Corbin CB and Lindsey R (1991). Concepts of Physical Fitness with Laboratories. Dubuque, U.S.A: Wm. C. Brown Publishers.

Cumming GR, Borysyk LM, Duffresne C (1972). The maximum exercise ECG in asymptomatic men. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 106: 649-653.

Damon W and Hart D (1988). Self-Understanding in Childhood and Adolescence. Cambridge, England: Cambridge University Press.

Davies B, Daggett A, Jakeman P, Mulhall J (1983). Maximum oxygen uptake with different treadmill protocols. In L Burwitz, A Lees, T Reilly, FH Sanderson (eds): Proceedings of Sport and Science. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 52-64.

DeMaria AN, Neumann A, Lee G (1978). Alterations in ventricular mass and performance induced by exercise training in man evaluated by echocardiography. Circulation, 57: 237-244.

Despres JP, Bouchard R, Sarard D, Prud'homme D, Bukowiecki L, Theriault G (1984). Adaptive changes to training in adipose tissue lipolysis are genotype dependant. International Journal of Obesity, 8: 87-95.

deVries HA (1982). Physiology of Exercise for Physical Education and Athletics. Dubuque, Iowa: WM. C. Brown Company Publishers.

Dishman RK and Dunn AL (1988). Determinants of participation in activity, exercise adherence in childhood and youth: implications for Adulthood. Exercise Adherence: its Impact on Public Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 155-200.

Dishman RK and Gettman LR (1980). Psychobiological influences on exercise adherence. Journal of Sport Psychology, 2: 295-310.

Donohue RP, Abbott RD, Bloom E (1987). Central obesity and coronary heart disease in men. Lancet, 8537: 821-824.

Dowall JR, Bolter CP, Ross A, Kammann R (1988). Psychological well-being and its relationship to fitness and activity levels. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 14: 39-45.

Duda JL (1987). Toward a development theory of children's motivation in sport. Journal of Sports Psychology, 9: 130-145.

Durnin JV (1990). Assessment of physical activity during leisure and work. In C Bouchard, RJ Shephard, T Stephens, JR Sutton, BD Mc Pherson (eds): Exercise, Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 63-70.

Durnin JV and Womersley J (1974). Body fat assessed from total body density and its estimation from skinfold thickness: Measurements on 481 men and women aged 16-72 years. British Journal of Nutrition, 32: 77-97.

du Toit L (1992). Opening, Heart Foundation of Southern Africa. Heart Health Colloquium. CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria, 7 & 8 April, pp. 7-10.

Ekblom B and Goldberg AN (1971). The influence of training and other factors on the subjective rating of perceived exertion. Acta Physiology Scandinavia, 83: 399-406.

Englar B (1979). Personality Theories: An Introduction. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company, pp. 2-23.

Fieldsend RJ (1980). The Interrelationships of Physical Fitness, Somatotype, Body Cathexis and Personality, in a Group of White Schoolboys. Masters Thesis, Human Movement Studies Department, Rhodes University, South Africa.

Fitts W (1965). Manual: Tennessee Self-Concept Scale. Nashville TN. Counsellor Recording and Tests.

Ford P (1990). A case for regular physical exercise: Coronary heart disease and its implications for physical education programmes. Part 2. Australian Council for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, Spring 1990: 23-25.

Fox KR and Corbin CB (1989). The physical self-perception profile: Development and preliminary validation. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 11: 408-430.

Franck L (1984). Exposure and gender effects in the social perception of women body builders. Journal of Sports Psychology, 6: 239-249.

Froelicher VF (1990). Exercise fitness and coronary heart disease. In C Bouchard, RJ Shephard, T Stephens, JR Sutton, BD McPherson (eds): Exercise, Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 429-450. Gale R (1974). Who Are You ? The Psychology of Being Yourself. Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey: Prentice Hall Inc, pp. 44-57.

Gerber E (1968). Learning and play: Insights into educational protagonists. Quest, monograph XI (winter): 44-49.

Gergen KJ (1971). The Concept of the Self. New York: Holt, pp. 3-24.

Gilliam TG, Katch VL, Thorland W, Weltman A (1977). Prevalence of coronary heart disease risk factors in active children, 7-12 years of age. Medicine and Science in Sport, 9 (1): 22-25.

Godin G and Shephard RJ (1983). Physical fitness promotion programmes: Effectiveness in modifying exercise behaviour. Canadian Journal of Applied Sports Sciences, 8: 104-113.

Godin G and Shephard RJ (1986). Psychosocial factors influencing intentions to exercise of young students from grades 7-9. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 57 (1): 41-52.

Goldberg AP (1989). Aerobic and resistive exercise modify risk factors for CHD. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 21 (6): 669-674.

Gordon N and Gibbons L (1991). The Complete Heart Recovery Guide. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.

Gould D, Feltz DL, Horn T, Weiss M (1982). Reasons for discontinuing involvement in competitive youth swimming. Journal of Sports Behaviour, 5: 155-165.

Greer DL and Stewart MJ (1989). Children's attitudes towards play: An investigation of their context specificity and relationship to organised sport experiences. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 11: 336-342.

Hall MA (1990). How should we theorize gender. In MA Messner and DF Sabo (eds): Sport, Men, and the Gender Order. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 223-241.

Harris HA (1972). Sport in Greece and Rome. Ithaca, NY: Cornell University Press.

Harter S (1983). The development of the self and self-esteem. In M Hethrington (ed): Handbook of Child Psychology. New York: Wiley, pp. 123-148.

Harter S (1985). Competence as a dimension of self evaluation: Toward a comprehensive model of self-worth. In RL Leahy (ed): The Development of the Self. New York: Harcourt Brace Jovanovich Publishers, pp. 62-86.

Heald FP (1972). The natural history of obesity. Advances in Psychosomatic Medicine, 7: 102-115.

The Health of the Nation (1991). A consultative document for health in England. London: HMSO.

Heart Foundation of Southern Africa (1992). Heart Health Colloquium. CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria, 7 & 8 April.

Heath GW, Eshani AA, Hagberg JM, Hinderliter JM, Goldberg AP (1983). Exercise training improves lipo protein lipid profiles in patients with coronary artery disease. American Heart Journal, 105: 889-895.

Hetzler RK, Seip RL, Boutcher SH, Pierce E, Snead D, Weltman A (1991). Effects of exercise modality on ratings of perceived exertion at various lactate concentrations. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 23 (1): 88-92.

Hoeger WW (1986). Lifetime Physical Fitness and Wellness. Englewood, Co: Morton Publishing Company, pp. 5-6.

Holloszy JO, Schultz J, Kusnierkiewicz J, Hagberg JM, Eshani AA (1986). Effects of exercise on glucose tolerance and insulin resistance: Brief review and preliminary results. Acta Medical Scandinavia, Suppl 711: 55-65.

Holmes DS and Roth DL (1984). Association of aerobic fitness with pulse rate and subjective responses to psychological stress. Psychophysiology 22: 525-529.

Horn TS (1987). The influence of teacher-coach behaviour on the psychological development of children. In D Gould and MR Weiss (eds): Advances in Paediatric Sport Sciences. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 121-142.

Hurley BF, Hagberg JM, Goldberg AP, Seals DR, Eshani AA, Brennan RE, Holloszy JO (1988). Resistive training can reduce coronary heart risk factors without altering VO2 max or percentage body fat. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 20 (2): 150-155.

The Joint National Committee (1988). The 1988 report of the Joint National Committee on detection, evaluation and treatment of high blood pressure. Archives of International Medicine, 148: 1023-1038.

Keesey RE (1988). The body weight set point: What can you tell your parents? Post Graduate Medicine, 83: 114-132.

Kemnitz JW (1985). Body weight set point theory. Contemporary Nutrition, 10 (2): 115-119.

Kemper HC (1980). Aerobic power and daily physical activity in children. In WH Saris (ed): Growth and Health of Adolescents. Nijmegen, The Netherlands : Krips, pp. 12-20.

King DS, Dalsky GP, Clutter WE (1988). Effects of exercise and lack of exercise on insulin sensitivity and responsiveness. Journal of Applied Physiology, 64: 1942-1946.

Kohl HW, Gibbons LW, Gordon NF, Blair SN (1990). An empirical evaluation of the ACSM guidelines for exercise testing. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 22 (4): 533-540.

Kraus H and Raab W (1961). Hypokinetic disease. Springfield, Illinois.

Lamb DR (1984). Physiology of Exercise. New York: Collier MacMillan Publishers.

Lamb KL (1992). Correlates of self-perceived fitness. Perceptual and Motor Skills, 74: 907-914

Lapidus L, Bengtsson C, Larsson B, Pennert K, Rybo E, Sjostrom L (1984). Distribution of adipose tissue and risk of cardiovascular disease and death: A 12 year follow up of participants in the population study of women in Gothenburg, Sweden. British Medical Journal, 289: 1257-1261.Perceptual and Motor Skills, 74: 907-914.

Larson B, Svardsudd K, Weln L, Wilhelmsen L, Bjorntorp P, Tibblia G (1984). Abdominal adipose tissue distribution, obesity, and risk of cardio-vascular disease and death. British Medical Journal, 288: 1401-1412.

Leary PM and Thanning A (1990). The effect of sport on the emotional well-being of school children. PEDMED, South African Paediatric Medicine, May/June: 20-21.

Leger LA, Mercier D, Gadoury C, Lambert J (1988). The multistage 20 metre shuttle run test for aerobic fitness. Journal of Sports Sciences, 6: 93-101.

Leonardson GR and Gargiulo G (1978). Self-perceptions and physical fitness. Perceptual Motor Skills, 46: 338-345.

LeUnes AD and Nation JR (1990). Sport Psychology. Chicago, Illinois. Nelson-Hall Inc.

Lewis G (1969). Theodore Roosevelt's role in the 1905 controversy. Research Quarterly, 40: 717-724.

Likert RA (1932). A technique for the measurement of attitudes. Archives of Psychology, 140: 1-55.

Lipsyte R (1975). Sports World: An American dreamland. New York: Quadrangle Books, pp. 217.

Lirgg C D (1991). Gender differences in self-confidence in physical activity: A meta-analysis of recent studies. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 8: 294-310.

Liu NY, Plowman SA, Looney MA (1992). The reliability and validity of the 20 m shuttle test in American students 12 - 15 years old. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 63 (4): 360-365.

Lloyd JK, Wolff OH, Whelen WS (1961). Childhood obesity: A long term study of height and weight. British Medical Journal, 7: 142-148.

Loper DA, Scheer JK, Ansorge CJ, Bahls VM and Wardzilak T (1989). Healthful living the goal - Physical Education the Means? Journal of Physical Education, Recreation and Dance. February: 58-61.

Lukaski HC (1987). Methods for the assessment of human body composition: Traditional and new 1-3. American Journal of Clinical Nutrition, 46: 537-556.

Mahon AD and Vaccaro P (1989). Ventilatory threshold of VO_2 max changes in children following endurance training. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 21 (4): 425-431.

Malina P (1990). Growth, Exercise, Fitness and later outcomes. In C Bouchard, RJ Shephard, T Stephens, JR Sutton, BD McPherson (eds): Exercise, Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books.

McArdle WD, Katch F, Katch VL (1986). Energy, nutrition and human performance: Exercise Physiology. Philadelphia: Lea and Febiger, pp. 167-187.

McCready ML, Long BC (1985). Locus of control, attitudes towards physical activity, and exercise adherence. Journal of Sport Psychology, 7: 346-359.

McGill TL (1980). Morphologic development of the atherosclerotic plaque. In RM Lauer and RR Shekelle (eds): Childhood Prevention of Atherosclerosis and Hypertension. New York: Raven Press, pp. 44-64.

McGregor E (1989). Mass media and sport: Influences on the public. The Physical Educator, 46 (1): 52-55.

Mihevic PM (1981). Sensory cues for perceived exertion: A review. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 13 (3): 150-163.

Miller GD, Bell RD, Collis ML (1985). The relationship between perceived exertion and heart rate of post 50 year old volunteers in two different walking activities. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 11: 187-195.

Mol A (1989). Self-image. Safety Management, July.

Montoye HJ (1985). Physical activity, physical fitness and heart disease risk factors in children. In AG Stull and HM Eckert (eds): Effects of Physical Activity on Children. American Academy of Physical Education Papers No.19. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 127-153.

Morgan WP (1973). Psychological factors influencing perceived exertion. Medicine and Science in Sport, 5 (2): 97-103.

Morgan WP (1981). Psychophysiology of self-awareness during vigorous physical activity. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 52 (3): 385-427.

Morgan WP (1985). Affective beneficence of vigorous physical activity. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 17: 94-100.

Morris J (1990). Exercise in our leisure time: Coronary attack and death rates. British Heart Journal, 63: 325-334.

Morris JN, Pollard R, Everitt MG, Chave SP (1980). Vigorous exercise in leisure time: Protection against coronary heart disease. Lancet: 1207-1210.

Mukherjee D and Roche AF (1984). The estimation of percentage body fat, body density, and total body fat by maximum R2 regression equations. Human Biology, 56: 79-109.

Neale DC, Sonstroem RJ, Metz KF (1969). Physical fitness, selfesteem, and attitudes toward physical activity. Research Quarterly, 40: 743-749.

Noakes TD (1985). Lore of Running. Cape Town: Oxford University Press.

Noakes TD (1988). Implications of exercise testing for prediction of athletic performance: A contemporary perspective. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 20 (4): 319-331.

Noakes TD (1992). The role of exercise in primary and secondary prevention of heart disease. Heart Foundation of Southern Africa. Heart Health Colloquium. CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria 7 & 8 April, pp. 77-80.

Noble BJ, Borg GA, Jacobs I, Ceci R, Kaiser P (1983). A category-ratio perceived exertion scale: Relationship to blood and muscle lactates and heart rate. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 15 (6): 523-528.

Noble BJ, Metz KF, Pandolf KB, Cafarelli E (1973). Perceptual responses to exercise: A multiple regression study. Medicine and Science in Sport, 5; 104-109.

Orlick T (1974). The athletic drop out, a high price to pay for inefficiency. Canadian Association for Health, Physical Education and Recreation Journal, Nov-Dec: 21-27.

Osgood CE, Suci GJ, Tannenbaum PH (1957). The measurement of meaning. Urbana, Illinois: University of Illinois Press.

Paffenbarger RS (1988). Contributions of epidemiology to exercise science and cardio-vascular health. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 20 (5): 426-438.

Paffenbarger RS and Hale WE (1977). Work activity and coronary heart mortality. New England Journal of Medicine, 292: 545-550.

Paffenbarger RS, Hyde TK Jnr, Wing AL (1990). Physical activity and physical fitness as determinants of health and longevity. In C Bouchard, RJ Shephard, T Stephens, JR Sutton, BD McPherson (eds): Exercise, Fitness and Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 33-61.

Paffenbarger RS, Laughlin ME, Gima AS, Black RA (1980). Work activity of longshoremen as related to death from coronary heart disease and stroke. New England Journal of Medicine, 282: 1109-1114.

Paffenbarger RS, Wing AL, Hyde RT (1978). Physical activity as an index of heart attack risk in college alumni. American Journal of Epidemiology, 108: 161-175.

Paliczka VJ, Nichols AK, Boreham CA (1987). A multi-stage shuttle run as a predictor of running performance and maximal aerobic capacity in adults. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 21 (4): 163-165.

Palmer D and Howell M (1973). Sport and Games in Early Civilisation. In E Zeiglar (ed): A History of Sport and Physical Education to 1900. Champaign, Illinois: Stripes, pp. 21-34.

Pandolf KB, Cafarrelli E, Noble BJ, Metz KF (1972). Perceptual responses during prolonged work. Perceptual Motor Skills, 35: 975-985.

Parrault H, Perronnet F, Cleroux J (1978). Electro and echocardiographic assessment of left ventricle before and after training in man. Canadian Journal of Applied Sports Science, 3: 180-188.

Patrakis E, Newman IM, LeGrande J (1985). Nebraskan's perception of physical education. Nebraska Journal, 16 (1): 7-9.

Powell KE (1988). Habitual exercise and public health: An epidemiological view.In RK Dishman (ed): Exercise Adherence: Its Impact on Public Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books.

Powell KE and Dysinger W (1986). Childhood Sports and Physical Education as precursors of Adult Physical Activity. The Behavioral Epidemiology and Evaluation Branch. Centre for Disease Control, Atlanta, GA. Powell KE, Thompson PD, Caspersen CJ, Kendrick JS (1987). Physical activity and the incidence of coronary heart disease. Annual Review of Public Health, 8: 253-287.

Prusaczyk WK, Cureton KJ, Graham RE, Ray CA (1992). Differential effects of dietary carbohydrate on RPE at the lactate and ventilatory thresholds. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 24 (5): 568-575.

Raison JM, Achimastos AM, Safar ME (1992). Sex dependence of body fat distribution in patients with obesity and hypertension. Clinical Experimental Hypertension Archives, 14 (3): 505-525.

Ramsbottom R, Brewer J, Williams C (1988). A progressive shuttle run test to estimate maximal oxygen uptake. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 22 (4): 141-144.

Reeder BA, Angel A, Ledoux M, Rabkin SW, Young TK, Sweet LE (1992). Obesity and its relation to cardio-vascular disease risk factors in Canadian adults. Canadian Heart Health Survey Research Group. Canadian Medical Association Journal, 146 (11): 2009-2019.

Rejeski WT (1981). The perception of exertion: A social psychophysiological integration. Journal of Sport Psychology, 4: 305-320.

Rejeski WT (1985). Perceived Exertion: An active or passive process? Journal of Sport Psychology, 7: 371-378.

Rice E, Hutchinson J, Lee M (1969). A Brief History of Physical Education. (5th Edition) New York: Ronald.

Riddle PK (1980). Attitudes, beliefs, behavioural intentions, and behaviours of women and men towards regular jogging. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 51 (4): 663-674.

Rogers CR (1961). On Becoming A Person. Boston: Houghton Mifflin Company.

Rowland TM (1990). Exercise and Children's Health. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books.

Ryckman RM, Robbins MA, Thornton B, Contrell P (1982). Development and validation of a physical self-efficacy scale. Journal of Personality and Social Psychology, 42: 891-900.

Salamon M, Evler C, Franzen O (1978). Perception of mechanical factors in breathing. In GA Borg (ed): Physical Work and Effort. Oxford, England: Pergamon Press

Sallis JF, Patterson TL, Morris JA, Nader PR, Buono MJ (1989). Familial aggregation of aerobic power: The influence of age, physical activity and body mass index. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 60 (4): 318-324.
Schutz RW, Smoll FL, Wood TM (1981). A psychometric analysis of an inventory for assessing children's attitudes toward physical activity. Journal of Sport Psychology, 4: 321-344.

Scott PA (1991). Morphological characteristics of elite male field hockey players. Journal of Sports Medicine and Physical Fitness, 31 (1): 57-61

Seedat YK (1992). Diagnosis and management of hypertension in South Africa. Heart Foundation of Southern Africa. Heart Health CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria, 7-8 April, pp. 49-57.

Seftel HC (1992). Cardiovascular disease in South Africa: A comprehensive approach to prevention. Heart Foundation of Southern Africa. Heart Health Colloquium. CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria, 7-8 April, pp.43-46.Colloquium.

Shavelson RJ, Hubner JJ, Stanton (1976). Self-concept: Validation of construct interpretations. Reviews of Educational Research, 46: 407-441.

Shephard RJ (1984). Tests of maximum oxygen uptake: A critical review. Sports Medicine, 1: 99-124.

Simons LA (1986). Interrelations of lipids and lipo proteins with coronary artery disease mortality in 19 countries. American Journal of Cardiology, 57: 59-109.

Singer DG (1985). Alcohol, television, and teenagers. Paediatrics, 10 (suppl,10): 668-674.

Skinner JS, Hustler R, Bersteinova V, Buskirk ER (1973). Perception of effort during different types of exercise under different environmental conditions. Medicine and Science in Sport, 5: 110-115.

Sloan AW (1965). Physical fitness of South Africans as compared with British and American high school children. South African Medical Journal, 40: 688-690

Sonstroem RJ (1974). Attitude testing examining certain psychological correlates of physical activity. Research Quarterly, 45 (2): 93-103.

Sonstroem RJ (1976). The validity of self-perceptions regarding physical and athletic ability. Medicine and Science in Sport, 8: 126-132.

Sonstroem RJ (1984). Exercise and self-esteem. In RL Turning (ed): Exercise and Sport Science Reviews, Vol 12. Lexington, MA: The Collamore Press, pp. 123-155.

Sonstroem RJ and Morgan WP (1989). Exercise and self-esteem: rationale and model. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 21 (3): 329-337.

Sperling A and Martin K (1992). Psychology. St Ives, England: Clays Ltd.

Spurr GB and Reina JC (1990). Daily pattern of VO_2 max and heart rate in normal and under nourished school children. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 22 (5): 643-653.

Stein RA, Michiell D, Fox EL (1978). Continuous ventricular dimensions in man during supine exercise and recovery. American Journal of Cardiology, 41: 655-668.

Tanner JM (1964). The Physique of the Olympic Athlete. London: George Allen and Unwin Ltd.

Thomas GS (1979). Physical activity and health: Epidemiological and clinical evidence and policy implications. Preventative Medicine, 8: 89-103.

Thurstone LL (1928). Attitudes can be measured. American Journal of Sociology, 33: 529-554.

Tinning R (1991). Health Orientated Physical Education (HOPE): The case of physical education and promotion of healthy lifestyles. Australian Council for Health, Physical Education and Recreation, Summer 1991: 4-10.

Tucker L (1983a). Obesity, exercise, somatotype and psychological well-being: A factor analytic study. Journal of Human Movement Studies, 9: 125-133.

Tucker L (1983b). Effect of weight training on self-concept. A profile on those influenced the most. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 54: 389-397.

Tucker L (1990). Television viewing and physical fitness in adults. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 61 (4): 315-320.

Van Dalen DB and Bennett BL (1971). A World History of Physical Education; Cultural, Philosophical and Comparative. (Second Edition). Eaglewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice Hall, Inc.

Van der Merwe FG (1986). A history of sport and physical education in the republic of South Africa. South African Association for Sports Science, Physical Education and Recreation, 2 (86): 1-50.

Van Itallie TB (1988). Topography of Body Fat: Relationships to risk of cardio-vascular and other diseases. In TG Lohman, AF Roche, R Martorell (eds): Anthropometric Standardization Reference Manual. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 85-108.

Vollestad NK and Blom PC (1985). Effect of varying exercise intensity on glycogen depletion in human muscle fibres. Acta Physiologica Scandinavia, 125: 395-405.

Ward SD, and Bar Or O (1986). Role of the physician and the physical education teacher in the treatment of obesity at school. Paediatrician, 13: 44-51.

Webber K and Szidon J (1986). Exertional dyspnea. In K Weber and J Janicki (eds): Cardio Pulmonary Exercise Testing. Physiologic Principles and Clinical Applications. West Washington Square, Philadelphia: WB Saunders Company, pp. 290-301.

Weinhaus R (1969). The management of obesity: Some recent concepts. Missouri Medicine, 66: 719-730.

Weiss MR, Ebbeck V, McAuley E, Weiss DM (1990). Self-esteem and causal attributions for children's physical and competence in sport. Journal of Sport and Exercise Psychology, 12: 21-36.

White JR, Case DA, McWhirter D, Mattison AM (1990). Enhanced sexual behaviour in exercising men. Archives of Sexual Behaviour, 19 (3): 193-209.

White PG and Vagi AB (1990). Rugby in the 19th-Century British boarding school system: A feminist psychoanalytical perspective. In MA Messner and DF Sabo (eds): Sport, Men, and the Gender Order. Champaign, Illinois: Human Kinetics Books, pp. 67-79.

Wilmore JH (1983). Body composition in sport and exercise: Direction for future use. Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise, 15 (1): 21-31.

Wilmore JH and Costill DL (1988). Training for Sports and Activity. Dubuque, Iowa: Wm. C Brown Publishers.

Wilmore JH and Mc Namara JJ (1974). Prevalence of coronary heart disease risk factors in boys 8-12 years of age. Journal of Paediatrics, 84: 527-534.

Wilson BR, Olson HW, Sprague HA, Van Huss WD, Montoye HJ (1990). Somatotype and longevity of former university athletes and nonathletes. Research Quarterly for Exercise and Sport, 61 (1): 1-6.

Wylie R (1979). The Self-Concept: Theory and Research on Selected Topics. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.

Yach D (1992). Prevention of chronic diseases of lifestyle in the primary health care setting in South Africa. Heart Foundation of Southern Africa. Heart Health Colloquium. CSIR Conference Centre, Pretoria 7 & 8 April, pp. 10-21.

Zion L (1965). Body concept as it relates to self-concept. Research Quarterly, 36: 490-495.

Zwiauer KF, Pakosta R, Mueller T, Widhalm K (1992). Cardiovascular risk factors in obese children in relation to weight and body fat distribution. Journal of American College of Nutrition, June; Suppl: 415-505. LIFESTYLE ORIENTATION OF HIGH VERSUS LOW ACHIEVERS IN TRADITIONAL SCHOOL SPORTS : A HOLISTIC ANALYSIS

The above is the title of my Masters Research Project at Rhodes University. There is a substantial volume of literature which indicates that a physically active lifestyle is a most important precursor for good health and well-being. However it would appear that many children are in fact inclined to be physically inactive. It is also reported that if a sedentary lifestyle orientation is established during childhood, it is very likely to be a characteristic of adulthood, and places this group of people at a far higher risk to chronic diseases associated with an inactive lifestyle.

It is therefore the aim of this project to investigate the nature of the attitudes and perceptions of high and low achievers in traditional school sports, and to examine whether or not this has any influence on their level of achievement; as well as to establish whether or not this affects their general involvement in physical activity.

As this project is undertaken with a view to it making a valuable contribution to understanding why children are physically inactive, I would like to include 16-18 year-old male/females who can be identified as either high or low achievers in traditional school sports.

Due to the multi-faceted nature of this study, subjects will be obliged to participate in three testing sessions. During the first session, general demographic and base-line data will be collected. The base-line data includes age and sex of the

subjects and their present involvement in physical activity. At this session they will be required to complete two questionnaires, the Physical Self-Perception Profile and the Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity. The first session will last 45 minutes and will entail the subjects as a whole group being present at one time.

The second session involves anthropometric measurement, which will include stature and mass, four skinfolds and circumference of waist and hip. The second session will last 10 minutes working with 2 to 3 subjects at a time.

The third session involves measurement of physiological and perceptual parameters including the Multi-Stage fitness test for the prediction of maximum oxygen uptake along with continuous heart rate monitoring and ratings of perceived exertion using the Borg Scale. The third session will last 30 minutes working in groups of 5.

In order to make the study viable it is hoped to have approximately 100 children participate in the study.

Individuals and/or schools interested in the results of the study will be furnished with the relevant infomation on completion of the project.

I, _____, having been fully informed of the nature of the research entitled: LIFESTYLE ORIENTATION OF HIGH VERSUS LOW ACHIEVERS IN TRADITIONAL SCHOOL SPORTS : AN HOLISTIC ANALYSIS.

I am fully aware of the methods entailed as well as the potential risks and benefits attendant to my partaking as explained to me verbally and in writing. In agreeing to be a participant in this research, I waive any legal recourse against the researchers or Rhodes University, from any and all claims resulting from personal injuries endured. This waiver shall be binding upon my heirs and personal representatives. I am aware that it is essential for me to report immediately to the researcher any signs or symptoms indicating any abnormality or distress.

I am aware that I may withdraw from my involvement in the research at any time. I am aware that my anonymity will be preserved at all times, and agree that the information collect may be used and published for statistical or scientific purposes.

I have read the information sheet appended to this form and understand it. Any questions which may have occurred to me have been answered to my satisfaction.

SUBJECT (OR LEGAL REPRESENTATIVE)

(PRINT NAME)

(SIGNED)

(DATE)

PERSON ADMINISTERING INFORMED CONSENT

(PRINT NAME)

(SIGNED)

(DATE)

WITNESS:

ANTHROPOMETRIC MEASURES

.

-

SCHOOL			
р.о.в. / /	STANDARD		3
SEX MALE / FEMALE	CODE	Ţ,	
STATU	RE AND MASS		
STATURE	MASS		
			-
WAIST - TO	- HIP RATIO (WHR)	v	
WAIST	HIP		
WH. RATIO	RISK		
	Startin Later		
SKIN	FOLDS (SF)		
TRICEP SF	BICEP SF		
	SCADULAR SE		
	7 • • • • • • • • •		
SUM OF SF	S BODY FAT		

- BODY COMPOSITION BY SKINFOLDS -

(sa) (13)

Eubject Name/Code : MALES

Aça	(yrs)	-	17		NUCE	CTY MEES	(kg)	1	70.3	fettod.	:	Durnin & Wosersley	1
Eex		:			Body	Surface Ar	'sa (s1)	;	1.374				
Btatur	a (ca)	:	:73		Eody	Jensity	(kg/1)	:	:.06095	1.1			
												8	
Ficas				1	3.9	(52)							
Trizes	5			1	9.2	(DE)							

Bubscabular	: 8.3	i.s.z
Bubrs Iliac	: 7.5	113
		1.1

ECTY SCHEDESTION BETIMATES

..

	FAT MAES							LEAN MASS		
	otal		Esse	ntial	kon-E	esential	_	BM		
(2)	-	(kç)	(%)	i κς)	(\$)	(kg)	(2)	(k ;)		
15.37	-	11.55	1.00	3.11	13.87	9.75	83.13	19.44		

NORMATIVE ANALYSIS (young adults)

Body Dens (kg/1) Fat Mass X - 3	1.08791 5	1.07368 30	1.08451 15	1.05219 20	1.04813 85	1.0 30	3125	
Cautter		Buojett 1	I TALE			ľ	CAUTZEN	
JNDSP&E194T	LEAN	1	VOÁMAL	OVERFA	7	31116	> 50%	
And				stal	fat %	1		
CAUTION			FEMALE				andition	
Fat Mass X 12 Body Dana (Hç/1)	15 1.06791	E0 1.07808	25 1.08451	50 1.65319	35 1.04310	40 1.03	2:25	

SUBJECT'S RATING

Relative to the value judgement you are meicher over- nor uncerweight. But MOTE : "Desirable dass" does not necessarily inply that the CDMPONENTS of that ease are what they should be.

NB : Age related norme ax Pollock at al., 1984: (Tables 4-1 to 4-10). These are American norms, Technique after MoArdle et. el., 1986. Body density from Curnin and womensley, 1974. SFat soustions follow Siri, 1963.

HR RPE HR HR RPE RPE LEVEL LEVEL LEVEL +1 +119 62= 5. 143 LA 12 6 H ZT B 13 1 1.88 1,5 我 VZ ۰. LA 2_ 10 10 2A 3.0 10) 10 5 10 8 50 178 SA 17-2 -57 115 * 58 -+59 NAME: A98:16 SARAH BILBE (F) SCHOOL : DSG DATE 1/6/93 CODE:

MULTISTAGE FITNESS TEST

TABLE OF PREDICTED MAXIMUM OXYGEN UPTAKE VALUES

for the Multistage Fitness Test Department of Physical Education and Sports Science Loughborough University, 1987

LEVEL	SHUTTLE	PREDICTED VO: MAX	LEVEL	SHUTTLE	PREDICTED VO, MAX
4	2	25.8	9	2	43.9
4 .	4	27.6	9	4	44.5
4	6	28.3	9	6	45.2
4	9	29.5	9	8	45.8
			9	11	46:8
5	2	30.2			11
5	4	31.0	10	2	47.4
5	6	31.8	10	4	48.0
5	9	32.9	10	6	48.7
	· +		10	8	49.3
6	2	33.6	10	11	50.2
6	4	34.3			
5	5	35.0	11	2	50.8
5	8	35.7	11	4	51.4
6	10	36.4	11	5	51.9
			11	8	52.5
7	2	37.1	11	10	53.1
7	4	37.8	11	12	53.7
7	6	38.5			
7	8	39.2	14	2	54.3
7	10	39.9	12	4	54.8
	1.510		12	6	55.4
8	2	40.5	12	8	56.0
8	4	41.1	12	10	56.5
8	6	41.8	12	12	57.1
8	8	42.4	3		
8	11	43.3		Continued	

MULTISTAGE FITNESS TEST

LEVEL	SHUTTLE	PREDICTED VO: MAX	LEVEL	SHUTTLE	PREDICTED VO2 MAX
13	2	57.6	18	2	74.8
13	4	58.2	18	4	75.3
13	5	58.7	18	6	75.8
13	8	59.3	18	8	75.2
13	10	59.8	18	10	76.7
13	13	50.5	18	12	77.2
			18	15	77.9
14	2	61.1	25		
14	4	51.7	19	2	78.3
14	5	52.2	19	4	78.8
14	8	67.7	19	6	79.2
14	10	63.7	19	8	79.7
14	13	54 0	19	10	80.2
	10	04.0	19	12	80.5
15	2	64 6-	19	15	81 3
15		55 1	••		01.0
15	5	65.6	20	2	97.9
15	8	55.0	20	4	22.2
15	10	55.7	20	5	97 6
15	13	67 5	20		82.0
10	13	07.5	20	10	83.0
16	2	69.0	20	10	03.3
10	-	00.0	20	14	03.9
10	4	60.0	20	14	04.3
10	D	69.0	20	10	04.0
10	0	69.0	27	2	
10	10	69.9	21	4	63.2
10	12	70.5	21	4	63.0
16	14	/0.9	21	0	60.1
			21	8	86.5
17	2	71.4	21	10	86.9
17	4	71.9	21	12	87.4
17	6	72.4	21	14	87.8
17	8	72.9	21	16	88.2
17	10	73.4			
17	12	73.9			
17	14	74 4			

NAM	Œ:	AG	E:	D.O.B:	/	1	
SCH	100L:	STA	NDARD:				
DAT	Έ:						
MAL	E/FEMALE (CIRCLE)		1.	How do you i	cel about il	he idea in 1	he box?
COD	DE:			- '			
1.	SOCIAL GROWTH		PH	YSICAL AC	TIVITY FC	R SOCIA	L GROŴTH
2.	SOCIAL CONTINUATION		' Tal cha	ting part in p nce 10 meet n	hysical acti ew people.	ivities whic	th give you a
3.	HEALTH AND FITNESS	_					
4.	VERTIGO	_		Alweys thi	הג זססה אש	e idea' in 1)	te box .
5.	AESTHETIC	_	•	lf you di mark this b	o noi under cx 🗆 ind g	stand this i o to the ne	idez, 121 2250
6.	CATHARSIS						
7.	ASCETIC	_	200	d:_	<u> </u>		:
	TOTAL SCORE		of no us not picusor nic nic	c:- c:- y:-	: :	 	
⊬o	w do you feel about the idea in the box?		of no us not picusor nic bopp 3 .	e:- e:- y:- How do you		he idea in	
Ho PHYS	TOTAL SCORE	-	of no us not picesor nic kopp 3. PHYS	c:_ c:_ y:_ How do you	feel 25001 1	;;;;;;;;;	ihe dox?
Ho PHYS Takin chane	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA. RELATIONS ag part in physical activities which give you e to be with your friends.	3	of no us not piresor nic kopp 3 . PHYS Taking and to	e; ht; c; How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod	feel 25001 1 ITY FOR 1 al activities y in better o	he idea in IEALTH / to make y	ihe box? ND FITNESS
Ho PHYS Takin chane	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA. RELATIONS ag part in physical activities which give you e to be with your friends.	- a	of no us not piresor nic hopp 3. PHYS.	c; c; y; How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod	feel 25001 1 ITY FOR 1 ral activities y in better o	he idea in IEALTH / to make y	ihe box? NID FITNESS
Ho PHYS Takin chane	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA. RELATIONS ing part in physical activities which give you is to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box	- a	of no us not pireser nic hopp 3. PHYS Taking and to	c; at; c; y; How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod Always thi	feel 25001 1 ITY FOR 1 ral activities y in better o nk 25001 17	he idea in IEALTH / to make y condition.	ihe box? NND FITNESS our health bette he box
Ho PHYS Takin chanc	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA RELATIONS ig part in physical activities which give you ie to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box If you do not understand this idea, hark this box I and go to the next page	a	of no us not pireser nic hopp 3. PHYS. Taking and to	c at c Fow do you How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod Always this If you d mark this b	rect 25001 1 feet 25001 1 ITY FOR 1 rat activities y in better o nk 25001 1 nk 25001 1 o not under ox 🗆 2nd 2	he idea in IEALTH / to make y condition. he idea in the stand this to to the ma	ihe box? NID FITNESS Your health bette he box idea, ext page
Ho PHYS Takin chanc	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA RELATIONS ing part in physical activities which give you ie to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box If you do not understand this idea, hark this box I and go to the next page	- a	of no us not pireser nic hopp 3. PHYS. Taking and to	c c y How do you How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod Always thi If you d mark this b	feel about 1 feel about 1 ITY FOR I ITY FOR I nk about 17 o not under ox \Box and g	he idea in IEALTH / to make y condition.	ihe box? AND FITNESS Four health bette the box
Ho PHYS Takin chanc	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA RELATIONS ing part in physical activities which give you ie to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box If you do not understand this idea, hark this box D and go to the next page	- a 	of no us not pireser nic hopp 3. PHYS. Taking and to	c c y How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod Always thi If you d mark this b d	feel about 1 feel about 1 ITY FOR I ITY FOR I nk about 17 o not under ox I and g	he idea in IEALTH / to make y condition. ne idea in this so to the nu	ihe box? AND FITNESS Four health bette the box idea, ext page
Ho PHYS Takin chanc good - puse -	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA RELATIONS to part in physical activities which give you te to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box If you do not understand this idea, thatk this box D and go to the next page	- a bzd uscful	of no us not pleasor nic hopp 3. PHYS. Taking and to sand to con us	c in	feel about 1 feel about 1 ITY FOR 1 ITY FOR 1 nk about 17 o not under ox 0 and g	he idea in IEALTH / IO make y condition.	ihe box? AND FITNESS Four health bette the box idea, ext page
Ho PHYS Takin chanc chanc good souse	TOTAL SCORE w do you feel about the idea in the box? SICAL ACTIVITY TO CONTINUE SOCIA RELATIONS to part in physical activities which give you te to be with your friends. Always think about the idea in the box If you do not understand this idea, thatk this box D and go to the next page	a bzd uscful piczszni	of no us not pleasor nic hopp 3. PHYS. Taking and to Soo of no us not pleasor	c t c y How do you ICAL ACTIV part in physic get your bod Always thi If you d mark this b d c	feel about 1 feel about 1 ITY FOR 1 ITY FOR 1 nk about 17 o not under ox 0 and g	he idea in IEALTH / to make y condition. ne idea in this so to the nu condition in the nu	ihe box? AND FITNESS Four health bette the box idea, ext page

.

, **``**

4. no		1			T						
P	HYSICAL A	CTIVITY	AS A THR	II.L		PHYSICAL ACTIVITY AS THE BEAUTY IN MOVEMENT					
1.11	BUT INVO	LVING SC	DNIE RISK			. Taking part in physical activities which have beautiful					
Tak	king part in p	hysical acti	vities that	could be		and graceful move- ments.					
ver	y fast and me	ist change	direction q	uickly.	2.			.,			
	Always think	נ גאפטו ואפ	idea in the	box		A	lways think	גאסטו ואפ	idea in th	ic box .	
1	ו ob uor 11 איבה גואו איבה	not underst D and go	and this id to the near	c2,	0	m	lf you do r irk this box	ol underst	and this it to the ne	dez. XI pzge	
	Ţ										
. boo2	i	;	;	_:	52d	_ boog	;	:	!		bzd
of no use		<u>.</u>	;		ettfel	of no use _					useful
t pleusont .			;		pleasant	not pleasant _	<u> </u>		_:	;	plezsz
nice boppy 6. He		ין דאסקצון ואין אין דאסקצון אין	: idea in 1h		2w(c) 12d	bajet happy 7. How		::::::::::	: ičca in 1	:::	zwful szd
nice hoppy 6. Ho PHYSIC, Takiny away f	ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem	i) 25001 150 Y FOR TH ical activities you mig	idea in th HE RELEA es to reduce In have.	e dox? SE OF TE	zwfel zzd NSION o get	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL # Taking part in p To spend time like to do.	do you fee CTIVITY , hysical activ in practice y	I zbout the AS LONG rities that I you need to	: idea in th AND HA nuve long i a give up	:; he box? RD TRAII and hard הוק other thing	sad sad NING ractices. s you
nice hoppy 6. Ho PHYSIC Takiny away f	ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem	l 2001 (h) Y FOR TI kal actività S you migi	idea in th III RELEA es to reduce it have.	e box?	zwfel szd :NSION o get	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do.	do you fee CTIVITY , hysical activ	I about the AS LONG cities that I you need to	: Idea in th AND HA nave long : a give up	:; he box? AD TRAII and hard pr other thing	sad sad NING ractices. s you
nice hoppy 6. He PHYSIC Takinj away (ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Alwzys think	l soon the Y FOR TT ical activities you might sbout the	idea in th III RELEA is to reduce in have.	e box? SE OF TE stress of to	2 wfel 22d NSION o gel	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do.	do you fee CTIVITY , hysical activ in practice y	I about the AS LONG dities that I you need to about the	: Idea in 11 AND HA nuve long : n give up	te box?	zwful sad NING ractices. s you
nice hoppy 6. Ho PHYSIC Takiny away f	ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Alwzys think If you do n mark this box	t) 25001 150 TY FOR TT Real activitions you might 25001 15c 25001 15c 25001 250 250 250 250 250	idea in th HE RELEA es to reduce in have. idea in the end this ide	e box? SE OF TE Miress of IG	2 2 2 (c) 2 2 d :NSION 0 gcl	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do.	wzys think If you do nu rk this box	I about the AS LONG cities that I you need to about the about the of understa	idea in the	the box?	zwful sad NING ractices. s you
nice happy 6. He PHYSIC Takiny away f	ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Alwzys think If you do n mark this box	2 2001 15 Y FOR TI keal activities you miging 2 2001 15c ot underst: 0 2.5d 20	idea in the III RELEA is to reduce in have. idea in the and this ide	e box? SEOF TE SEOF TE Suress of 10 bex ta, page	2 sefel 2 s2d	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL # Taking part in p To spend time like to do. 	do you fee CTIVITY , hysical activ in practice y wzys think Wzys think f you do no sk this box	i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i i	idea in the agive up idea in the and this id to the nex	the box?	zwful sad NING ractices. s you
nice hoppy 6. Ho PHYSIC Takin away f	ow do you fee AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Always think If you do n mark this box	2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	idea in the idea in the idea in the and this ide to the next	e box? SE OF TE Miress of 10 box :a, p2ge	2 sefel 2 s2d NSION o get	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do. 	do you fee CTIVITY , hysical activ in practice y wzys think If you do nu rk this box	I about the AS LONG cities that I you need to about the about the and go	idea in the and this id to the nex	the box?	zwful sad NING ractices. s you
nice happy 6. He PHYSIC Taking away f	AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Always think If you do n mark this box	el about the ry FOR TI ical activities you miging about the ot underst: D and go	idea in the storeduce nt have. idea in the and this ide to the next	<pre>c box? c box? SE OF TE stress or to box ca, p2ge</pre>	zwfel zzd NSION o get bad bad	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do. A ma good of no use	wzys think	I about the AS LONG diffes that I you need to about the about the all understa and go	idea in the idea in the ave long in give up idea in the idea in the idea in the idea in the idea in the idea in the	the box? ARD TRAI: and hard pi other thing to box tea, if page	zwful sad ructices. s you bad useful
nice happy 6. He PHYSIC Takiny away f away f 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5 5	AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Always think If you do n mark this box	el about the ry FOR TI ical activities you miging about the ot unders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders::: contronders: contronders:	idea in the idea in the idea in the and this ide to the next	<pre>c box? c box? SE OF TE stress or to box ca, p2ge</pre>	zwfel zzd NSION o get bad bad oseful plezsant	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do. A ma good of no use pot pleusant	wzys think	I about the AS LONG diffes that I you need to about the about the and go	idea in the	the box?	zwful sad NING ractices. s you bad bad useful pleasau
nice hoppy 6. Ho PHYSIC Takiny away f away f	AL ACTIVIT g part in phys from problem Alwzys think If you do n mark this box	: : 25001 154 : 5001 154 : 77 FOR 77 ical activities : 900 mig : 900 mi	idea in the RELEA idea in the sto reduce in have. idea in the and this ide to the next	<pre>c box? c box? SE OF TE stress or to box ca, p2ge</pre>	zwfel zzd :NSION o get bad bad szeful piczsant awful	nice happy 7. How PHYSICAL A Taking part in p To spend time like to do. A ma good of no use nice	wzys think	I about the AS LONG diffes that I you need to about the about the and go	idea in the	the box?	zwful sad NING rectices. s you bad bad useful pleasal awful

....

PSPP and **PIP** Scoring Sheet

4

10.1



0		FORT	ANT ANE THINGS		100.		· .	
f	Really True for Me	Sort of True for Me			So Tr for	ort of ue Me	Really True for Me	
۱.			Some people feel that being good at sports is vitally important to them	BUT	Others feel that being good at sports is not so important to them			
2.			Some people do not feel that maintaining a high level of physical conditioning is very important to them	BUT	Others feel that main- taining a high level of physical conditioning is extremely important to them			
3.			Some people believe that having an attractive physique or figure is vitally important to them	BUT	Others believe that having an attractive physique or figure is not all that important in their lives			
			Some people believe that being physically strong is not so important to them	BUT	Others feel that it is extremely important to them to be physically strong			
5.			Some people feel that having very good sports ability and skill is not so important to them	BUT	Others feel that having a high level of sports ability is really impor- tant to them			
5.			Some people feel that maintaining regular vigorous exercise is vitally Important to them	BUT	Others feel that keeping up regular vigorous exercise is not of prime importance to them			
7.			Some people do not feel it so important to them to spend a lot of time and effort maintaining an attractive body	BUT	Others think that it is vitally important to spend time and effort maintaining an attractive body			
3.			Some people feel that being strong and having well developed/toned muscles is vitally important to them	зит	Others feel that being strong and having well developed/toned muscles is not so important to them			

184

1.1

THE PHYSICAL SELF PERCEPTION PROFILE (PSPP)

WHAT AM I LIKE?

These are statements which allow people to describe themselves. There are no right or wrong answers since people differ a lot.

First, decide which one of the two statements best describes you.

Then, go to that side of the statement and check if it is just "sort of true" or "really true" FOR YOU.

	Deally Cast of	2-1			Control	Deally
	True True for Me for Me	EX	KAMPL	E	True for Me	True for Me
		Some people are very competitive	BUT	Others are not quite so competitive	X	
	_	REMEMBER to check or	nly ONE	E of the four boxes		
1.		Some people feel that they are not very good when it comes to playing sports	BUT	Others feel that they are really good at just about every sport		
2.		Some people are not very confident about their level of physical conditioning and fitness	BUT	Others always feel confident that they maintain excellent conditioning and fitness		
3.		Some people feel that compared to most, they have an attractive body	BUT	Others feel that compared to most, their body is not quite so attractive		
4.		Some people feel that they are physically stronger than most people of their sex	BUT	Others feel that they lack physical strength compared to most others of their sex		
5.		Some people feel extremely proud of who they are and what they can do physically	BUT	Others are sometimes not quite so proud of who they are physically		
6.		Some people feel that they are among the best when it comes to athletic ability	BUT	Others feel that they are not among the most able when it comes to athletics		

			- 44				
	Really True for Me	Sort of True for Me				Sort of True for Me	Really True for Me
7.			Some people make certai they take part in some form of regular vigorous physical exercise	n BUT	Others don't often manage to keep up regular vigorous physical exercise		
8.			Some people feel that they have difficulty main- taining an attractive body	BUT	Others feel that they are easily able to keep their bodies looking attractive		
9.			Some people feel that their muscles are much stronger than most others of their sex	BUT	Others feel that on the whole their muscles are not quite so strong as most others of their sex		
10.			Some people are some- times not so happy with the way they are or what they can do physically	BUT	Others always feel happy about the kind of person they are physically		
11.			Some people are not quite so confident when it comes to taking part in sports activities	BUT	Others are among the most confident when it comes to taking part in sports activities		
12.		<u> </u>	Some people do not usually have a high level of stamina and fitness	BUT	Others always maintain a high level of stamina and fitness		
13.			Some people feel embarrassed by their bodies when it comes to wearing few clothes	EUT	Others do not feel embarrassed by their bodies when it comes wearing few clothes		
14.	-		When it comes to situat- ions requiring strength some people are one of the first to step forward	BUT	When it comes to situat- ions requiring strength some people are one of the last to step forward		
15.			When it comes to the physical side of them- selves some people do not feel very confident	BUT	Others seem to have a real sense of confidence in the physical side of themselves		
16.			Some people feel that they are always one of the best when it comes to ioining in sports activities	вит	Others feel that they are not one of the best when it comes to joining in sports activities		

÷

.

*

÷

	Really True for Me	Sort of True for Me				Sort of True for Me	Really True for Me	
17.			Some people tend to feel a little uneasy in fitness and exercise settings	BUT-	Others feel confident and at ease at all times in fitness and exercise settings			
18.	Ċ		Some people feel that they are often admired because their physique or figure is considered attractive	BUT	Others rarely feel that they receive admiration for the way their body looks			
19.			Some people tend to lack confidence when it comes to their physical strength	BUT	Others are extremely confident when it comes to their physical strength			
20.			Some people always have a really positive feeling about the physical side of themselves	BUT	Others sometimes do not feel positive about the physical side of themselves			
21.			Some people are some- times a little slower than most when it comes to learning new skills in a sports situation	BUT	Others have always seemed to be among the quickest when it comes to learning new sports skills	,		4
22.			Some people feel ex- tremely confident about their ability to maintain regular exercise and physical condition	BUT	Others don't feel quite so confident about their ability to maintain regular exercise and physical condition			
23.			Some people feel that compared to most, their bodies do not look in the best of shape	BUT	Others feel that com- pared to most their bodies always look in excellent physical shape			
24.			Some people feel that they are very strong and have well developed muscles compared to most people	BUT	Others feel that they are not so strong and their muscles are not very well developed		□.	
25.			Some people wish that the could have more respect for their physical selves	у ВUT	Others always have great respect for their physical selves			
26.			Given the chance, some people are always one of the first to join in sports activities	BUT	Other people sometimes hold back and are not usually among the first to join in sports			

(1-4)

5

÷

. 328771.

 \sim

÷

.

÷ + +

. · ·

......

•	-
1	
	alle bolk all states
	iller.
	1-15
	Ł
	F.
	11
	1
	1. 11
	The state

	Really True for Me	Sort of True for Me	•			Sort of True for Me	Really True for Me
27.			Some people feel that compared to most they always maintain a E high level of physical conditioning	BUT	Others feel that compared "to most their level of physical conditioning is not usually so high		
28.		.,	Some people are extremely confident about the appearance of their body	BUT	Others are a little `` self-conscious about the appearance of their bodies		
29.			Some people feel that they are not as good as most at dealing with situations requiring physical strength	BUT	Others feel that they are among the best at dealing with situations which require physical strength		
30.			Some people feel ex- tremely satisfied with the kind of person they are physically	BUT	Others sometimes feel a little dissatisfied with their physical selves		

14

- mar Same

in the state of the submersion

8

CMP .



HUMAN MOVEMENT STUDIES

30 November, 1993

Miss S Dartnell, D.S.G., GRAHAMSTOWN

Dear Miss Dartnell,

Please find enclosed a copy of the abstract which pertains to the research work that I did at your school. Firstly I would like to thank you for your cooperation in setting up the testing sessions, selecting the subjects and not least by giving up your time, I do appreciate this as I was a PE teacher myself for 8 years and have a clear understanding of the pressures that you are under.

As a teacher of Physical Education I, like many other colleagues in our profession have become increasingly concerned with regard to the low participation exhibited by many young people in the realm of physical exercise and sport. This apathy towards physical activity is somewhat obscured by the mandatory nature of physical education lessons and after-school sports practices. It is clear that once young people leave school their aptitude and subsequent participation in any form of physical activity is very low indeed.

The title of my project was "Lifestyle Orientation of High Versus Low Achievers in Traditional School Sport: An Holistic Analysis. Essentially I was investigating the different ways in which high and low, achievers experience the traditional sports in South Africa. I was interested in developing a profile the subjects with regard to the following variables which entailed morphological (stature, mass, % body fat, waist-to-hip ratio), physiological (aerobic capacity-VO₂ max, pre-exercise and exercise heart rate), and psychological (attitudes towards physical activity, physical self-perception and ratings of perceived exertion).

The subjects were divided into four groups; male high (Mhi) and low (Mlo) achievers, and female high (Fhi) and low (Flo) achievers. Congruent with previous studies of young South African's, the present sample (particularly Mhi, Mlo and Fli) were characterised by a desirable (in health and fitness terms) morphological and physiological profile. Although some of the Flo sample were relatively high in % body fat, no one in the study was clinically obese. General fitness (in terms of VO₂ max) was evaluated by the Multi-Stage Fitness Test, and according to the criterion laid down by Astrand and Rodahl (1977) the Mhi, Mlo and Fhi groups achieved a rating in the high performance fitness zone, while Flo were in the good fitness zone.

Rhodes University P.O. box 94 6140 Grahamstown, South Africa (0461) 2 2023 Ext. 468 Telegrams: 'RHODESCOL' Telex: 24 4211 Fax: (0461) 2 5049



Telephone:

Psychological evaluation produced some of the more interesting results, for they revealed how the subjects perceived a traditional sports programme. As might be expected both Mhi and Fhi responded in the most positive manner, with Mhi recording the highest score over all in Physical Self-Perception Profile (PSPP), and Fhi the highest in Children's Attitudes Towards Physical Activity (CATPA). However, it is important to note that on closer examination of the sub-domains of these tests that Mlo have a suppressed score in Sport, indicating that their experience of traditional sport is not necessarily an enjoyable one, while Flo appear to have the most negative and despondent experience. The Flo group appear to have responded in a negative manner in every aspect of these. tests, indicating that traditional sports programmes do little to satisfy or serve their needs in terms of physical activity. It is important to note that this finding does not serve to criticize the school's evaluated, but is rather a reflection of a general inadequacy of sports and activity programmes in endearing young and adult females to be more physically active.

Considerable advances in the presentation and content of Physical Education syllabi have occurred in North America and Europe, particularly with the incorporation of Health Related Fitness programmes and a more diverse structured curriculum which also incorporates examinable PE (in academically recognized exams at 'O' and 'A' level standard) in both practical and theoretical aspects. These changes have done much to elevate the status of PE in a professional context, particularly in terms of eroding the image of a PE teacher as simply a games or sports coach, towards a person who is able to balance traditional expectations of PE with the development of knowledge and behaviours in pupils that have lifelong benefits in terms of their health and enjoyment of physical activity.

It appears that the results of this present study serve to reinforce the notion that the limited application, of PE largely in terms of the promotion of competitive school teams tends to marginalises individuals who are not predisposed towards these ideals. This was most notably demonstrated by the negative responses of the low achieving females (Flo) and to a lesser extent the low achieving males (Mlo).

I am aware that in many of your schools that you do run an interesting and diverse selection of activities. However it is important to remember that my research concerned itself with the individual's perception of traditional school sports such as rugby, hockey and cricket, and it is clear that the way in which these sports are perceived was closely linked to the sex and/or achievement level of the pupil.

ž

If you would like a more detailed breakdown of the data I am more than happy to come to your school and discuss these findings in greater depth. Please do not hesitate to contact me at the Department of Human Movement Studies, Rhodes University, where upon we can make a time and date for a meeting.

Thank you again

Simeon Davies